COURT FILE NUMBER

COURT

JUDICIAL CENTRE

APPLICANT

RESPONDENTS

DOCUMENT

ADDRESS FOR SERVICE AND
CONTACT INFORMATION OF
PARTY FILING THIS DOCUMENT

LAWYER IN CHARGE:

Clerks’ Stamp:

1403 04885 and 1103 14112

EDMONTON

IN THE MATTER OF THE TRUSTEE ACT,
R.S.A. 2000, c. T-8, AS AMENDED

IN THE MATTER OF THE SAWRIDGE BAND INTER VIVOS
SETTLEMENT CREATED BY CHIEF WALTER PATRICK TWINN
OF THE SAWRIDGE INDIAN BAND NO. 19 now known as
SAWRIDGE FIRST NATION ON APRIL 15, 1985 (the “1985
Trust”) and THE SAWRIDGE TRUST (“Sawridge Trusts”)

AND

IN THE MATTER OF THE SAWRIDGE BAND INTER VIVOS
SETTLEMENT CREATED BY CHIEF WALTER PATRICK TWINN
OF THE SAWRIDGE INDIAN BAND NO. 19 August 15, 1986 (the
“1986 Trust")

CATHERINE TWINN, as Trustee for the 1985 Trust and the 1986
Trust

ROLAND TWINN, BERTHA L'HIRONDELLE,
EVERETT JUSTIN TWIN AND MARGARET WARD, as Trustees
for the 1985 Trust and 1986 Trust (“Four Sawridge Trustees”)

WRITTEN BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

BRYAN & COMPANY LLP
2600 Manulife Place
10180 — 101 Street
Edmonton, AB T5J 3Y2

NANCY E. CUMMING, Q.C. AND JOSEPH J. KUEBER, Q.C.
Phone: 780.423.5730
File No. 29793-1/NEC

DENTONS CANADA LLP
2900 Manulife Place
Edmonton, AB T5J 3V5

DORIS BONORA
Phone: 780-423-7188
File No. 551860-1-DCEB



V1.

VII.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

OVBIVIBW.......eeeeee e e e e e et e e oot e e e et e e e et e e s e bt e e e e ar et e e e sbes s ea b bt e s e as b st a2 e e s r e e e s e bt e e et e e st 1
[YigeYe 18 1ox 1112 FUUTURUSURO RO RO PO TR PO RO P PP PSPPI PSPPUT SRR RPPIPROS 1
SEALEMENT OF FACES ..oeeiieie ettt ettt ettt sb et e s b e b e e s 2
A TruStees and GOVEIMANCE .........oovviiireeetteeeiree ettt eie e e e erte s s bbb n et 4
B. Properly Passed Trustee PONCY .........cooiiiiiii 5
C. Unnecessary Proceedings and Litigious Steps by Catherine ..., 8
(i) Raising Membership ISSUBS ..........ccviiiiiiiii 7
(i) Support for Unsuccessful Positions of Other Litigants...........ccccooccnnn, 10
iii) Application to Remove Trustee on Basis of Membership ... 11
(iv) Refusal to Sign Transfer of Assets to Margaret ... 12
(v) Catherine’s Application to Challenge Trustee Appointment..............oooiiins 13
(vi) Pursuing “Structural Conflict” ..o 15
(vii) Code of Conduct ProCeediNg ......ccoiveicierir it 16
(viii)  Adversarial Positions on the Eve of Hearings ... 17
(ix) Conduct on Questioning and Uncorrected ReCOrd ... 17
D. History of Inappropriate EXPENSES ..ot 18
LSS .o eee e et e e e e ettt a et eae et et st ea e R bRt E bRt e bbb e e 19
LAW AN ANBIYSIS....veeei ettt 20
A Exercise of Discretion by TrUStEES ...t 20
B. Catherine’s Legal Fees are not Trustee EXPensSes ... 20
C. COStS Of LItIGAION ..ottt 21
D. Elevated Standard as Catherineis @a Lawyer ... 24
E. Structural Conflict RO IN ISSUE.......ciiiiiie e 25
CONCIUSION ..ottt e te et e st et e e e et e s b es st e bk e kst e bbb ae st e R et e n e b e e b s b n b 26
REHEE SOUGNT ..ottt bbb 27



i
/ Y
/

OVERVIEW

In the interests of costs and efficiency, this brief is filed together by the Trustees of the
“1985 Trust” (described more fully below), all represented by Dentons Canada LLP in
the 1103 14112 Action (“1103 Action”) and by Bryan & Company LLP in the 1403 04884
Action (“1403 Action”) for four of the Trustees (excepting Catherine Twinn). We believe
that this is cost effective, and will be more efficient for the Court as it will minimize the
number of Briefs and Replies that are required.

INTRODUCTION

Catherine Twinn (“Catherine”), who is one of five Trustees of the 1985 Trust
("Trustees"), is seeking full reimbursement for her previously incurred legal costs, and
unqualified, unconditional and advance payment from the 1985 Trust for all of her future
legal costs in these and related proceedings. While Catherine is a lawyer, she has hired
McLennan Ross LLP to represent her, and it is those fees that are at issue.

Catherine, in her Brief, advances this as a case of a trustee seeking reimbursement for a
reasonable expense incurred in administering a trust. However, that is not an accurate
characterization. Further, that position is not supported by the facts or the law, as will be
set out in this Brief.

Catherine’s legal bill presently stands at a staggering $850,000. This legal bill was not
incurred simply as a cost of administering the trust, nor is it reasonable, as she
suggests. As will be outlined in detail below, Catherine has brought legal proceedings to
challenge trustee decisions with which she disagrees, and then allowed those
proceedings to languish for years, except to actively seek costs for them. She has
required the Trustees to obtain court orders to take simple administrative steps, when
there was no proper basis for her refusal to sign documents. She has supported other
litigants in bringing applications that were dismissed by the court as being unmeritorious
with costs awarded on a full indemnity basis against those litigants, and has taken other
steps that have prolonged or hindered litigation.

In short, Catherine is acting as an adversary to the 1985 Trust. The steps she has taken,
and her personal intervention in these proceedings, are not necessary to the Trust's
administration. Her conduct is incurring substantial, unnecessary fees to the detriment of
the beneficiaries. The 1985 Trust should not be called upon to fund conduct that is
hindering the efficient determination of its Application for directions, nor should it be
called upon to diminish the 1985 Trust assets to pay for steps that are of no benefit to its
beneficiaries and are duplicative of the issue before the court.

This is particularly so given that Catherine has instructed her legal counsel to take steps
and incur fees in the face of repeated Trustee resolutions and warnings that she will not
be reimbursed. The Trustees have the authority to make decisions by simple majority, in
accordance with the Trust Deeds and the Code of Conduct. Catherine has not advanced
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any basis to support a request for the Court to interfere with and overturn that exercise
of trustee discretion.

Even if Catherine does not agree with the course of action properly decided upon by the
majority of Trustees, that does not mean that the Trusts must be called upon to write her
a blank cheque for whatever steps she wishes to take to litigate her disagreement,
particularly given the history of unproductive and non-beneficial steps taken.

There is an increasing trend in case law, from the Alberta Court of Queen’s Bench to the
Supreme Court of Canada, emphasizing the need to maintain reasonableness and
efficiency in litigation. That trend is equally applicable in trust litigation. Reimbursement
of litigants from the trust is far from automatic. When litigants take an unsuccessful
position, it is increasingly common that not only will they not be paid from the trust, but
costs will be awarded against them. In these circumstances, where Catherine takes
positions against the Trustees and lends her efforts to support other unsuccessful
litigants, costs should be determined in the usual course rather than being
predetermined on this Application.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

There is a long history to the trusts at issue in this, and the related, applications. In the
early 1970s, Sawridge Band No. 454, now known as Sawridge First Nation (or “Nation”)
began investing some of its oil and gas royalties in land, hotels and business assets.

Affidavit of Paul Bujold, sworn September 12, 2011, paras 6-
8 (“First Bujold Affidavit”) [Tab 1]

As it was unclear whether the Nation had statutory ownership powers, the acquired
assets were registered in the names of individuals, who held the property in trust for the
Nation. One of these people was then-Chief Walter Patrick Twinn (“Chief Walter Twinn”),
who became Chief in 1966 and remained in that position until his death in 1997.

First Bujold Affidavit, paras 8, 9 [Tab 1]

The Sawridge First Nation decided to establish a formal trust for these assets, to enable
the Nation to provide long term benefits to its members. On April 15, 1982, a declaration of
trust establishing the Sawridge Band Trust (the “1982 Trust”) was executed, and all
property held in trust by Chief Walter Twinn and others was transferred into it.

First Bujold Affidavit, paras 9, 10 [Tab 1]

Shortly after the 1982 Trust was settled, the Constitution Act, 1982, including the
Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, came into force. Consequential amendments
to the Indian Act, RSC 1970, c. I-6 (the “1970 Indian Act’), including amendments to
certain provisions relating to membership for women, were introduced in Bill C-31. It was
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expected that these changes would result in an increase in the number of individuals
included on the membership list of the Sawridge First Nation.

First Bujold Affidavit, para 13 [Tab 1]

Due to this anticipated increase in the number of members, the Nation decided to settle
a new trust on April 15, 1985 (the “1985 Trust”). The intention was to preserve assets
acquired before Bill C-31 for Nation members as defined by the 1970 Indian Act as
applicable at that time, and the definition of “beneficiary” was drafted to effectively
“freeze” the definition of beneficiaries according to the membership definition at the time.
The trustees of the 1982 Trust resolved to transfer all of its assets to the 1985 Trust.

First Bujold Affidavit, paras 14, 15 [Tab 1]

After April 15, 1985, no further assets were put into the 1985 Trust. A new Sawridge Band
Trust was settled on August 15, 1986 (the “1986 Trust") to hold assets that came into
existence after April 15, 1985. The definition of “beneficiary” in the 1986 Trust was drafted
to include only those individuals who qualified as members of the Nation post-Bill C-31.

First Bujold Affidavit, paras 15- 23 [Tab 1]

The issue of who qualifies as a member of the Sawridge First Nation in the 1986 Trust is
not an issue in this litigation. The Nation established its own membership code and took
over its membership list in 1985, as permitted by the Bill C-31 amendments to the Indian
Act. It continues to exercise that control to this day.

The issue in the underlying application for advice and directions in the 1103 Action is the
definition of “Beneficiaries” in the 1985 Trust. The Trustees seek the Court’s direction as
to whether this definition is discriminatory. Those particularly affected are women who
would otherwise qualify as members but married a non-Indigenous man and thus lost
Indian status for themselves and their children. Under the current definitions of
“Beneficiaries”, those women are beneficiaries of the 1986 Trust but not the 1985 Trust.

First Bujold Affidavit, paras 32- 35 {Tab 1]

The Trustees, including Catherine, passed a unanimous resolution to proceed with the
application for advice and directions. In fact, Catherine was the one who put forward the
motion to approve this course of action. The 1103 Action seeks direction from the Court on
whether the definition of “Beneficiary” is discriminatory, and if so, how to amend it. The
Trust Deed specifically prohibits amending the beneficiary definition and thus the trustee
seeks the Court intervention on a Public policy basis.

In 2014, as is explained more fully below, the Trustees filed two applications in the 1403
Action and Catherine Twinn also filed applications in the 1403 Action. When new
Trustees were appointed, the Trustees sought to transfer the assets to them. Catherine
sought to challenge the appointment of the new Trustees. As Catherine’s application in
the 1403 Action was a challenge against the remaining four Trustees, they were required
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to retain Bryan & Company LLP as counsel to represent them in the 1403 Action, given
the potential conflict inherent in the 1985 Trust's lawyers representing the four Trustees
in an application filed by Catherine.

A. Trustees and Governance

The current Trustees are set out at paragraph 10 of the Affidavit of Paul Bujold attached
at Tab 4.

The 1985 Trust Deed and the Trustees, or their predecessors, have put in place a
number of mechanisms to ensure that the administration of the 1985 Trust runs as
smoothly as possible. These include:

(a) Section 13 of the 1985 Trust Deed provides that all decisions are to be made by a
vote of a simple majority of Trustees;

Affidavit of Paul Bujold, sworn August 30, 2011, Exhibit “B”,
Trust Deed, section 13 (“Second Bujold Affidavit”) [Tab 2]

(b) Implementing a Code of Conduct. Catherine was involved in drafting that Code of
Conduct. The Code of Conduct contains guidance in the preamble, along with the
schedules, for the behaviour of the Trustees and sets out a procedure for dispute
resolution between the Trustees. Paragraph 5(i) reads:

Where possible, Trustees should work towards unanimous agreement; where unanimous
agreement is not possible; Trustees shall try to come to a consensus; where neither of
these is possible Trustees shall reach decisions by simple majority. In all cases, once a
decision is made by the Trustees it should be respected and followed by all.

Sawridge Code of Conduct, preamble, para 5(i), Schedule A,
Schedule B1 [Tab 3]

Affidavit of Paul Bujold, sworn February 15, 2017, paras 5, 6,
105, (“Third Bujold Affidavit”) [Tab 4]

Questioning of Catherine Twinn, September 9, 2016, pp 18,
41-43 (“First Questioning”) [Tab 5]

() Appointing a Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) for the Trusts. That position was
created in 2009 and is currently held by Paul Bujold.

(d) Appointing a Chair of the Board of Trustees (“Board Chair") to provide for proper
governance at Trustee meetings. That position is currently held by Brian Heidecker.

Catherine agreed during Questioning that she understood that the 1985 Trust stated that
decisions could be made by a majority of the Trustees. She also agreed that she was
bound by the terms of the Code of Conduct.

First Questioning, pp 41-42 [Tab 5]
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The four Trustees, with the exception of Catherine, have a good, respectful working
relationship with each other, and with the CEO and Board Chair. Catherine is critical and
disrespectful throughout her affidavits and Brief of the other Trustees, and of the CEO
and Board Chair. The criticism in her Brief of these paid employees of the 1985 Trust is
not relevant to Catherine’s application for costs, and making such criticism on the public
record is disrespectful conduct by a Trustee who is one of their employers.

Chart outlining inappropriate behaviour of Catherine Twinn,
(“Chart of Catherine Twinn”) [Tab 6]

Brief of Catherine Twinn, filed September 1, 2017, paras 14,
17, 73 86, 114, 137, 140, 146, 152 (f), 170, 171, 179, 183
(“Catherine’s Brief”)

Third Bujold Affidavit, paras 81-92, 141-143 [Tab 4]

The decision-making procedure set out in the Code of Conduct is consistent with the terms
of both Trust Deeds, which each provide for the Trustees to make decisions by simple
majority. This mechanism was confirmed for a third time by a Trustee decision made at a
meeting held on August 25, 2005. None of the Trustees at that meeting, including
Catherine, raised any question about needing consensus or unanimous approval for
Trustee decisions.

Third Bujold Affidavit, paras 4, 57 [Tab 4]

Catherine suggests that her involvement in the litigation is necessary to raise issues not
being advanced by the four other Trustees. This is not true. The issue of some potential
beneficiaries being excluded is front and centre, including whether any potential or
current beneficiaries should be “grandfathered”, and will be dealt with by the Trustees.

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB
377, at paras 31-34 (“Sawridge #57) [Tab 7]

Second Bujold Affidavit, para 14 [Tab 2]

B. Properly Passed Trustee Policy

There is a policy of the Trustees that they are to obtain prior approval for legal advice
and prior approval for expenditure of legal fees.

Third Bujold Affidavit, para 127-130 [Tab 4]

At a meeting of the Trustees in 2013, Catherine requested that a legal fund be set up to
provide $15,000 per year for each individual Trustee to obtain independent legal advice.
Any funds not used by one Trustee could be used by another (with the result that one
Trustee, if none of the others sought advice, could receive up to $75,000 per year for
legal fees). None of the other Trustees seconded her motion, and it failed.

Third Bujold Affidavit, para 128 [Tab 4]
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Despite that motion failing, Catherine is now seeking over $850,000 in legal fees
accumulated in about three years. It is very concerning to the other Trustees that there is
such a disparity between her original budget and the actual expenditure, and that she
incurred such a bill even after her request for payment by the Trusts was denied.

Catherine’s Brief, para 84

Questioning of Catherine Twinn, November 9 and 10, 2016,
pp 148-149 (“Second Questioning”) [Tab 8]

Catherine is asking this Court to overturn all of these properly passed decisions of the
Trustees.

C. Unnecessary Proceedings and Litigious Steps by Catherine

Catherine has taken a number of steps in the 1103 Action and the 1403 Action that have
delayed proceedings, incurred unnecessary fees, or have not demonstrated respect for
the court process, which is all the more troubling, given that Catherine is a lawyer.

Those steps include:

(i) She continues to raise issues respecting the membership process of the Nation,
despite several decisions by the case management justice that have declared that
the Band’s membership process is not open for review (see paras 32 to 44 below);

(ii) She has supported, financially and otherwise, applications that were all denied by
the Court, and in some cases found to be frivolous and vexatious (see paras 45
to 50 below);

(iif) She refused to sign documents to transfer assets to the new set of Trustees after
Everett Justin Twin (“Justin”) was appointed, requiring a court application, which
was granted (see paras 51 to 55 below);

(iv) Months later, she refused a second time to sign the transfer of assets on Dr.
Margaret Ward's (“Margaret”) appointment, requiring another court application that,
again, was granted (see paras 56 to 60 below);

(v) Catherine filed an application 3 years ago to challenge the appointment of a new
Trustee, which cannot succeed and that she has done nothing to advance except
to seek payment of her costs (see paras 61 to 63 below),

(vi) She raises the “structural conflict” in the Trusts, without providing any particulars
about what she seeks to achieve, and despite the fact that she herself is in the
same conflicted position about which she comments (see paras 65 to 71 below);
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(vi)  She has brought an application to dispute the application of the Code of Conduct,
even though she was one of the Trustees at the time the Code was established
and signed her approval to it (see paras 72 to 74 below);

(vii)  She disrupted the 1103 Application, in which the Trustees sought to impose a
settlement on the Public Trustee, by filing a brief taking an oppositional stance,
without prior notice, the day before the hearing (see paras 75 to 80 below); and

(iX) She has prolonged Questionings, refused to admit uncontroversial documents
(putting the Trustees to increased expense) and has failed to correct
representations to the court (see paras 81 to 84 below).

In addition to these steps, Catherine has acknowledged that she has failed to comply
with a court order, as she has not paid a prior award of costs made against her in the
1403 Action.

Second Questioning, p. 197 [Tab 8]

Questioning of Catherine Twinn, July 20 and 21, 2017, p 567
(“Third Questioning”) [Tab 9]

Order of Justice Thomas dated December 17, 2014 [Tab 10]

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB
436, paras 56, (“Sawridge #6”) [Tab 12]

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB
548, paras 87-90, (“Sawridge #8") [Tab 30]

Raising Membership Issues

In her Brief, Catherine identifies certain “concerns” she has with the membership
process of the Nation as having “compelled [her] to become involved in [the 1103] Action
with the benefit of independent counsel”.

Catherine’s Brief, paras 78(c), 86, 102-107, 121

Catherine outlines a number of concerns related to membership issues in detail; indeed,
at least seven pages of her Brief are devoted to those concerns. These are irrelevant to
this Costs application, but more importantly, this Court has given clear and unequivocal
direction since at least 2015 that membership issues were not to be raised and litigated
in these proceedings. Catherine was asked to remove paragraphs of her affidavit
regarding membership and she refused.

Catherine’s Brief, paras 77, 78, 86, 112, 114, 117-143, 146,
195-201

Second Questioning, p. 209 [Tab 8]
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In Sawridge #3, Justice Thomas gave the following direction:

In Sawridge #1 at paras 46-48 | determined that the inquiry into membership processes
was relevant because it was a subject of some dispute. However, | also stressed the
exclusive jurisdiction of the Federal Court (paras 50-54) in supervision of that process.
Since Sawridge #1 the Federal Court has ruled in Stoney v Sawridge First Nation on the
operation of the SFN’'s membership process.

... The Federal Court is the better forum and now that the Federal Court has commented
on the SFN membership process in Stoney v Sawridge First Nation, there is no need, nor
is it appropriate, for this Court to address this subject. If there are outstanding disputes on
whether or not a particular person should be admitted or excluded from Band
membership then that should be reviewed in the Federal Court, and not in this 1985
Sawridge Trust modification and distribution process.

As Aalto, J. observed in Poitras v. Twinn, 2013 FC 910, 438 FTR 264, “[Many] gallons of
judicial ink have been spilt” in relation to the gender-based disputes concerning
membership in the SFN. | do not believe it is necessary to return to this issue....

This Court’s function is not to duplicate or review the manner in which the Sawridge Band
receives and evaluates applications for Band membership....

... | have already stated that the Public Trustee has no right to engage and shall not
engage in collateral attacks on membership processes of the SFN. The 1985 Sawridge
Trustees, or any of them, likewise have no right to engage in collateral attacks on the
SFN’s membership processes. Their fiduciary duty (and | mean all of them), is to the
beneficiaries of the Trust, and not third parties.

... While in Sawridge #1, | directed that the Public Trustee may inquire into SFN
Membership processes at para 54 of that judgment, the need for that investigation is now
declared to be over because of the decision in Sfoney v Sawridge First Nation. | repeat
that inquiries into the history and processes of the SFN membership are no longer
necessary or relevant.

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2015 ABQB

799, paras 33, 35, 50, 54, 69, 70 (“Sawridge #3”)
{(emphasis added) [Tab 13]

This is a clear direction that continuing to raise issues in these proceedings pertaining to
individual decisions by the Nation about membership status is inappropriate. The Order

that was issued as a result of the appearance in Sawridge #3 explicitly states that
neither the Public Trustee nor the Sawridge Trustees are to challenge the membership
process. Counsel for Catherine signed her consent to that Order. In questioning,
Catherine admitted that she was aware of this Order, that the Sawridge Trustees (which
includes herself), were not to raise issues of membership, that her counsel had signed

the Order and as a result she was bound by it.

Order of Justice Thomas, dated December 17, 2015, paras

3, 15 [Tab 14]

Third Questioning, pp 437-438 [Tab 9]
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The Court’s position on raising membership issues in these proceedings is also clear
from its subsequent decisions. In Sawridge #5, in which three applications to obtain
standing as parties to the litigation were denied, Justice Thomas wrote, in dismissing the
application of a non-member to be added as a party:

As | have said in my earlier decisions in Sawridge #3, it is not appropriate for this Court to
get involved in disputes over membership in the SFN. Apart from the jurisdictional issues
which might arise if | was tempted to address membership issues, it would be contrary to
my position that this litigation should be narrowed rather than unnecessarily expanded.

Sawridge #5, para 41 [Tab 7]

Costs were awarded against all three parties who attempted to gain standing in Sawridge
#5. For two of those applicants, costs were awarded on a solicitor and his own client basis.

In Sawridge #6, Justice Thomas again dismissed an application by a non-member, Maurice
Stoney (“Stoney”), to obtain party status and identified one of the grounds for doing so as:

3. In Sawridge #3 at para 35 | concluded the question of Band membership should be
reviewed in the Federal Court, and not in the Advice and Direction Application.

Sawridge #6, para 48 [Tab 12]

Solicitor and his own client costs were awarded against Stoney, and in Sawridge #7,
they were ordered equally payable by Stoney’s lawyer personally. Justice Thomas
identified the persistence in litigating issues about membership in the face of his
directions otherwise as a factor in awarding costs against Stoney’s lawyer:

Another aggravating factor is that in Sawridge [#3] | concluded at para 35 that this court
would not take jurisdiction to review the Sawridge Band membership process. That was
the jurisdiction of the Federal Courts. Stoney and Kennedy ignored that instruction by
advancing the Sawridge #6 application.

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB
530, para 147, (“Sawridge #7"’) [Tab 15]

In the face of not just the clear language in Sawridge #3, but the three subsequent
decisions denouncing applications that raised the membership process, Catherine persists
in raising membership issues. Her Brief identifies those issues as being one of the central
concerns she wishes to advance as a party to the 1103 Action. Further she admitted to
obtaining sworn “statements” from individuals about the membership process to put into
one of her many affidavits, which is not proper evidence before the court. Indeed,
Catherine takes the position that Justice Thomas’ determination in Sawridge #3 applies
only to the issue of document production and cannot be interpreted any more broadly. Her
Brief ignores Sawridge #5, #6 and #7. In addition, she boldly makes clear her intention to
continue to advance those issues, indicating that she views it as her duty. In fact, she
advances it as a reason to obtain costs in this application.

Catherine Brief, para 143

Third Questioning, pp 437-438, 520-526 [Tab 9]
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The Trustees submit that it is clear from Justice Thomas' decisions that his direction
does not apply only to documentary production. The Trusts should not be called upon to
fund Catherine in continuing to raise issues that have been determined to be
“inappropriate” and within the jurisdiction of another court. The 1985 Trust should not be
called upon to fund a lawyer who refuses to follow the clear direction of the Court on this
issue. This Court has awarded solicitor and his own client costs against others who
engaged in that very conduct.

The membership process is not an issue in Catherine's application in the 1403 Action, either.

Catherine repeatedly suggests that Dr. Donovan Waters said that the Trustees must
involve themselves in the membership process. However, just as she did not refer the
court to the subsequent case management decisions about membership issues, she
fails to tell the court that Dr. Waters specifically advised the Trustees that they could not
get involved in the membership process, which Catherine admits in her undertakings.

Undertaking of Catherine Twinn from First Questioning, #84
[Tab 16]

In sum: Justice Thomas has clearly directed that membership issues have no place in
the litigation; it is Catherine’s own position that she seeks no remedy in relation to
membership; and she admits that membership is determined by the Sawridge First
Nation (which is not a party to these proceedings). The membership rules can only be
amended by a reference to the whole Nation, not by the Chief and Council and not
through these proceedings. Given this, there is no basis upon which Catherine should be
indemnified for taking steps before this Court to raise concerns about membership.

Catherine's Brief, para 143(c), 195

Support for Unsuccessful Positions of Other Litigants

Catherine is claiming costs of over $850,000. This includes costs incurred in supporting
failed applications. Generally, the court does not award costs to the losing party, and
certainly not full indemnity costs.

Catherine supported the Public Trustee’s failed application for documentary production from
the Nation in Sawridge #3, including records related to membership processes, past and
current applications of adult candidates and records of the application process and
associated constitutional litigation. Catherine’s support was given despite considerable
concerns expressed by the Nation and the Trustees over the costs of the production. The
Court denied the application. Justice Thomas held that the Public Trustee’s request was “an
open-ended ‘fishing trip’... outside the scope of the Public Trustee’s role in this proceeding”.

Sawridge #3, paras 10, 26, 52 [Tab 13]

Catherine supported the failed application in Sawridge #5, in which three people sought
standing as parties and sought advance, full indemnity costs. In fact, Catherine paid for the
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retainer for those applicants, being her son, niece, and her late husband’s purported
daughter. As mentioned above, that application was denied and costs were awarded on a
solicitor and his own client basis against two of the applicants on the basis that those
applicants would “offer nothing and instead propose to fritter away the Trust's resources to
no benefit’. Justice Thomas further found that he would not have granted them advance
costs even if they were made parties.

Third Questioning, pp 487-489 [Tab 9]
Sawridge #5, para 47 [Tab 7]

Catherine supported Stoney's failed application to pursue intervenor status and full
indemnity advance costs. She negatively commented on Justice Thomas' decision in a
published news article about the hearing regarding costs against Stoney’s lawyer, saying
to the reporter after attending the hearing, “What happened today to Mr. Stoney and his
family is a travesty.” The article refers to her as “Catherine Twinn, a Sawridge trustee
who disagrees with the band’s rejection of Stoney”.

Affidavit of Paul Bujold sworn August 30, 2017 para 8,
Exhibit “C” (“Fourth Bujold Affidavit”) [Tab 17]

Catherine’s very public comments on Stoney’s application are troubling to the Trustees for
a number of reasons. First, the Trustees do not support public criticism of the Court’s
decisions, and also believe that such comments are contrary to Catherine’s duties of
conduct as a lawyer. Second, the reasons delivered by Justice Thomas in Sawridge #6
and #7 rejected Stoney’s application on the basis that it was frivolous and vexatious
litigation, and awarded solicitor and his own client costs against both Stoney and his
lawyer. It is concerning to the Trustees that Catherine would lend her support in any way,
let alone such a public and vocal manner, to an applicant whose litigation against the Trust
attracted such strong rebuke from this Court. Finally, while Catherine is now taking issue
with the Court’s treatment of Stoney’s application about membership status, she was one
of the Electors of the First Nation in 2012 who unanimously rejected Stoney’s appeal to
the Nation of its decision to deny him membership.

Fourth Bujold Affidavit, para 8, Exhibit “D’ [Tab 17]

In sum, Catherine has incurred significant costs to support failed applications. She did
not seek costs from Justice Thomas in any of those applications. Generally, a losing
party is not awarded costs.

Application to Remove Trustee on Basis of Membership

Justin was appointed as a Trustee by a majority vote at a Trustee meeting on January
21, 2014, as a replacement for Walter Felix Twin, who resigned as Trustee due to health
concerns.

Third Bujold Affidavit, paras 21-24 [Tab 4]
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The 1985 Trust requires there to be five Trustees, and there was a pending commercial
transaction for that Trust. However, Catherine did not want to vote to replace Walter
Felix Twin with Justin. Instead, despite knowing that there was an immediate need to
have five Trustees, she wanted a longer selection process thus effectively leaving the
trust without the required number of trustees.

Second Bujold Affidavit, Exhibit “B”, Trust Deed, section 5
[Tab 2]

The other three remaining Trustees voted by majority to appoint Justin. The 1985 Trust only
requires a majority vote to appoint a new Trustee. Catherine neither approved nor opposed
his appointment, although puzzlingly she also insists she did not abstain from that motion.
The Trustees were thus provided with documents to transfer the assets to the Trustees. She
refused to sign documents to appoint Justin or to transfer assets from the old set of Trustees
to the new group of Trustees. Catherine vocally opposed his appointment because, in her
view, he was not a legitimate member of the Sawridge First Nation.

Third Bujold Affidavit, para 26,-28, 35-37 [Tab 4]
First Questioning, p. 20 [Tab 5]

As a result of Catherine’s continued refusal to sign over the course of months, the
Trustees were required to bring a Court application in April 2014, as the commercial
transaction drew closer, to seek an Order to transfer the assets to the new Trustees. At
the first appearance, Catherine asked for an adjournment so that she could retain legal
counsel. (We address the accuracy of this representation to the Court below.) On the
next Court date, the Trustees were successful in obtaining an order to transfer the
assets. This is another example of a failed application for which Catherine is seeking her
costs in this application.

Third Bujold Affidavit, paras 28, 29, 32 [Tab 4]

Catherine suggests in her Brief that the Trustees and their lawyers acted inappropriately
by seeking relief against her. The only relief sought by the Trustees against Catherine
was the costs of the application, which was entirely unnecessary and caused by
Catherine's refusal to sign.

Catherine’s Brief, paras 27, 39
Originating Application filed April 1, 2014 [Tab 18]

Refusal to Sign Transfer of Assets to Margaret

Clara Midbo, then a Trustee, died in 2014. For the second time that year, a new Trustee had
to be appointed. The Trustees met on August 12, 2014 to do so.

Third Bujold Affidavit, para 45-50 [Tab 4]
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Given Catherine’s objections about Justin's appointment, all of the Trustee candidates
proposed at the meeting were members of the Nation and beneficiaries under the
definition of both the 1985 Trust and 1986 Trust. However, Catherine again disagreed
with all proposed replacement Trustees and instead proposed two individuals who lived
in British Columbia and Dubai, respectively; were not members of the Nation; and who
none of the Trustees (including Catherine) had ever met.

Third Bujold Affidavit, paras 48-51 [Tab 4]

While the Trustees listened to Catherine’s suggestions, the majority voted to appoint
Margaret. She had previously been a trustee-in-training, was a member of the Nation,
and a beneficiary of both the 1985 Trust and 1986 Trust. She has a demonstrated
interest in indigenous affairs, holding a PhD in Indigenous Education.

Third Bujold Affidavit, paras 50, 51 [Tab 4]

Catherine objected to this choice of Trustee, and again refused to sign the necessary
transfer of assets. This refusal came despite the previous decision of the Court directing
the transfer of the assets. The Trustees were once more forced to bring a costly Court
application, and once again the order was granted. Catherine, as a lawyer, would have
known the import of precedent and stare decisis. Yet, she still refused to take direction
from the previous court decision and required the Trust to expend the resources to
obtain an order rather than simply signing the transfer.

Third Bujold Affidavit, para 51 and Exhibit “M” [Tab 4]

Catherine did not seek her costs at either application dealing with the transfer of assets.
She is now seeking reimbursement on a full indemnity basis from the Trust for both of
these failed applications.

Catherine’s Application to Challenge Trustee Appointment

Catherine filed an Originating Notice in the 1403 Action seeking advice and direction
seeking the removal of Justin and Margaret as Trustees of the 1985 Trust, and also
seeking the appointment of independent Trustees. Catherine is seeking recovery of her
legal fees for all steps taken in connection with this application.

Catherine has done nothing to advance that proceeding for three years, except to seek
to have her legal bills paid. Justin and Margaret have since been reappointed as
Trustees since that Application was filed,. If Catherine was genuinely concerned that it
was not in the Trusts’ interests for them to act as Trustee, it would seem incumbent on
her to have advanced her application.

Third Bujold Affidavit, paras 134, 135 [Tab 4]

Second Questioning, p 149 [Tab 8]
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Catherine's application in the 1403 Action cannot succeed; thus, Catherine should not
receive indemnification for her legal fees. It cannot succeed by virtue of the following:

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

The Trustees are governed by the 1985 Trust Deed. It provides that Trustees can
only be removed by death or resignation. Further, the power to fill any vacancy
“shall be vested in the continuing Trustees”. Any deviation from these terms would
require a variation of the Trust Deed, which according to terms of the Trust Deed,
would require the consent of 80% of the beneficiaries of the Trust. Catherine has
not sought this consent from the known beneficiaries, nor has she requested in her
application a variation of the 1985 Trust Deed. See paragraph 5 and 11 of the
Trust Deed [Tab 2]

Justin’s name has been on the Indian Register since 1982. No protest was filed.
According to the wording of the 1985 Trust Deed, Justin is a beneficiary of the
1985 Trust and thus entitled to be one of the Trustees of the 1985 Trust. See Third
Bujold Affidavit Exhibit H [Tab 4]

Justin was appointed by the majority of the Trustees. The Trust Deeds allow for
decisions to be made by the majority of the Trustees.

Justin's appointment was renewed by a majority of the Trustees in December,
2016. At that time, according to the 1985 Trust, Justin could hold that position as
either a beneficiary or non-beneficiary of the 1985 Trust.

Margaret is a benéficiary of both the 1985 and 1986 Trusts. She was appointed as
a Trustee by a majority of the Trustees, in accordance with the Trust Deed. At that
time, Margaret could hold that position as a beneficiary of the 1985 Trust.

Margaret's appointment was renewed by a majority of the Trustees in December,
2016. At that time, according to the 1985 Trust Deed, Margaret could hold that
position as a beneficiary of the 1985 Trust.

The 1985 Trust Deed is clear. The power to appoint Trustees is within the sole
discretion of the Trustees, so long as there is a maximum of two non-beneficiary
trustees, with the remaining three positions held by beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust.

Subsection 16(1) of the Trustee Act provides that an order appointing a new
trustee should only be made when it is "inexpedient, difficult or impractical to do
so without the assistance of the court". None of those circumstances arise here.

Thus, Catherine’s application for advice and directions to determine if these
appointments were permissible is unnecessary and must fail. In light of these futile
arguments, Catherine should not be given advance costs, full indemnity or otherwise.
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Pursuing “Structural Conflict”

In her Brief, Catherine also references a desire to address the “structural conflict” of the
1985 Trust, and cites her concern about this “conflict” as another reason she is taking
legal steps. Indeed, she says that she “initiated an application, in the pre-existing

[1403] Action, for the purpose of seeking judicial direction on, amongst other matters, the
inherent structural conflict between those Trustees holding dual roles as both a trustee
and an elected official of the First Nation”. She asserts, “This is a structural conflict that
was also noted as concern (sic) by Justice Thomas in his June 12, 2012 decision in the
2001 Action (Sawridge #1).”

Catherine’s Brief, paras 10, 16, 47, 144-149, 180-183

However, Justice Thomas did not identify that conflict as an issue that needs to be
addressed. Further, he identified the conflict as being broader than just elected officials
of the Sawridge First Nation. The discussion in Sawridge #1 was in the context of
deciding whether the Public Trustee should be appointed to represent the interests of
the minor beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust. Justice Thomas wrote:

| conclude that the appointment of the Public Trustee as a litigation representative of the
minors involved in this case is appropriate.... The Sawridge Trustees and the adult
members of the Sawridge Band (including the Chief and Council) are in a potential
conflict between their personal interests and their duties as fiduciaries.

This is a 'structural’ conflict which, along with the fact that the proposed beneficiary
definition would remove the entitlement to some share in the assets of the Sawridge
Trust for at least some of the children, is a sufficient basis to order that a litigation

representative be appointed...

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2012 ABQB
365, paras 28, 29 (“Sawridge #1”) [Tab 19]

Justice Thomas identified all adult members of the Nation as being in a potential conflict,
since they all have a potential financial interest in what the definition of “beneficiary” is
determined to be. Catherine is one of them.

Even if elected officials have a particular conflict, only one of the Trustees holds a
position with the Chief and Council. The majority of the Trustees are not elected officials.
A simple majority is all that is required for decisions by the Trustees. Thus, the elected
officials who sit as Trustees are not in a position to control the Trust.

It must also be remembered that Justice Thomas made these comments in the course of
determining whether independent representation should be appointed for the minors
who are affected by these proceedings. Justice Thomas did not instruct that any steps
be taken to address the “structural conflict”, nor did he identify it as a basis upon which
any of the Trustees should be excluded from acting as such. His identification of it as a
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reason for appointing independent counsel for potentially affected minors does not
necessitate bringing further legal proceedings to determine if it is proper.

It should also be noted that the Code of Conduct of the Trustees specifically deal with
instructions and directions on the subject of conflict of interest.

Code of Conduct, s 4, Schedule A, pp 6-9 [Tab 3]

Finally, Catherine has not identified any relief or end result that she is seeking by taking
steps to raise the “structural conflict”. The Trustees do not agree that the Trust should be
called upon to fund litigation about the “structural conflict” regarding the Trustees when
they do not agree that it is necessary; this Court has not identified it as necessary; and
Catherine has not articulated any actual or potential benefit that it might achieve.

Code of Conduct Proceeding

A Code of Conduct was signed by Catherine as a Trustee of the 1985 Trust on
January 12, 2009. Catherine acknowledged that she was bound by the Code of
Conduct, which provides a process for complaints against a Trustee to be dealt with by
way of mediation/arbitration. The four Trustees commenced that process to address
complaints about Catherine’s conduct. Rather than submitting to the process as set out
in the Code of Conduct, Catherine commenced a court action against the four Trustees
and the Board Chair (the “1503 Action”). The four Trustees sought a stay of the

1503 Action. Catherine opposed that application, and brought her own application to
stay the Code of Conduct process in favour of the 1503 Action. The Trustees were
successful in their application to proceed with the Code of Conduct process.

Statement of Claim of Catherine Twinn filed June 19, 2015
[Tab 20]

Twinn v Twinn, 2016 ABQB 553, para 83 ("Twinn v Twinn")
[Tab 21]

First Questioning, pp 4046 [Tab 5]

It is concerning to the Trustees that Catherine signed the Code of Conduct, agreed to be
bound by it, but then chose to sue the Trustees and the Board Chair and incur legal fees
in trying to fight the Code of Conduct process, a fight that she ultimately lost.

The four other Trustees ultimately agreed to reimburse Catherine's legal fees in respect
of the Code of Conduct proceedings. That is mentioned in the Court's decision
dismissing Catherine's application for a stay. However, even though those costs are not
at issue, her conduct in fighting to be able to proceed in the wrong forum is instructive.

Twinn v Twinn, para 82 [Tab 21]
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Adversarial Positions on the Eve of Hearings

On June 12, 2015, the Trustees filed an Application that was returnable on June 30, 2015.
The Trustees proposed to have the Court use its parens patriae jurisdiction to accept a
proposed settlement that benefitted minors.

Important to that application is the context. The Public Trustee had been granted advance
costs in Sawridge #1. After receiving that order, the Public Trustee retained external
counsel in Ottawa, whose rates ranged up to $750.00/hour. They were proceeding with
that retainer, and at the same time refused a settlement offer that the Trustees believed
was not only fair, but generous. The Trustees sought the Court’s advice and direction as to
whether it was reasonable for the Public Trustee to refuse the settlement agreement. The
Public Trustee's legal expenditures were reviewable by the Court, and the Court has
inherent jurisdiction over the protection of minors, and as such the Trustees believed it
was appropriate to seek Court advice.

On June 29, the day before the hearing and without prior notice, Catherine filed a brief
opposing the Trustees’ application for direction on the settlement. Catherine takes the
position that she did so because, in her view, it is her duty to protect the interests of
various beneficiaries. She opposed even the settlement with the Public Trustee.

Catherine’s Brief, paras 101, 102

This rationale ignores the fact that the Public Trustee had been appointed to represent the
interests of the minor beneficiaries, and was more than capable of fulfilling its mandate.

As a result, the Trustees requested an adjournment on June 30, and at the return hearing
in early September 2015, requested that the proposed settlement agreement and litigation
plan be withdrawn, as the Trustees needed to deal with the opposition raised.

Catherine seeks all of her costs for her involvement in thwarting the settlement, which is
somewhat ironic since the settlement likely would have saved considerable costs.

Conduct on Questioning and Uncorrected Record

Catherine was questioned on her Affidavits in this Application over a total of five days.
The Questioning was so lengthy as a result of Catherine’s repeated failure to answer the
questions in a direct manner and her lengthy, unresponsive answers to the questions
asked of her in Questioning, in written interrogatories, and in answers to undertakings.
The transcripts are also replete with Catherine’s opinions on various issues but little in
the way of fact. Examples of such non-responsive and lengthy answers can be found in
the references set out below.

First Questioning, pp 30, 36, 37, 41, 52-53, 73-74, 88 -92
[Tab 5]
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Second Questioning, pp 139-141, 223, 229,-230, 305-307,
310- 311 [Tab 8]

Questioning of Catherine Twinn, July 20 and 21, 2017 p. 567
(“Third Questioning”) pp 432, 484-486 , 503-505, 518-519,
524, 562, 564-567 589 -591[Tab 9]

Third Bujold Affidavit, paras 175-188 [Tab 4]

Another example of conduct that prolonged the Questioning is her response to questions
about simple documents. During her Questioning, she was asked to review Minutes of
Trustee meetings, which she had attended. She refused to acknowledge that the
Minutes shown to her were the Minutes from the various meetings. As a result, virtually
all of the Minutes had to be marked as “Exhibits for Identification”. The Trustees were
thus required to compile a subsequent Affidavit confirming that they were the Minutes
from the various Trustee meetings. She took a similar position with the Constitution of
the Sawridge First Nation.

In addition to this conduct, there are examples known to the Trustees in which Catherine
was wrong or misleading in the evidence provided, or in which she made sworn
statements alleging improper conduct about others for which she had no proof or
corroboration. A chart citing such examples, and references to the record, is attached as
Tab “6”. It is disconcerting to the Trustees that Catherine would fail to correct the record,
or would make such allegations in a sworn public document with no proof that they were
true. In addition to all of the other reasons expressed in this brief, the Trustees do not
believe that the Trusts should be called upon to fund litigation conduct of this nature.

Catherine has in the course of this litigation, in her affidavits, in her undertakings and in
her written interrogatories revealed information that is privileged and confidential to the
detriment of the Trust. The Trustees have addressed this with her. The Trustees asked
her to sign a confidentiality agreement. She was first asked in March 2017, and then
repeatedly thereafter. Catherine and her counsel have simply not responded to the
request for a confidentiality order. Catherine seems to put her own interests above that
of the Trust and further has not fulfilled her obligations as a lawyer and Trustee to
respond to correspondence sent by the other Trustees and their counsel. The affidavit
detailing the lack of response is attached at Tab 22.

Affidavit of Annar Hirani sworn September 21, 2017, paras
3-8, Exhibits "A", "B", "C" [Tab 22]

D. History of Inappropriate Expenses

This is not the first time that the costs incurred by Catherine in respect of legal
proceedings have been an issue before the Courts.

Catherine was counsel for the Sawridge First Nation during litigation in the 1990s.
During that time, Catherine incurred significant legal expenses. Some of the expenses
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incurred include: a trip to Arizona to attend a UN Expert Conference without
authorization from the Band; tens of thousands of dollars in legal fees for setting up a
data room, for which she did not prepare an account until after her retainer was
terminated; and the printing and storing of 685 boxes worth of material in physical format
in spite of the fact that all of the documents had been scanned as a digital format.

Twinn v Sawridge Band, 2017 ABQB 366, paras 37-39, 41-
42, 5560, 90 ("Twinn v Sawridge") [Tab 23]

Catherine brought an application for review of several accounts that the Nation refused
to pay. The Court held that several of the expenses incurred, including the ones outlined
above, were not in the scope of her retainer, were not authorized, were unnecessary,
and were barred by the Limitations Act. This is yet another example of Catherine
incurring significant, unnecessary and unauthorized legal fees.

Twinn v Sawridge, paras 123-125 [Tab 23]

With this history, and with her conduct to date in the proceedings as described above,
the Trustees do not believe that an order for her unexamined costs is appropriate or in
the interests of the 1985 Trust.

ISSUES
In reviewing the materials, we ask the Court to consider the following issues:

(@) What authority does a court have to overturn properly passed resolutions of a group
of trustees? Does a court have a judicial review function for Trustee decisions?

(b) Are costs of litigation a "trustee expense"?

(c) Should the court issue an advance costs award for participation in litigation,
particularly given that:

(i) Costs of litigation are generally left to the judge presiding over the hearing
of the merits, who will determine what parties are entitled to costs and at
what level of reimbursement;

(i) Costs may be denied to litigants who have not demonstrated appropriate
respect to the court and the judicial process, particularly where the litigant
is an officer of the court;

(iii) Catherine is not arguing the traditional test for advance costs set by Little
Sisters Book and Art Emporium v Canada (Commissioner of Customs
and Revenue), 2007 SCC 2, nor does she distinguish its obvious
application and binding effect on this Court; and
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(iv) Catherine has funded her own costs to date, and has not provided any
evidence or assertion that she cannot continue to do so.
The Trustees also submit:
(d) Catherine's status as a lawyer further elevates the standard for her conduct; and

(e) The issues of "structural conflict" that Catherine raises are not ones requiring
judicial intervention, and thus payment for her to raise them is unnecessary.

LAW AND ANALYSIS

A. Exercise of Discretion by Trustees

The Trustees have properly exercised their discretion. The case law shows that courts
will not interfere in the exercise of a discretionary power conferred on the trustees by a
trust deed absent proof that the trustees have acted in bad faith. As long as the trustees
have acted in a bona fide manner, courts have been reluctant to interfere with the
exercise of a trustee’s discretion.

Singer v Singer (1916), 52 SCR 447, 27 DLR 220, paras 43,
45, 48, 49 [Tab 24]

Saunders v Halom, [1986] BCWLD 4660, [1986] BCJ
No 1133 at para 33 ("Saunders") [Tab 25]

The courts may also interfere where the trustees are in a deadlock. However, that
cannot be said to be the case in the matter at hand. There is no deadlock of trustees.
There is one Trustee, Catherine, acting on her own to challenge the actions of the other
Trustees, who have acted on decisions properly made by a majority of them. If the trust
deed permits decisions to be made by a majority, as the 1985 Trust Deed does, that
majority decision binds the trustees.

Saunders at para 34 [Tab 25]

Donovan W.M. Waters, Mark R. Gillen & Lionel D. Smith,
Waters' Law of Trusts in Canada, 4th ed (Thomson Reuters,
2012), p 918, fn 24 ("Waters on Trusts") [Tab 26]

B. Catherine’s Legal Fees are not Trustee Expenses

The reasonableness of a trustee’s legal costs is subject to a higher degree of scrutiny
than other expenses incurred in the administration of the trust. This could possibly be
because the courts “see a special danger in the temptation of the trustee to litigate at the
trust fund’s expense”.

Waters on Trusts, p 1214 [Tab 26]
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Catherine asserts at paragraph 201 of her Brief that “for the purposes of indemnification
she need only establish that her actions are reasonable, as they are clearly related to the
trusts”. However, that is not the standard when considering legal costs for trustee actions.

When a trustee embarks on elective litigation, they personally assume the costs risks of
that litigation. It is not enough that a trustee act with a bona fide belief in her position. The
standard is higher, and requires trustees to act prudently when engaging in litigation. If the
steps taken are not necessary, including where there are alternate avenues to explore the
concerns they have raised, the trustee must personally bear the costs.

A.(S.) (Trustee of) v. S.(M.), 2005 ABQB 780 at paras 5, 22,
23,27, 28,30 [Tab 27]

While Catherine asserts that typically, an application for advice and direction is regarded
as a reasonably incurred expense that is not an accurate characterization of the steps
that she is taking. There is already an Application for Direction before the Courts,
brought by the Trustees. The Public Trustee is engaged to represent the interests of
potentially affected minors and adults who were minors. The necessary interests are
already represented. Catherine’s participation in that litigation is elective, not necessary.
There is no need for another set of counsel to be retained. This is especially true when
Catherine bring two lawyers to every step of the litigation.

Sawridge #5, paras 31, 32, and 34 [Tab 7]

Catherine brought an application to challenge the appointment of one of the trustees, but
in three years, has not advanced that litigation except for expending a large sum to seek
payment of her costs by the Trust. She filed the 1503 Action and sought stays of the
procedure provided for in the Code of Conduct. None of these have been necessary,
and none have succeeded. The parties have agreed to deal with those issues through
alternate avenues.

Catherine’s legal fees should be treated in the same manner any other litigant’s costs,
not as frustee expenses.

C. Costs of Litigation

In recent years, there has been a “culture shift” in litigation, including trusts and estates
litigation, toward ensuring that litigation is cost-efficient and focused on promoting
improved litigation practices. That shift has been recognized by this Honourable Court in
earlier costs decisions in these very proceedings.

In Sawridge #5, costs were awarded against three individuals who sought to obtain
standing to participate. Justice Thomas declined to grant standing, for reasons that
included redundancy (as the interests of the current beneficiaries were already
represented), and the negative impact of creating an even more adversarial process in
these proceedings. Justice Thomas again reiterated that this litigation should be
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narrowed and “it is not appropriate for this Court to get involved in disputes over
membership in the [Nation]”.

Sawridge #5, paras 31, 32, 37, 39, 41 [Tab 7]

In explaining his decision to award costs against two of the applicants on a solicitor and
his own client basis, Justice Thomas reasoned:

As is apparent from my analysis, | have concluded that [the beneficiary applicants], who
are attempting to participate in this process, offer nothing and instead propose to fritter
away the Trust's resources to no benefit...

There is a parallel here with estate disputes where an unsuccessful litigation participant
seeks to have an estate pay his or her legal costs... Moen J in Babchuk v Kutz [citation
omitted] conducted a detailed review of the principles that guide when an estate should
indemnify an unsuccessful litigant. That investigation investigates the role and need for
the unsuccessful litigant's participation, for example by asking who caused the litigation,
whether the unsuccessful litigant's participation was reasonable, and how the parties as a
whole conducted themselves.

This is the new reality of litigation in Canada. The purpose of cost awards is notorious;
they serve to help shape improved litigation practices by creating consequences for bad
litigation practices, and to offset the litigation expenses of successful parties. By default
successful litigation parties are due costs for that reason: Rule 10.29(1). The Court
nevertheless retains a broad jurisdiction to vary costs depending on the circumstances
(Rule 10.33) and naturally should make cost awards to encourage the Rules overall
objectives and purposes (Rule 1.2).

Sawridge #5, paras 47, 48, 51 [Tab 7]

In Sawridge #7, Justice Thomas again commented on the “culture shift” in litigation,
which is focused on promoting proportionate procedures and the role of costs awards
against litigants in shaping and promoting productive behaviours. Costs were awarded
on a solicitor and his own client basis against Stoney and his lawyer.

Sawridge #7, paras 47-51 [Tab 15]

While Catherine participated in several applications before the Court, in which the
applicant was unsuccessful, she did not seek costs. For example, in Sawridge #5, costs
were awarded in favour of the Trust against the applicants (who were supported by
Catherine). Rather than seeking her own reimbursement from the unsuccessful party, as
the Trust did, Catherine is now asking for the Trust to pay her costs. Similarly, in Sawridge
#6 and #7, costs were again awarded in favour of the Trust against Stoney and his lawyer.
Although her $850,000 legal bill includes fees in respect of that proceeding, Catherine did
not seek repayment from Stoney. Rather, she is asking for the Trust to pay her costs.
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In addition to seeking past costs, Catherine is seeking unqualified indemnification for
future costs of litigation. However, she is not advancing arguments in accordance with
the test for advanced costs of litigation.

Third Questioning, pp 491 [Tab 9]
Generally, in litigation, a party must demonstrate the following to be awarded advanced costs:

1. The party genuinely cannot afford to pay for the litigation, and no other realistic option
exists for bringing the issues to trial — in short, the litigation would be unable to proceed
if the order were not made.

2. The claim to be adjudicated is at least of sufficient merit that it is contrary to the
interests of justice for the opportunity to pursue the case to be forfeited just because the
litigant lacks financial means.

3. The issues raised transcend the individual interests of the particular litigant, are of
public importance, and have not been resolved in previous cases.

Little Sisters Book and Art Emporium v. Canada
(Commissioner of Customs and Revenue), [2007] 1 SCR 38
at paras 37-44 [Tab 28]

In applying this test in the trusts context, there are other issues that may be relevant. In
trust litigation, regard must be had to preserving the trust fund for the beneficiaries. There
is an obligation to protect the trust from depletion, and particularly to protect it before trial
or as the result of an unmeritorious suit.

Catherine also does not fall under the broader discretion articulated in 1985 Sawridge
Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2013 ABCA 226. She does not represent any
perspective or interest that is not already before the courts.

There is no evidence that Catherine cannot afford to pay for the litigation; indeed, in her
Brief, she acknowledges that she has paid her own fees to date. Catherine suggests that
she will be silenced if costs are not awarded, and yet she has put forth no evidence to
establish this. She is not arguing impecuniosity. In fact, given that she has paid at least
$850,000 to her counsel to date, she clearly has resources that are greater than most who
come before the court.

The issues she seeks to raise, such as membership and “structural conflict”, are not
issues raised in the 1103 Action. By raising these issues, she would unnecessarily expand
the scope of the proceedings. In fact, in the case of membership, the parties are prohibited
from raising it. The Trustees intend to respect that direction of this Court. Finally, those
issues are not of public importance, insofar as membership has been dealt with before the
Federal Court (and that is the proper jurisdiction for doing so). Finally, all of the issues that
Catherine proposes to raise, save for membership and structural conflict, are before the
Court already.
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Catherine's application in the 1403 Action is also unnecessary. Justin and Margaret were
properly appointed according to the terms of the Trust Deed. Further, the Trust Deed
sets out the requirements for Trustee appointments. The Trust Deed is clear and thus
Catherine's application is not necessary.

The trier of fact in the final determination of the 1103 Action and the 1403 Action should
decide the issue of costs in these proceedings. The discretion of the trier of fact should
not be fettered in this case. Pre-emptive costs awards are rare and are not granted
except in cases where the applicant is likely to succeed, likely to obtain costs at the
conclusion of the matters, and there are special circumstances. None of that exists in
this case. Catherine is pursuing arguments that are doomed to fail. There are no
grounds on which to order costs to Catherine at this time, prospective or otherwise.

Turner v Andrews, 2001 BCCA 76, paras 6, 7, 8, 11, 15,
17 [Tab 11]

D. Elevated Standard as Catherine is a Lawyer

Catherine’s conduct must also be viewed through the lens of appropriate conduct by a
lawyer. As she points out in paragraph 4 of her Brief, Catherine is a longstanding
member of the Law Society of Alberta. When a lawyer is a litigant, as an officer of the
court, there is a higher standard expected of their conduct, as was affirmed in the recent
decision of Justice Thomas in this litigation:

The professional standards expected of a lawyer as an officer of the court equally apply
when a lawyer represents themselves. “[tlhe lawyer as Plaintiff stands in a different
position than a layman as Plaintiff.”: Botan (Botan Law Office) v St. Amand, 2012 ABQB
260 at paras 72-77... As Rooke J (as he then was) explained in Partridge Homes Ltd v
Anglin, [1996] AJ No 768 at para 33 (QL)...:

...it is significant that he is a member of the Law Society of Alberta. If he were not,
one could apply the standard of conduct of an ordinary citizen, and excuse some
conduct for which an ordinary citizen might be ignorant or from which he or she would
be otherwise excused. In my view such is not the case for an active practising
member of the Law Society of Alberta, who has a standard to meet, regardless of his
technical capacity of appearance, merely by virtue of that membership...

Sawridge #7, para 67 [Tab 18]

The duties of lawyers are also spelled out clearly in the Law Society of Alberta’s Code of
Conduct. Rule 5.6-1 requires lawyers to “encourage public respect for and try to improve
the administration of justice”. According to the commentary, a lawyer “should avoid
criticism [of court decisions] that is petty, intemperate or unsupported by a bona fide
belief in its real merit”. Catherine’s comments about Stoney's application cannot be said
to be supported by a bona fide belief in its merit, given the reasons issued in Sawridge
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#6, #7 and #8 that describe it as frivolous and vexatious litigation, and given that she
voted against Stoney when he appealed his membership application to the Nation.

Law Society of Alberta Code of Conduct, p 90, Rule 5.6-1;
Commentary at para [3] [Tab 29]

Finally, lawyers should obey orders of the court, including costs awards. Catherine has
failed to pay a costs award in the 1403 Action.

Sawridge #6, paras 56, 73 [Tab 12]
Sawridge #8, paras 87-90 [Tab 30]

As she is calling on the Trust to fund her actions, which would deplete funds to the
detriment of the beneficiaries, the Trustees believe it is relevant to look at the totality of
her conduct in the context of her duties as both a Trustee and a lawyer.

Justice Thomas identified litigation that is abusive and for which costs may be awarded
against a lawyer. He identified collateral attacks, hopeless proceedings and busybody
lawsuits in paragraph 9 of Sawridge #8. Catherine has exhibited all of this type of
litigation in terms of collateral attacks on the membership decisions, hopeless
proceedings opposing the appointment of trustees, and the busybody nature of putting
"sworn statements" of several individuals forward in her affidavit and funding the
application to become a party made by her family members.

Sawridge #8, para 9 [Tab 30]

E. Structural Conflict not in Issue

In this section, we do not address raising membership issues, given that it seems clear
from the direction of Justice Thomas that they are not to be raised in the 1103 Action that
any pursuit of such arguments in these proceedings cannot succeed.

While Catherine wishes to raise the “structural conflict”, this has not been identified as
an issue in these proceedings. Indeed, such “structural conflicts” are not unheard of in
the trust context. In trusts such as these, in which the settlor appointed a trustee who
holds a dual role that might raise a potential conflict, the ability of the trustee to act in
dual roles (including as trustee) can be impliedly determined based on the terms of the
trust. This is because it is clear that the intention of the settlor was to permit these dual
roles.

Lynton Tucker et al, Lewin on Trusts, 19th ed (London:
Thomson Reuters, 2015) at 20-181 [Tab 31]

This principle has been recognized by Canadian courts. When someone in a fiduciary
capacity acts in a dual role, such as that of executor and beneficiary, there must be
something more than the existence of the dual role to prove that there has been
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improper abuse of power. The mere fact that a person acts in a dual capacity is an
insufficient basis for challenging his position in that role.

Gillespie Estate, Re., [1991] BCJ No 323, 25 ACWS (3d)
765, para 44-45 (BCSC) [Tab 32]

Such conflicts within First Nations are unavoidable, as they are inherently full of
relationships that can give rise to dual roles. Many, if not most, members of the Nation are
related in some way to each other. The Chief and Council are elected from that
membership, and thus also are related to many members. Justice Thomas has recognized
this, having commented in Sawridge #3 that “[tlhe overlap between some of these parties
is established and obvious”. In the same paragraph, Justice Thomas expressly directed
that it was not for a party to these proceedings to “conduct a general inquiry into potential
conflicts of interest between the [Nation], its administration and the [Trustees]".

Sawridge #3, para 36 [Tab 13]

CONCLUSION

This Court has not been offered any basis on which to base a decision to award
advance full indemnity costs. There is no law advanced by Catherine to support the
position that, absent bad faith, a sole trustee who is in the minority should be paid to
oppose the majority when there is a “majority rules” clause in the Trust Deed. There is
no law cited to suggest that the Court is the forum for overturning properly approved
trustee decisions. There is nothing in Catherine’s Brief to distinguish the settled law on
advance costs.

In contrast, there is ample evidence of a litigant who believes that the court decisions do
not apply to her. This is evidenced by Catherine’s repetitive and adamant advocacy on
the membership issue. She has refused to pay court costs that she admits she owes
with no explanation for her refusal to abide by a court order.

Catherine’s belief that she is acting in the best interests of the beneficiaries must be
questioned when she requests legal fees of such a magnitude, yet she pursues litigation
only to get her own personal fees paid.

In the usual course, the Court does not reward a failed litigant. Catherine has supported
a great deal of failed litigation and still seeks to be paid full indemnity solicitor client costs
for such failed litigation. She has never sought payment of her costs on those failed
applications, yet is now seeking to shift the burden of her costs to the 1985 Trust, and by
extension to its beneficiaries. Doing so would be a rather extraordinary result and, in the
Trustees’ submission, would not be consistent with law or policy in respect of costs
awards for unsuccessful and unnecessary legal proceedings involving a trust.
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RELIEF SOUGHT

The Respondents respectfully request that this application be dismissed with
solicitor-client costs awarded against the Applicant.

In the alternative, the Respondents request a dismissal of this application without
prejudnce to the Appllcant's ability to seek her costs at the conclusion of the htlgatlon at

Dentons Canada LLP

Solicitors for the Sawridge Trustees

. andoseph J. Keuber, Q.C.

Solicifors for the fouf Sawridge Trustees



G

TAB

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

LIST OF AUTHORITIES AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS

Affidavit of Paul Bujold, sworn September 12, 2011 (“First Bujold Affidavit”)
Affidavit of Paul Bujold, sworn August 30, 2011 (“Second Bujold Affidavit”)
Sawridge Code of Conduct

Affidavit of Paul Bujold, sworn February 15, 2017 (“Third Bujold Affidavit”)
Questioning of Catherine Twinn, September 9, 2016 (“First Questioning”)

Chart outlining inappropriate behaviour of Catherine Twinn (“Chart of Catherine Twinn”)
1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB 377 (“Sawridge #5”)
Questioning of Catherine Twinn, November 9 and 10, 2016 (“Second Questioning”)
Questioning of Catherine Twinn, July 20 and 21, 2017 (“Third Questioning”)

Order of Justice Thomas dated December 17, 2014

Turner v Andrews, 2001 BCCA 76, 2001 CarswellBC 224

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB 436 (“Sawridge #6")
1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2015 ABQB 799 (*Sawridge #3”)
Order of Justice Thomas dated December 17, 2015

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB 530 (“Sawridge #77)
Undertaking of Catherine Twinn from First Questioning, #84

Affidavit of Paul Bujold sworn August 30, 2017 (“Fourth Bujold Affidavit")

Originating Application filed April 1, 2014



i

P,

e

TAB

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2012 ABQB 365 (“Sawridge #1")
Statement of Claim of Catherine Twinn filed June 19, 2015

Twinn v Twinn, 2016 ABQB 553 (“Twinn v. Twinn”)

Affidavit of Annar Hirani, sworn September 21, 2017

Twinn v Sawridge Band, 2017 ABQB 366 ("Twinn v Sawridge")

Singer v Singer (1916), 52 SCR 447, 27 DLR 220

Saunders v Halom, [1986) BCWLD 4660, [1986] BCJ No 1133 ("Saunders")

Donovan W.M. Waters, Mark R. Gillen & Lionel D. Smith, Waters' Law of Trusts in
Canada, 4th ed (Thomson Reuters, 2012) ("Waters on Trusts")

A.(S.) (Trustee of) v. S.(M.), 2005 ABQB 780

Little Sisters Book and Art Emporium v. Canada (Commissioner of Customs and
Revenue), [2007] 1 SCR 38

Law Society of Alberta Code of Conduct, Rule 5.6-1
1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB 548 (*Sawridge #8”)
Lynton Tucker et al, Lewin on Trusts, 19th ed (London: Thomson Reuters, 2015)

Gillespie Estate, Re., [1991] BCJ No 323, 25 ACWS (3d) 765 (BCSC)



Tab 1



COURT FILE NUMBER

COURT OF QUEEN’S BENCH OF ALBERTA
JUDICIAL CENTRE

APPLICANTS

DOCUMENT

ADDRESS FOR SERVICE AND
CONTACT INFORMATION OF
PARTY FILING THIS DOCUMENT

Clerk’s stamp:

1103 14112
EDMONTON

IN THE MATTER OF THE TRUSTEE ACT,
R.S.A. 2000, c. T-8, AS AMENDED

IN THE MATTER OF THE SAWRIDGE
BAND INTER VIVOS SETTLEMENT
CREATED BY CHIEF WALTER PATRICK
TWINN, OF THE SAWRIDGE INDIAN
BAND, NO. 19, now known as SAWRIDGE
FIRST NATION, ON APRIL 15, 1985
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ROLAND TWINN,

CATHERINE TWINN,

WALTER FELIX TWIN,

BERTHA L’HIRONDELLE, and
CLARA MIDBO, as Trustees for the 1985
Sawridge Trust

AFFIDAVIT OF PAUL BUJOLD on advice

and direction in the 1985 trust
==—=_lon n the 1985 trust

Reynolds, Mirth, Richards & Farmer LLP
3200 Manulife Place

10180 - 101 Street

Edmonton, AB T5J 3IW8

Attention: Doris C.E. Bonora
Telephone: (780) 425-9510

- Fax: (780) 429-3044
File No: 108511-001-DCEB
AFFIDAVIT OF PAUL BUJOLD

Sworn on September 12, 2011

1, Paul Bujold, of Edmonton, Alberta swear and say that:

1. I am the Chief Executive Officer of the Sawridge Trusts, which trusts consist of the

Sawridge Band Intervivos Settlement created in 1985 (hereinafter referred to as the “1985




v

Trust™) and the Sawridge Band Trust created in 1986 (hereinafter referred to as the 1986
Trust”), and as such have personal knowledge of the matters hereinafter deposed to
unless stated to be based upon information and belief, in which case [ verily believe the

same to be true.

[ make this affidavit in support of an application for the opinion, advice and direction of
the Court respecting the administration and management of the property held under the
1985 Trust.

Issues for this Application

At present, there are five trustees of the 1985 Trust: Bertha L’Hirondelle, Clara Midbo,
Catherine Twinn, Roland C. Twinn and Walter Felix Twin (hereinafter referred to as the

“Trustees”).

The Trustees would like to make distributions for the benefit of the beneficiaries of the
1985 Trust. However, concerns have been raised by the Trustees:
a. Regarding the definition of “Beneficiaries” contained in the 1985 Trust.

b. Regarding the transfer of assets into the 1985 Trust.

Accordingly, the Trustees seek the opinion, advice and direction of the Court in regard to

these matters.

Background

In 1966, Chief Walter Patrick Twinn (hereinafter referred to as “Chief Walter Twinn”)
became the Chief of the Sawridge Band No. 454, now known as Sawridge First Nation
(hereinafter referred to as the “Sawridge First Nation” or the “Nation”), and remained the

Chief until his death on October 30, 1997,
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[ am advised by Ronald Ewoniak, CA, retired engagement partner on behalf of Deloitte
& Touche LLP to the Sawridge Trusts, Companies and First Nation, and do verily
believe, that Chief Walter Twinn believed that the lives of the members of the Sawridge
First Nation could be improved by creating businesses that gave rise to employment
opportunities. Chief Walter Twinn believed that investing a portion of the oil and gas
royalties received by the Nation would stimulate economic development and create an
avenue for sel E-sufficiency, sel f-assurance, confidence and financial independence for the

members of the Nation.

[ am advised by Ronald Ewoniak, CA, and do verily believe, that in the early 1970s the
Sawridge First Nation began investing some of its oil and gas royalties in land, hotels and
other business assets. At the time, it was unclear whether the Nation had statutory
ownership powers, and accordingly assets acquired by the Nation were registered to the
names of individuals who would hold the property in trust. By 1982, Chief Walter
Twinn, George Twin, Walter Felix Twin, Samuel Gilbert Twin and David Fennell held a

number of assets in trust for the Sawridge First Nation.

Creation of the 1982 Trust

I am advised by Ronald Ewoniak, CA, and do verily believe, that in 1982 the Sawridge
First Nation decided to establish a formal trust in respect of the property then held in trust
by individuals on behalf of the present and future members of the Nation. The
establishment of the formal trust would enable the Nation to provide long-term benefits
to the members and their descendents. On April 15, 1982, a declaration of trust
establishing the Sawridge Band Trust (hereinafter referred to as the “1982 Trust”) was
executed. Attached as Exhibit “A” to my Affidavit is a copy of the 1982 Trust,

In June, 1982, at a meeting of the trustees and the settlor of the 1982 Trust, it was
resolved that the necessary documentation be prepared to transfer all property held by

Chief Walter Twinn, George Vital Twin and Walter Felix Twin, in trust for the present
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and future members of the Nation, to the 1982 Trust. Attached as Exhibit “B” to my

Affidavit is a copy of the resolution passed at the said meeting dated June, 1982,

The 1982 Trust was varied by a Court Order entered on June 17, 2003, whereby
paragraph 5 of the 1982 Trust was amended to provide for staggered terms for the
trustees. Attached as Exhibit “C” to my Affidavit is a copy of the Court Order entered
on June 17, 2003 varying the 1982 Trust.

On December 19, 1983, a number of properties and shares in various companies which
had been held by Chief Walter Twinn, Walter Felix Twin, Samuel Gilbert Twin and
David Fennell in trust for the present and future members of the Nation were transferred
into the 1982 Trust. Attached as Exhibit “D” to my Affidavit is an agreement dated
December 19, 1983, transferring certain assets into the 1982 Trust, Attached as Exhibit
“E” to my Affidavit is a transfer agreement dated December 19, 1983 transferring certain
assets from the 1982 Trust to Sawridge Holdings Ltd.

Changes in Legislation — The Charter of Rights and Freedoms and Bill C-31

On April 17, 1982, the Constitution Act, 982, which included the Canadian Charter of
Rights and Freedoms (hereinafter referred to as the “Charter”), came into force. Section
15 of the Charter did not have effect, however, until April 17, 1985, to enable provincial

and federal legislation to be brought into compliance with it,

After the Charter came into force, the federal government began the process of amending
the Indian Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. 1-6 (hereinafter referred to as the “1970 Indian Act”).
Following the federal election in 1984, the government introduced Bill C-31, a copy of
which is attached as Exhibit “F” to my Affidavit. Bill C-31 was introduced to address
concerns that certain provisions of the 1970 Indian Act relating to membership were

discriminatory.
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It was expected that Bill C-3] would result in an increase in the number of individuals
included on the membership list of the Sawridge First Nation. This led the Nation to
settle a new trust, the 1985 Trust, within which assets would be preserved for the Band

members as defined by the legislation prior to Bill C-31,

Creation of the 1985 Trust

Attached as Exhibit “G” to my Affidavit is a copy of the 1985 Trust dated April 15,

The 1985 Trust provides that the “Beneficiaries” are:

"Beneficiaries at any particular time shall mean all persons who at that time
qualify as members of the Sawridge Indian Band No. 19 pursuant to the
provisions of the Indian Act R.S.C. 1970, Chapter 1-6 as such provisions existed
on the 15th day of April, 1982 and, in the event that such provisions are amended
after the date of the execution of this Deed all persons who at such particular time
would qualify for membership of the Sawridge Indian Band No. 19 pursuant to
the said provisions as such provisions existed on the 15" day of April 1982 and,
for greater certainty, no persons who would not qualify as members of the
Sawridge Indian Band No. 19 pursuant to the said provisions, as such provisions
existed on the 15 day of April, 1982, shall be regarded as “Beneficiaries” for the
purpose of this Settlement whether or not such persons become or are at any time
considered to be members of the Sawridge Indian Band No. 19 for all or any other
purposes by virtue of amendments to the Indian Act R.S.C. 1970, Chapter I-6 that
may come into force at any time after the date of the execution of this Deed or by
virtue of any other legislation enacted by the Parliament of Canada or by any
province or by virtue of any regulation, Order in Council, treaty or executive act
of the Government of Canada or any province or by any other means whatsoever;

provided, for greater certainty, that any person who shall become enfranchised,

become a member of another Indian band or in any manner voluntarily cease to be

a member of the Sawridge Indian Band No. 19 under the Indian Act R.S.C. 1970,

Chapter 1-6, as amended from time to time, or any consolidation thereof or
successor legislation thereto shall thereupon cease to be a Beneficiary for al

purposes of this Settlement.”

The 1985 Trust effectively “froze” the definition of beneficiaries according to the

legislation as it existed prior to Bill C-3J,
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Attached as Exhibit “H” to my Affidavit is a copy of a Resolution of Trustees dated
April 15, 1985, whereby the trustees of the 1982 Trust resolved to transfer all of the

assets of the 1982 Trust to the 1985 Trust.

On April 15, 1985, the Sawridge First Nation approved and ratified the transfer of the
assets from the 1982 Trust to the 1985 Trust. Attached as Exhibit “I” to my Affidavit is

a Sawridge Band Resolution dated April 15, 1985 to this effect.

On April 16, 1985 the trustees of the 1982 Trust and the trustees of the 1985 Trust

declared:

a. that the trustees of the 1985 Trust would hold and continue to hold legal title to
the assets described in Schedule “A” of that Declaration; and

b. that the trustees of the 1985 Trust had assigned and released to them any and all

interest in the Promissory Notes attached as Schedule “B” of that Declaration.
Attached as Exhibit “J” to this my Affidavit is the Declaration of Trust made April 16,
1985.

Based upon my review of the exhibits attached to this my affidavit and upon the
knowledge I have acquired as Chief Executive Officer of the Sawridge Trusts, I believe
that all of the property from the 1982 Trust was transferred to the 1985 Trust. Further,
there was additional property transferred into the 1985 Trust by the Sawridge First Nation

or individuals holding property in trust for the Nation and its members.

The transfers were carried out by the trustees of the 1982 Trust under the guidance of
accountants and lawyers. The Trustees have been unable to locate all of the necessary
documentation in relation to the transfer of the assets from the 1982 Trust to the 1985
Trust or in relation to the transfer of assets from individuals or the Nation to the 1985

Trust,
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It is clear that the transfers were done but the documentation is not currently available.
The Trustees have been operating on the assumption that they were properly guided by

their advisors and the asset transfer to the 1985 Trust was done properly.

The Trustees seek the Court’s direction to declare that the asset transfer was proper and

that the assets in the 1985 Trust are held in trust for the benefit of the beneficiaries of the
1985 Trust.

The 1985 Trust is the sole shareholder of Sawridge Holdings Ltd. Iam advised by Ralph
Peterson, Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Sawridge Group of Companies, and
do verily believe that an approximate value of the 1985 Trust investment in Sawridge
Holdings Ltd. as at December 31, 2010 is $68,506,815. This represents an approximate
value of the net assets of Sawridge Holdings Ltd., assuming all assets could be disposed
of at their recorded net book value and all liabilities are settled at the recorded values as

at that date, with no consideration for the income tax effect of any disposal transactions.

Taking into account the other assets and liabilities of the 1985 Trust, the approximate

value of the net assets of the 1985 Trust as at December 3 1,2010 is $70,263,960.

To unravel the assets of the 1985 Trust after 26 years would create enormous costs and
would likely destroy the trust. Assets would have to be sold to pay the costs and to pay

the taxes associated with a reversal of the transfer of assets.
Creation of the 1986 Trust
Attached to my affidavit as Exhibit “K” is a copy of the 1986 Trust dated August 15,

1986. The beneficiaries of the 1986 Trust included all members of the Sawridge First
Nation in the post-Bill C-31 era,
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The Sawridge First Nation transferred cash and other assets into the 1986 Trust to further

the purposes of the trust, After April 15, 1985 no further funds or assets were put into the
1985 Trust,

Effectively, the assets in existence as at April 15, 1985 were preserved for those who
qualified as Sawridge members based on the definition of membership that existed at that
time. The 1986 Trust was established so that assets coming into existence subsequent to
April 15, 1985 could be held in trust for those individuals who qualified as members in

accordance with the definition of membership that existed in the post-Bill C-3/ era.

Identification of Beneficiaries Under the 1985 Trust and the 1986 Trust

The Trustees have determined that maintaining the definition of “Beneficiaries”
contained in the 1985 Trust is potentially discriminatory.  The definition of
“Beneficiaries” in the 1985 Trust would allow non-members of the Nation to be
beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust and would exclude certain members of the Nation (such as

those individuals acquiring membership as a result of Bill C-37) from being beneficiaries,

The Trustees believe that it is fair, equitable and in keeping with the history and purpose
of the Sawridge Trusts that the definition of “Beneficiaries” contained in the 1985 Trust
be amended such that a beneficiary is defined as a member of the Nation, which is

consistent with the definition of “Beneficiaries” in the 1986 Trust,

Current Status

The Trustees have been administering the Sawridge Trusts for many years. In December
of 2008, the Trustees retained the Four Worlds Centre for Development Learning
(hereinafter referred to as “Four Worlds™”) to conduct a consultation process with the
beneficiaries of the Sawridge Trusts. Four Worlds prepared a report identifying the types

of programs and services that the Sawridge Trusts should offer to the beneficiaries and
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the types of payments the Trustees should consider making from the trusts. Attached
hereto as Exhibit “L” is g summary chart of recommendations taken from the said

report,

Having undertaken the consultation process, the Trustees have a desire to confer more
direct benefits on the beneficiaries of the Sawridge Trusts. The Trustees require
clarification and amendment of the 1985 Trust such that the definition of “Beneficiaries”
in the 1985 Trust is varied to make it consistent with the definition of “Beneficiaries” in
the 1986 Trust. In this way the members of the Nation are the beneficiaries of both the
1985 Trust and the1986 Trust and the assets that once belonged to the Nation can be

distributed through the trusts to the members of the Nation.

SWORN before me at Edmonton
in the Province of Alberta,
on the /.2 dayof September, 2011.

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for

A mam\ S Paul Buj)\ld \

the Province of Alberta

Catherine A. Mfgpan
My Commission Expires
January 28, 20

809051_2;September 12, 2011
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I, Paul Bujold, of Edmonton, Alberta swear and say that:
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I am the Chief Executive Officer of the Sawridge Trusts, which trusts consist of the
Sawridge Band Intervivos Settlement created in 1985 (hereinafter referred to as the “1985
Trust”) and the Sawridge Band Trust created in 1986 (hereinafter referred to as the “1986
Trust”), and as such have personal knowledge of the matters hereinafter deposed to
unless stated to be based upon information and belief, in which case I verily believe the
same to be true.

I make this affidavit in support of an application for setting the procedure for seeking the
opinion, advice and direction of the Court respecting the administration and management
of the property held under the 1985 Trust.

On April 15, 1982, Chief Walter Patrick Twinn, who is now deceased, executed a Deed
of Settlement a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” to this my affidavit
(“1982 Trust”).

On April 15, 1985, Chief Walter Patrick Twinn, who is now deceased, executed a Deed
of Settlement a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” to this my affidavit
(“1985 Trust™).

On August 15, 1986, Chief Walter Patrick Twinn, who is now deceased, executed a Deed
of Settlement a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “C” to this my affidavit
(“1986 Trust”).

The Trustees of the 1985 Trust have been managing substantial assets, some of which
were transferred from the 1982 Trust, and wish to make some distributions to the
Beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust. However, concerns have been raised by the Trustees of
the 1985 Trust with respect to the following:

a. Determining the definition of “Beneficiaries” contained in the 1985 Sawridge
Trust, and if necessary varying the 1985 Sawridge Trust to clarify the definition
of “Beneficiaries”.

b. Seeking direction with respect to the transfer of assets to the 1985 Sawridge Trust.

In order to determine the beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust, the Trustees of the 1985 Trust
directed me to place a series of advertisements in newspapers in Alberta, Saskatchewan,
Manitoba and British Columbia to collect the names of those individuals who may be
beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust.

As a result of these advertisements I have received notification from a number of
individuals who may be beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust.

I have corresponded with the potential beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust and such
correspondence is attached hereto as Exhibit “D”.

I have compiled a list of the following persons who I believe may have an interest in the
application for the opinion, advice and direction of the Court respecting the
administration and management of the property held under the 1985 Trust:

a. Sawridge First Nation;
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b. All of the registered members of the Sawridge First Nation;

c. All persons known to be beneficiaries of the 1985 Sawridge Trust and all former
members of the Sawridge First Nation who are known to be excluded by the
definition of “Beneficiaries” in the 1986 Sawridge Trust, but who would now
qualify to apply to be members of the Sawridge First Nation;

d. All persons known to have been beneficiaries of the Sawridge Band Trust dated
April 15, 1982 (hereinafter referred to as the “1982 Sawridge Trust”), including
any person who would have qualified as a beneficiary subsequent to April 15,

1985;

e. All of the individuals who have applied for membership in the Sawridge First
Nation;

f. All of the individuals who have responded to the newspaper advertisements

placed by the Applicants claiming to be a beneficiary of the 1985 Sawridge Trust;

g Any other individuals who the Applicants may have reason to believe are
potential beneficiaries of the 1985 Sawridge Trust,

h. The Office of the Public Trustee of Alberta (hereinafter referred to as the “Public
Trustee”) in respect of any minor beneficiaries or potential minor beneficiaries;

(those persons mentioned in Paragraph 10 (a) — (h) are hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Beneficiaries and Potential Beneficiaries™); and

i Those persons who regained their status as Indians pursuant to the provisions of
Bill C-31 (An Act to amend the Indian Act, assented to June 28, 1985) and who
have been deemed to be affiliated with the Sawridge First Nation by the Minister
of Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada (hereinafter referred to
as the ‘“Minister”).

The list of Beneficiaries and Potential Beneficiaries consists of 194 persons. I have been
able to determine the mailing address of 190 of those persons. Of the four individuals for
whom I have been unable to determine a mailing address, one is a person who applied for
membership in the Sawridge First Nation but neglected to provide a mailing address
when submitting her application. The other three individuals are persons for whom I
have reason to believe are potential beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust and whose mother is a
current member of the Sawridge First Nation.

With respect to those individuals who regained their status as Indians pursuant to the
provisions of Bill C-31 and who have been deemed to be affiliated with the Sawridge
First Nation by the Minister, the Minister will not provide us with the current list of these
individuals nor their addresses, citing privacy concerns. These individuals are not
members of the Sawridge First Nation but may be potential beneficiaries of the 1985
Trust due to their possible affiliation with the Sawridge First Nation.

A website has been created and is located at www.sawridgetrust.ca (hereinafter referred
to as the “Website”). The Beneficiaries and Potential Beneficiaries and the Minister have
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access to the Website and it can be used to provide notice to the Beneficiaries and
Potential Beneficiaries and the Minister and to make information available to them.

14.  The Trustees seek this Court’s direction in setting the procedure for seeking the opinion,
advice and direction of the Court in regard to:

a. Determining the Beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust.

b. Reviewing and providing direction with respect to the transfer of the assets to the
1985 trust.

2. Making any necessary variations to the 1985 Trust or any other Order it deems

just in the circumstances.

SWORN OR AFFIRMED BY THE DEPONENT BEFORE A COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS

AT EDMONTON, ALBERTA ON AUGUST 30, 2011.

AUL BUJOL Commissioner's Name:
Appointment Expiry Date:

MARCOS. PORETTI
810070; August 29, 2011 ‘»&:U/’[ ‘ /ASM}C"/ % j)[ ( (éj},

810070;August 30, 2011
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SAWRIDGE BAND INTER VIVOS SETTLEMENL"® Provinoe of Albsda

MARCO 8. PORETTI

DECLARATION OF TRUST

THIS DEED OF SETTLEMENT is made in duplicate the ;&N
day of April, 1985

BETWEEN:

CHIEF WALTER PATRICK TWINN,

of the Sawridge Indian Band,

{hereinafter called the "Settlor"),

OF THE FIRST PART,

- and =~

CHIEF WALTER PATRICK TWINN,

GEORGE V. TWIN and SAMUEL G. TWIN,

of the Sawridge Indian Band,

No. 19, Slave Lake, Alberta,

(hereinafter collectively called

the "Trustees”),

OF THE SECOND FART.

WHEREAS the Settlor desires to create an inter
vivos settlement for the benefit of the individuals who at
the date of the execution of this Deed are members of the
Sawridge 1Indian Band No. 19 within the meaning of the
provisions of the Indian Act R.S.C. 1970, Chapter I-6, as
such provisions existed on the 15th day of April, 1982, and
the future members of such band within the meaning of the

said provisions as such provisions existed on the 15th day



of April, 13852 and for that purpose has transferred to the
Trustees the property described in the Schgdule hereto;

AND WHEREAS the parties desire to declare the
trusts, terms and provisions on which the Trustees have
agreed to hold and administer the said property and all
other properties that may be acquired by the Trustees
hereafter for the purposes of the settlement;

NOW THEREFORE THIS DEED WITNESSETH THAT in consid-

eration of the vrespective covenants and agreements herein

contained, it is hereby covenanted and agreed by and between

the parties as follows:

1. The Settlor and Trustees hereby establish a trust

fund, which the Trustees shall administer in accordance with
the terms of this Deed.

2. In this Settlement, the following terms shall be

interpreted in accordance with the following rules:

{a} "Beneficiaries" at any particular time shall mean
all persons who at that time qualify as members of
the Sawridge Indian Band No. 18 pursuant to the
provisions of the Indian Act R.S.C. 1370, Chapter
I-6 as such provisions existed on the 15th day of
April, 1982 and, in the event that such provisions
are amended after the date of the execution of

this Deed all persons who at such particular time




would qualify for membership of the Sawridge
indian Band No. 19 pursuant to the said provisions
as such provisions existed on the 15th day of
April, 1982 and, for greater certainty, no persons

who would not gualify as members of the Sawridge

Indian Band No. 19 pursuant to the said provi-

sions, as such provisions existed on the 15th day

of April, 1982, shall be regarded as "Benefi-
ciaries® for +the purpose of this Settlement
whether or not such persons become or are at any
time considered to be members of the Sawridge
Indian Band No. 19 for all or any other purposes
by virtue of amendments to the Indian Act R.S.C.

1970, Chapter I-6 that may come into force at any

time after the date of the execution of this Deed-

or by virtue of any other legislation enacted by
the Parliament of Canada or by any province or by
virtue of any regulation, Order in Council, treaty
or executive act of the Government of Canada or
any province or by any other means whatsoever;
provided, for greater certainty, that any person
who shall become enfranchised, become a member of
ancther Indian band or in any manner voluntarily

cease to be a member of the Sawridge Indian Band

TTTEITINIITINS




{b)

No 19 under the Indian Act R.S5.C. 1970, Chapter

I-6, as amended from time to time, or any consoli-

dation thereof or successor legislation thereto

shall thereupon cease to be a Beneficiary for all

‘purpoges of this Settlement; and

"Trust Fund™ shall mean:

(&)

(B)

(C})

(D}

the property described in the Schedule here-
to and any accumulated income thereon;

any further, substituted or additional pro-
perty and any accumulated income thereon
which the Settlor or any other person or per-
sons may donate, sell or otherwise transfer
or cause to be transferred to, or vest or
cause to be vested ‘in, or otherwise acquired
by, the Trustees for the purposes of this
Settlement;

any other property acquired by the Trustees

pursuant to, and in accordance with, the

provisions of this Settlement: and

the property and accumulated income thereon
{(if any) for the time being and from time to
time into which any of the aforesaid proper-
ties and accumulated income thereon may be

converted.




3. E@e Trustees shall hold the Trust Fund in trust
and shall deal with it in accordance with the terms and con-
ditions of this Deed. No part of the Trust Fund shall be
used for or diverted to purposes other than those purposes
set out herein. The Trustees may accept and hold as part of
the Trust Fund any property of any kind or nature whatsoever
that the Settlor or any other person or persons may donate,
sell or otherwise transfer or cause to be transferred to, or
vest or cause to be vested in, or otherwise acquired by, the
Trustees for the purpcses of this Settlement,

4, The name of the Trust Fund shall be "The Sawridge
Band Inter Vivos Settlement", and the meetings of the Trus-
tees shall take place at the Sawridge Band Administration
Office located on the Sawridge Band Reserve.

95 Any Trustee may at any time resign from the office
of Trustee of this Settlement on giving not less than thirty
{30) days notice addressed to the other Trustees. Any
Trustee or Trustees may be removed from office by a resolu-
tion that receives the approval in writing of at least

eighty percent (80%) of the Beneficiaries who are then alive

and over the adge oOf twenty-one {21) vyears he power Oof
g ~ o 1 - o - - - - < - - o el -~

appointing Trustees to fill any vacancy caused Dy the death,
resignatbtion or removal of a Trustee shall be vested in the




power shall b
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that at all times (except for
the period pending any such appointment, including the
period pending the appointment of two (2) additional Trus-
tees after the execution of this Deed) there shall be at

east five ({5) Trustees of this Settlement and so that no

1

person who is not then a Beneficiary shall be appointed a

i

Trustee if immediately before such appointment there is more
than one (1) Trustee who .is not then a Beneficilary.

6, The Trustees shall hold the Trust Fund for the
benefit of the Beneficiaries; provided, however, that at the
end of twenty-one (21) years after the death of the last
survivor of all persons who were alive on the 15th day of
April, 1882 and who, being at that time registered Indians,
were descendants of the original signators of Treaty Number
8, all of the Trust Fund then remaining in the hands of the
Trustees shall be divided equally among the Beneficiaries
then living.

Provided, however, that the Trustees shall be
specifically entitled not to grant any benefit during the
duration of the Trust or at the end thereof to any illegiti-
mate children of Indian women, even though that child or
those children may be registered under the Indian Act and

thelr status may not have been protested under section 12(2)

thereunder.



The Trustees shall have complete and unfettered
digcretion ;; pay or apply all or so much of the net income
of the Trust Fund, if any, or to accumulate the same or any
portion thereéf, and all or so much of the capital of the
Trust Fund as they in their unfettered discretion from time
to time deem appropriate for any one or more of the Benefi-
ciaries; and the Trustees may make such payments at such
time, and from time to time, and in such manner and in such
proportions as the Trustees in their uncontrolled discretion
deem appropriate,

7. The Trustees may invest and reinvest all or any

part of the Trust Fund in any investments authorized for

Trustees' investments by the Trustees' Act, being Chapter

T-10 of the Revised Statutes of Alberta, 1980, as amended
from time to time, but the Trustees are not restricted to
such Trustee Investments but may invest in any investment
which they in their uncontrolled discretion think f£it, and
are further not bound to make any investment nor to accumu-
late the income of the Trust Fund, and may instead, if they
in their uncontrolled discretion from time to time deem it
appropriate, and for such period or periods of iime as they
see fit, keep the Trust Fund or any part of it deposited in

a bank to which the Bank Act (Canada) or the Quebec Savings

Bank Act applies.



8. —?he Trustees are authorized and empowered to do
all acts necessary or, in the opinion of the Trustees,
desirable for the purpose of administering this Settlement
for the benefit of the Beneficiaries including any act that
any of the Trustees might lawfully do when dealing with his
own property, other than any such act committed in bad faith
oY in gross negligencé, and including, without in any manner
to any extent detracting from the generality of the fore-
going, the power

(a) to exercise all voting and other rights in respect
of any stocks, bonds, property or other invest=-
ments of the Trust Fund;

(b} to sell or otherwise dispose of any property held
by them in the Trust Fund and to acquire other
property in substitution therefor; and

(¢} to employ professional advisors and agents and to
retain and act upon the advice given by such pro-
fessionals and to pay such professionals such fees
or other remuneration as the Trustees in their
uncontrolled discretion from time to time deem
appropriate (and this provision shall apply to the
payment of professional fees to any Trustee who
renders professional services to the Trustees).

9. Administration costs and expenses of or in connec-

tion with the Trust shall be paid £rom the Trust Fund,




including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
reasonable ;;imbursement to the Trustees or any of them for
costs (and reasonable fees for their services as Trustees)
incurred in the administration of the Trust and for taxes of
any nature whatsoever which may be levied or assessed by
federal, provincial or other governmental authority upon or
in respect of the income or capital of the Trust Fund.

10. The Trustees shall keep accounts in an acceptable
manner of all receipts, disbursements, investments, and
other transactions in the administration of the Trust.

11 The provisions of this Settlement may be amended
from time to time by a resolution of the Trustees that
receives the approval in writing of at least eighty percent
(80%) of the Beneficiaries who are then alive and over the
age of twenty-one (21) years provided that no such amendment
shall be valid or effective to the extent that it changes or
alters in any manner, or to any extent, the definition of
"Beneficiaries" under subparagraph 2(a) of this Settlement
or changes or alters in any manner, or to any extent, the
beneficial ownership of the Trust Fund, or any part of the
Trust Pund, by the Beneficiariss as so defined.

125 The Trustees shall not be liable for any act or
cmission done or made in the exercise of any power, author-

ity or discretion given to them by this Deed provided such




act or omission is done or made in good faith; nor shall
they be liable to make good any loss or diminution in value
of the Trust Fund not caused by their gross negligence or
bad faith; and all persons claiming any beneficial interest
in the Trust Fund shall be deemed to take notice of and
subject to this clause,
135 Subject to paragraph 11 of this Deed, a majority
of fifty percent (50%) of the Trustees shall be required for
any decision or action taken on behalf of the Trust,

Each of the Trustees, by joining in the execution
of this Deed, signifies his acceptance of the Trusts here-

in. Any other person who becomes a Trustee under paragraph

o

of this Settlement shall signify his acceptance of the
Trust herein by executing this Deed or a true copy hereof,
and shall be bound by it in the same manner as if he or she
had executed the original Deed.

14. This Settlement shall be governed by, and shall be

construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of
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Alberca.

IN WITHESS WHERBOF the parties hereto have

executed this Deed,

SIGNED, SBALED AND DELIVERED
in the presence of:

@WQ { S\M@m A. S;:tzlor M

ﬁ%%‘w [L QLO"\J ‘ B. 'jrjusteesa ' "2“-.
Gripe 3 Dbore WA A [ ]

2L
ADDRESS

Buse § Do e )
“Gox 3% A&&&J@M

ADDRESS

8ghedule ,
One Hundred Dollars ($100,00) in Canadian Currency.
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CODE OF CONDUCT

Trustees of The Sawridge Band Jnter Vivas Settlement and of The Sawridge Trust

WHEREAS:

(1)  The Sawridge Band Inter Vivos Settlement (the "1985 Trust") was established by Chief
Walter P. Twinn by a Deed dated April 15, 1985.

(2)  The Sawridge Trust (the "1986 Trust") was established by Chief Walter P, Twinn by a
Deed dated August 15, 1986.

3) The undersigned, Walter Felix Twinn, Bertha L'Hirondelle, Roland Twinn, Catherine
Twinn and Clara Midbo, are currently the trustees (the "Current Trustees") of both the
1985 Trust and the 1986 Trust (collectively, the "Trusts"). The trustees of the Trusts
from time to time are hereinafter referred to as the "Trustees".

(4)  The following additional documents are attached as schedules to this Code of Conduct:
(8) a document prepared by Davies Ward Phillips & Vineberg LLP as counsel for the
Trustees which is entitled "Responsibilities of Trustees of the Sawridge Trusts" (the
"Trustees’ Responsibilities document"), which is attached as Schedule A; and
(b) Trustees' resolutions dealing with the procedure for Trustee decision-making, which
are attached as Schedules B1 and B2.

(5) In order to facilitate the effective administration of the Trusts, the Cumrent Trustees wish
to enter this Code of Conduct to which they have all agreed.

NOW THEREFORE the undersigned Current Trustees all agree to the following provisions of
this Code of Conduct;:

1. General

In order to carry out the Trustees' basic obligation of acting in the best interests of the
beneficiaries, the Trustees must act with care, skill and diligence, integrity and iropartiality; they
must in general avoid conflicts of interest and duty; they must act in a way that enables decisions
to be made effectively; they must respect confidentiality; and they must not act in a way which
brings the office of Trustee into disrepute. This Code of Conduet will deal with each of these
uspects of the Trustees' responsibilities. It will also deal with communications between Trustees
and dircctors and management of the corporations directly or indirectly owned by the Trusts (the
"Sawridge Corporations™).

This Code of Conduct will also provide a procedure for resolving disputes arising from this Code
of Conduct,

Tar#: 21318185
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2. Care and Diligence

As expressed in the Trustees' Responsibilities document, the applicable general principle is that
Trustees are required to exercise the care, skill and diligence of an ordinary prudent person. In
particular, this requires that Trustees will:

(a)  attend all Trustee meetings except only when unable to do so;

(b)  read and consider the agendas for Trustee meetings along with accompanying
materials; and

(¢)  generally give careful consideration to all issues arising for decision by them as
Trustees.

3. Communications with Directors and Management of Sawridge Corporations

As expressed in the Trustees' Responsibilities document, the Trustees have adopted an
arrangement under which none of them sit on the boards of Sawridge Corporations; instead, the
Trustees have elected qualified persons to act as directors. This arrangement rests on two
principles. The first is that the Trustees will not interfere in the roles, respectively, of the
directors and of the management of the corporations. The second is that the Trustecs will have
sufficient and timely information about the conduct of the Sawridge Corporations so that, as a
group, they are kept fully apprised of the business and affairs of the corporations and where
considered advisable communicate any concerns through the Trustees' Chair to the Chair of the
Board of Directors.

Two points dealing with the practical application of these principles apply to the conduct of
Trustees. These are:

(a)  Communications between the Trustees and the directors will ordinarily be made
by and to the Trustees collectively only through the Trustees' Chair, Individual
communications may occur only at meetings of the shareholders at which
directors attend, including at annual shareholder meetings.

(b)  Trustees will not interfere with management of the Sawridge Corporations. If any
Trustee has any concern relating to management of the corporations that concern
must not be communicated to the management but is to be brought to the atiention
of the Trustees as a group and the Trustees' concern can then be comrmunicated
through the Trustees' Chair to the Chair of the Board of Directors.

4, Integrity, Impartiality and Conflict of Interest

Trustees must at all times act honestly in the best interests of beneficiaries and in making
decisions as Trustees must make decisions which they honestly believe to be in the beneficiaries’
best interests.

Trustees must exercise their funclions as trustees free of extraneous and improper influence.
This includes obvious circumnstances such as receiving bribes but also extends to less obvious

Tor#: 2131818.5
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circumstances such as making a decision on the basis of personal feelings about a particular
beneficiary where such feelings have no relevance to the matter under consideration or where the
Trustee has not expressed to the other Trustees the fact that such feelings are affecting his or her

decision.

Conflicts of Interest

Avoidance of conflicts of interest is an aspect of the requirements of intcprity and impartiality.
As stated in the Trustees' Responsibilities document, the Trustees must avoid improperly acting
in a position of conflict between self-interest and duty, The following procedure will be
followed to deal with such conflicts;

(®

(b

(©)

(@

Tor#: 2131818.5

"There will be a conflict when a Trustee may obtain some
benefit, directly or indirectly, from his or her position as
Trustee or when the Trustee is in a position in which his or
her decision-making as Trustee may potentially be
influenced, directly or indirectly, by his or her personal
interests, It will be assumed that a Trustee may obtain such
a benefit if the bepefit is obtained, not only by the Trustes,
but also by the spouse, parent, sibling or child of the
Trustee. Similarly, it will be assumed that a Trustee may
be influenced if, not only the Trustee, but also the spouse,
parent, sibling or child of the Trustee may be affected by
the decision.”

For the purposes of this procedure, there will be considered to be a conflict in the
following circumstances:

Al possible conflicts must be disclosed by a Trustee to the other Trustees when
the possible conflict becomes apparent to him or her. If in doubt about whether
there is a conflict, the possible conflict should be disclosed.

Any Trustee, or the Chair if not a Trustee, may raise with the Trustees the issue of
a possible conflict affecting any other Trustee.

If a conflict does not arise from the Trustees' dual position of Trustes and
beneficiary, the conflict should ordinarily be avoided by the Trustee not entering
into the transaction that would give rise to the conflict. For example, a Trustee
must not sell his own property to the Trust (without court approval). Such a
transaction cannot properly be carried out even if the vendor Trustee does not take
part in the decision-making by the Trustees,
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(e) When the conflict is expressly dealt with by the terms of the Trust Deeds, the
Trustess may, despite the conflict, take part in the applicable decision-making. In
particular, the Trust Deeds expressly provide for the Trustees receiving
reasonable fees for their services as Trustees. They can, therefore, properly make
the decjsion about their own fees. However, such decisions must not be open to
the criticism that the Trustees have abused their position. The fees must therefore
be demonstrably reasonable, and this may involve obtaining input from qualified
advisors.

® When the conflict arises from the Trustees' dual position as Trustee and
beneficiary — for example, when consideration is being given to a distribution of
trust property to a Trustee/beneficiary, the normal procedure should be for the
conflicted Trustse not to be present at the Trustees' consideration of the question
and should not vote on the question. In effect, such Trustee should be treated in
the same way as a beneficiary who is not a Trustee.

()  Where possible benefits to Trustees or their relatives from a proposal under
consideration by the Trustees arise only because the proposal may benefit all
beneficiaries, or a broad category of them, with no particular advantage being
conferred upon any Trustee or relative of a Trustee, it would be impractical and
unreasonable to disqualify Trustees from consideration of the proposal merely
because of such potential benefits. In such cases the potential benefits to Trustees
and their relatives will generally be obvious on the face of the proposal, so that
there is no hidden advantage to a Trustee or relative which should be disclosed,
nor should the Trustee be exposed to criticism or potential liability for having
made such a decision on the basis that it would be in the interests of the
bensficiaries as a whole, or some significant group of beneficiaries.

(h) When the Trustees decide that there is in fact no conflict in respect of a particular
question or transaction but that one or more beneficiaries might nevertheless
consider that there is a conflict, it will ordinarily be appropriate for the affected
Trustee not to be present at the Trustees' consideration of the matter and not to
vote on it.

B Conduct Involving Decision-Making Process

In order that the decision-making process be fair and effective, it is crucial that communication
among Trustees be fair and effective. Therefore, the Trustees shall act in accordance with the
following principles:

(a)  Cooperation: Trustees shall collaborate to serve the best interests of the
beneficiaries.

(t)  Tolerance: each Trustee should seek to fully understand the views and values of
the other Trustees in the best possible light and consider whether those views and
values might be usefully adopted to guide the ongoing deliberations of the
Trustees.

Tor#: 21318185
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(¢)  Inclusion: Trustees shall use their best efforts to include all Trustees in their
deliberations so that each Trustee feels that he/she had a meaningful opportunity
to contribute to the discussion and that histher views and values were given fair
and full consideration.

(d Compassion: each Trustee recognizes that the other Trustees are human beings
with their own weaknesses and capable of making mistakes. The Trustees agree
to show patience, and provide mentorship and caring for each other.

()  Relationship: the Trustees recognize that people live in complex and essential
webs of relationship and acknowledge that decisions and actions of individuals
and the community unavoidably affect each other. The Trustees shall seek to
make their decisions in ways that positively strengthen their relationships and in
ways that promote the best consequences for the beneficiaries.

63) Honesty in Communication: Trustees must be fair, open, truthful and sincere
when dealing with each other and shall all times avoid attempts to deceivs or
mislead each other.

(g)  Fair Procedures: the Trustees agree to proceed with their decisions in
accordance with known and fair procedures.

(h)  Assertiveness: Trustees have an obligation to state their views and concerns
openly and clearly for consideration by the other Trustees.

@ Consensus:  where possible, Trustees should work towards unanimous

agreement; where unanimous agreement is not possible, Trustess shall try to come
to 2 consensus; where neither of these is possible Trustees shall reach decisions
by simple majority. In all cases, once a decision is made by the Trustees it should

be respected and followed by all.

G) Objectivity:  Trustees must base their decisions upon relevant facts and
information in a way that is not biased by undisclosed personal feelings or
opinions.

(k)  Transparency: to the extent possible, the Trustees should be able to articulate
their reasons for coming to a particular decision.

M Peacefulness & Respect: Trustees have an obligation to be polite, respectful and
courteous in their dealings with other Trustees; they agree to deal with each other
in @ calm and open manner; and they agree to avoid expressions of anger and
personal aftacks which may distupt the harmony of the group.

(m)  Reconciliation: the Trustees accept that they are morally accountable for their
own actions. ~ Where their actions or decisions have, intentionally or
unintentionally, caused disharmony, they accept a personal obligation to work
towards restoring harmony.

Tor#: 2131418,5
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6. Confidentiality

The Trustees shall maintain the confidentiality of the deliberations of the Trustees and of any
other confidential information imparted to the Trustees including information received from the
Sawridge Corporations and their businesses and affairs.

7. Conduct Bringing Office of Trustee Into Disrepute

It is important that the role of the Trustees be respected by the beneficiaries of the Trusts.
Thetefore, criminal conduct or other conduct which brings the office of trustee into disrepute is
contrary to this Code of Conduct, whether or not such conduct is directly connected to the
carrying on of responsibilities as Trustee,

8. Application of the Code of Conduct
The following are the guiding principles applicable to the application of this Code of Conduct;

(a) It is intended that Trustees will abide by this Code of Conduct, along with the
Schedules to it, in carrying out their responsibilities as Trustees.

(b)  Any Trustee who has any concern about the conduct of another Trustee will
ordinarily in the first place raise the concern either privately with the other
Trustee or at a meeting of the Trustees, as may be appropriate in the
circumstances. It is expected that such concems will ordinarily be resolved
informally without the need for any outside intervention.

(©) Where it i3 alleged by a Trustee (the "Claimant") that another Trustee has acted
inconsistently with this Code of Conduct and the Claimant is not satisfied that his
or her concem has been properly resolved in accordance with (b) above, the
Claimant may require that an outside person be appointed to act as a mediator and
arbitrator to deal with the complaint, as follows:

(i)  Subject to (jii) below, the Claimant will by notice in writing request the
Trustees' Chair to amrange the selection of a mediator/arbitrator. Such
mediator/arbitrator will be such person as shall be agresd by both the
Claimant and the Respondent,

(i) Subject to (iii) below, if the disputing Trustees do not, within 30 days
from the date of the notice referred to in (i) above, agree on a
mediator/arbitrator the Trustees' Chair shall appoint a mediator/arbitrator,

(iify  If the Trustees' Chair is a Trustee who is a disputing Trustee, the notice
referred to in (i) above will be provided to the Trustees who are not the
disputing Trustees and the appointment referred to in (ii) above will be
made by the majority of the Trustess who are not the disputing Trustees.

Tor: 2131818.5
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(d)  Therole and authority of the mediator/arbitrator will be as follows:

(i) the mediator/arbitrator shall arrange for a joint meeting with the patties
not later than 90 days from the date of the notice referred to in 8(c)()
above;

(ii)  the mediator/arbitrator will first act as a mediator in order to facilitate a
resolution of the dispute without the need for any binding direction;

(iif)  if the mediator/arbitrator determines that it will not be possible to resolve
the dispute without any binding direction, he or she shall act as an
arbitrator to resolve the dispute by one or more directions;

(iv)  the mediator/arbitrator shall have all the authority, powers and discretion
granted to an arbitrator under the Alberta Arbitration Act;

(v) if the mediator/arbitrator makes a finding that a Trustee has acted
inconsistently with this Code of Conduct the mediator/arbitrator may
make one or more directions relating to any of the following:

(A}  that a Trustee act or abstain from acting in particular ways;

(B)  that a Trustee not be entitled to be paid remuneration to which he
or she would otherwise be entitled;

(C)  that a Trustee resign as Trustee;

(D)  that some or all of the costs and expenses of the dispute resolution
process be paid by one or more of the Trustees personally.

(vi)  Subject to a direction made by the mediator/arbitrator pursuant to 8(c)(iv)
above, the costs and expenses incurred in respect of the dispute resolution
process will be paid from the assets of the Trusts.

(vii)  There shall be no appeal from a decision of the mediator/arbitrator.
9. Application of Code of Conduct to all Trustees

Tt is intended that all Trustees will be subject to this Code of Conduct. Therefore, it will be a
condition of appointment of a person as Trustee that he or she will agree to become a signatory
to the Code of Conduct.

10.  Severability
If any provision of this Code of Conduct is detetmined to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in

any respect, such determination shall not impair or affect the validity, legality or enforceability
of the remaining provisions of this Code of Conduct.

. Tori: 2131818.5
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11. Amendment of Code of Conduct

This Code of Conduct may be amended from tine to time by the unanimous agreement of all of
the Trustees at atty such time by instrument in writing.

DATED this 12" day of January, 2009

/ Waltcr Felix Twinp. \vr 7"
/
/ Sy L2

$ Wltnc 5~ }/ /-" Bertha L'Hirondelle

QMAWM

Cathérine Twinn

P

Roland Twinn

@M T hre it

e Clara Midbo
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SCHEDULE A

Responsibilities of Trustees of the Sawridge Trust

Introduction

This document describes, in a general way, the responsibilities of the trustecs (the "Trustees") of
the Sawridge Band Infer Vivos Seitlement (the "1985 Trust”) and of the Sawridge Trust (the
"1986 Trust") (together, the "Trusts").

Trustees are required to act in accordance with the general law of trusts as modified by the
provisions of the document establishing the particular trust.

Beneficiaries

Paragraph 2(a) of the Trust Deed applying to the 1985 Trust defines beneficiaries for the
purposes of that Trust as all persons who at any particular time qualify as members of the
Sawridge Indian Band pursuant to the provisions of the Indian Act as those provisions existed on
April 15, 1982,

Paragraph 2(a) of the Trust Deed applying to the 1986 Trust defines beneficiaries for the
purposes of that Trust as all persons who at amy particular time qualify as members of the
Sawridge Indian Band under the laws of Canada in force from time to time including the
membership rules and customary laws of the Sawridge Indian Band as they exist from time to
time to the extent that such membership rules and customary laws are incorporated into, or
recognized by, the laws of Canada,

Number of Trustees

The Trust Deed applying to the 1985 Trust provides that at all times (except for the period
pending an appointment) there shall be at least five Trustees. A non-beneficiary may not be
appointed if immediately before such appointment there is more than one Trustee who is not &
beneficiary. There cannot, therefore, be more than two Trustees who are not beneficiaries

(paragraph 5).

The Trust Deed applying to the 1986 Trust provides that at all times (except for the period
pending an appoiniment) there is required to be a minimum of three Trustees and & maximum of
seven Trustees. A non-beneficiary may not be appointed if immediately before such
appointment there are more than two Trustees who are not beneficiaries (paragraph 5). It would,
therefore, be possible to have three Trustees who are not beneficiaries. However, for tax
reasons, it is preferable that the two Trusts have the same Trustees.

Basic Obligation of Trustees

The basic obligation of trustees is to act in the best interest of the beneficiaries.
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Distribution of Income or Capital of Trasts

Both Trusts provide for the Trustees to have a wide discretion as to the distribution of income or
capital of the Trusts, paragraph 6 of each Trust Deed providing (in part) that the,

"Trustees shall have complete and unfettered discretion to pay or apply
al or so much of the net income of the Trust Fund, if any, or to
accumulate the same or any portion thereof, and all or so much of the
capital of the Trust Fund as they in their unfettered discrstion from
time to time deem approptiate for any one or more of the
Beneficiaries; and the Trustees may make such payments at such time,
and from time to time, and in such manner and in such proportions as
the Trustees in their uncontrolled discretion deem appropriate.”

Although the provision of the Trust Deeds refers to the discretion as "unfettered” and
"uncontrolled”, it is in fact "fettered" and "controlled" by the requirements of the law of trusts.
The point is that since the discretion is exercisable by the Trustees as trustees they must not
exercise it arbitrarily but must do so in accordance with the requirements of trust law. These
requirements, which have been laid down in case law and are expressed in fairly general terms,
can be summarized as follows:

» Trustees must give active consideration to the exercise of their discretionary powers.

* Trustees must act in good faith, in the sense that they must take account of relevant
factors and must not take account of irrelevant factors.

The case law does not define what is relevant for these purposes. It depends on the
circumstances of each particular trust. However, the basic idea is that trustees should take
account of factors relevant to the purposes of the particular trust. They must not, for example,
take account of their personal feelings about particular beneficiaries.

Distributions from the Trusts may be made to or for the benefit of the beneficiaries in a variety of
ways. These would include providing facilities or programmes generally for the benefit of
beneficiaries and by programmes involving distributions to beneficiaries. It is important that the
availability of any such facilities or programmes is made known to beneficiaries so that
beneficiaries have the opportunity both to take advantage of any facilities or programmes that are
generally available for beneficiaries and to apply for any facility or programme that will involve
selection among the beneficiaries.

The topic of conflict of interest and duty is relevant to the exercise of the Trustees' discretion 10
distribute trust property. This is discussed below.

Process of Decision Making
Unlike the law applicable to corporations, trust law does not specify a procedure for trustees to

make decisions. Also, trust documents — like the Deeds applicable to the Trusts — do not
typically provide detailed guidance for such decision making,
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The following should be noted:

» Both Trust Deeds provide for decisions being made by a majority of Trustees. In the
case of the 1985 Trust, paragraph 13 of the Deed states that a "majority of fifty
percent” of the Trustees shall be required for any decision or zction taken on behalf of
the Trust This should be interpreted to require a simple majority which is clear when
thers is an odd number of Trustees, and when thete is an even mumber it should be
interpreted as a simple majority. In the case of the 1986 Trust, paragraph 13 of the
deed provides as follows:

“Any decision of the Trustees may be made by a majority of the
Trustees holding office as such at the time of such decision and no
dissenting or abstaining Trustee who acts in good faith shall be
personally liable for any loss or claim whatsoever arising out of any
acts or omissions which result from the exercise of any such discretion
or power, regardless whether such Trustee assists in the
irmplementation of the decision.”

Although, as described above, both Trust Deeds provide that the Trustees' decisions
may be made by a majority, this does not mean that decisions can properly be made
with the involvement of only a majority. In general, all Trustees must take part in the
decision-making process, even though ultimately the decision may be made by a
majority.

» Although trustees are not required to make decisions by any particular procedure, it is
important that they do have a procedure that enables decisions to be made effectively.

Delegation

In general, trustees cannot delegate to others the exercise of their discretionary powers. They
can, however, seek professional advice and they can appoint agents to implement their decisions.
In fact, when trustees do not have the expertise needed for the making of a particular decision,
they should obtain such advice.

Paragraph 8(c) of both Trust Deeds provides for the employment of professional advisors and
agents as follows by confirming power,

“to employ professional advisors and agents and to retain and act upon
the advice given by such professionals and to pay such professionals
such fees or other remuneration as the Trustees in their uncontrolled
discretion from time to time deem appropriate (and this provision shall
apply to the payments of professional fees to any Trustee who renders
professional services fo the Trustces)."

The Trustees must exercise care in tbe appointment of professional advisots and agents and in
monitoring their work appropriately.
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Duty of Care

In general, in administering a trust and its property, trustees are required to exercise the care,
skill and diligence of an ordinary prudent person. Two aspects of this should be noted, as
follows.

Control of Corporations

Whete trustees hold sufficient shares of a corporation to enable them to control that corporation,
their fundamental obligation is to exercise that control for the benefit of the trust, and in doing so
they must act in accordance with the standard of care referred to above, Ordinarily, this requires
that:

(1) the trustees obtain appropriate representation on the board of directors and, typically, this
will have the result that one or more of the trustees will be directors:

(2)  the trustees should obtain and review appropriate information about the corporation's
affairs; and

(3)  the trustees must exercise their powers as shareholders in order to fully protect the
interests of the trust.

The principal assets of the Trusts are the shares in and debt owed by Sawridge Holdings Ltd. and
352736 Alberta Ltd. and their various subsidiaries (the "Sawridge Corporations"). Until the re-
organization camied out in 2006, the same persons acted as Trustees of the Trusts and as
directors of Sawridge Corporations. Since then, the Trustees have elected qualified persons
whom they consider suitable to act as directors, and none of the Trustees has sat on the boards of
Sawridge Corporations. In the circumstances of the Trusts and the Sawridge Corporations, this
arrangement was considered to be the best method of dealing with the Sawridge Corporations.
There are two inter-related aspects to this arrangement. The first is that the Trustees will not
individually interfere in the respective roles of the directors and of management of the
corporations. The second is that the Trustees have sufficient information about the conduct of
the Sawridge Corporations so that they can properly monitor the activities of the corporations
and be able to make informed decisions about: their concerns and what should be communicated
by the Trustees' Chair to the Chair of the Boards of Directors; the election of the boards of
directors; and when it might be necessary — in unusual circwnstances — to take & position by
communication on a Chair-to-Chair basis regarding the management of the cotporations. The
[ollowing principles are applicable in this context:

(1) The Trustees shall be routinely provided with the same information as is provided by
management to directors.

(2)  The Trustees shall be routinely and promptly provided with the material received by
directors at directors' meetings, including agenda and minutes of meetings.

(3)  Generally, the directors will supply any other information requested by the Trustees'
Chair as collectively required by the Trustees.
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(4)  In order that the board of directors will not have concems about providing confidential
information, the Trustees receiving confidential information must respect the
confidentiality of the information. '

(5)  Communication between the Trustees and the directors will occur through the Trustees'
positions being expressed collectively and through the Trustees' Chair, However,
individual communications may occur at meetings of the Trustees as shareholders of the
corporation, including at annual shareholder meetings,

©) Trustees should not interfere with management, If any Trustee has any concern relating
to management, that concern should be brought o the attention of the other Trustees, and
if considered by the other Trustees to be sufficiently material the Trustees' concern can
then be communi¢ated through the Trustees' Chair to the directors.

Investment

Paragraph 7 of both Trust Deeds gives the Trustees power to invest the Trust Fund in any
investments authorized for trustees' investments by the Alberta Trusree Act, but the Trustees ate
not restricted to such investments and they may invest in any investment which they in their
discretion think fit.

In dealing with investments, trustees are required to act in accordance with the standard of care
described above. The Trusts were established in order to hold the Sawridge Corporations and the
businesses carried on by them, and the exetcise of the Trustees' investment responsibilities can
properly be considered in light of this. However, it is also important for the Trustees to have
regard to the principles generally applied, which are as follows:

» Trustees should, in selecting investments, perform an assessment of proposed
investments, evaluating both the safety of the capital invested and the potential return
from the investment, An assessment of risk, both of achieving the potential return
and risk to the safety of the capital investment, should be considered.

¢ Ordinarily, trustees should diversify the investments of the trust, having regard to the
requirements of the particular trust.

* The investment portfolio of the trust should be reviswed periodically as well as when
unusual changes affecting the portfolio occur.

e Trustees may obtain cxpert professional advice on evaluating and selecting
investments. Trustees may delegate authority to an agent with respect to the
investments, so long as the trustees exercise appropriate care in the selection of the
agent; the authority of the agent is clearly and appropriately restricted; and the
performance of the agent is appropriately monitored.

Duty to Keep and Render Accounts and to Provide other Information

Under the general law of trusts, trustees have an obligation to maintain proper accounts dealing
with the income and capital of the trust and, on request, to provide the accounts for the
inspection of beneficiaries. Paragraph 10 of both Trust Deeds provides as follows:
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"The Trustees shall keep accounts in an acceptable manner of all
receipts, disbursements, investments, and other transactions in the
administration of the Trust."

In addition to their right to inspect trust accounts, beneficiaries are also entitled to obtain
information about the trust and its administration and to inspect trust documents. This includes a
right to inspect legal opinions obtained by the trustees in their capacities as trustees, A recent
court decision indicates that, at least in some circumstaneces, beneficiaries do not have an
absolute entitlemnent to obtain trust information and documents but that the court has an

overriding ability to control such entitlement. Nevertheless, the Trustees should assume that |

beneficiaries will, generally, be able to assert a right to obtain trust information and documents.

It is not completely clear to what extent beneficiaries are entitled to information relating to
corporations, shares of which are directly or indirectly held in the Trust. It should be assumed
that the beneficiaries will be entitled to obtain all information and documents in the possession of
the Trustees as trustees or which the Trustees are entitled to obtain as trustees. This will likely
include any information or documents relating to any of the Sawridge Corporations, unless the
production of such information or documents involves a breach of confidence or otherwise
would be improper. Even in this situation, court controlled production of information or
documents may permit disclosure to be made in a controlled manner. As was stated in the recent
case referred to above:

"Especially when there are issues as to personal or commercial
confidentiality, the court may have to balance the competing interests
of different beneficiaries, the trustees themselves and third parties.
Disclosure may have to be limited and safeguards may have to be put
in place."

Tt is the orthodox position that trustees cannot be required to provide beneficiaries with the
reasons for their exercise of discretionary powers and, similarly, that documents expressing such
reasons can be withheld. However, the Trustees should not rely on this orthodox position and
should assume that their reasons for decisions (and the documents expressing them) will be
scrutinized by beneficiaries and, in the event of a dispute, by the court.

The law is unclear as to trustees' obligations to volunteer information about the trust. As stated
above, it is suggested that, at least when the Trustees have adopted a programme involving
selection among beneficiaries, the availability of the programme should be made known to the
beneficiaties,

Duty of Loyalty: Conflict of Interest and Duty

No Statutorv Code

Unlike corporate law, trust law provides no statutory code dealing with the fiduciary obligations
of trustees or, in particular, with conflict of interest and duty.
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General Principles

The overriding obligation of trustees is to act in the best interests of the beneficiaries, and to
prefer the interests of the beneficiaries over their personal interests. This is often described as
the duty of loyalty. There are two, overlapping, aspects of the duty of loyalty, First, a trustes
must not place himself in a position of conflict between his self-interest and his duty. Second, 2
trustee must not profit from his position as trustee. In general, a trustee who puts himself in a
position of conflict is liable to disgorge any of the gains made from so doing and is lisble for
losses to the trust flowing from. the breach of his trustes obligation. These general principles are
applied very strictly against trustees. Liability does not dapend on proof that the trustee in fact
abused his or her position and the [iability to disgorge gains does not require proof that the trust
suffered any loss. Also, the liability to disgorge gains extends to those obtained indirectly as
well as those obtained directly.

Remunheration as Trustees

The general principles dealing with conflict of interest and duty are subject to modification by
the terms of a particular trust. Paragraph 9 of each of the Trust Deeds provides for the Trustees
to receive reasonable fees for their services as trustees in the administration of the T Tusts.

Application of General Principles

Clear examples of conflict oceur if:

¢ atrustee makes use of trust property for his personal benefit;
* atrustee sells her own property to the trust;
® a trustee purchases property from the trust;

* a trusice establishes for herself personally a business competing directly with an
established business of the trust; and

* a trustee takes advantage of a "maturing business opportunity" of the trust. For example,
if trustees were negotiating to obtain some business opportunity for the trust, it would be
improper for a trustee to obtain such business apportunity for himself or herself,

It is not clear whether a trustee may obtain for himself a business opportunity obtained otherwise
than through his position as trustee in the circumstances that the business opportunity is of a type
that the trust has adopted a policy of attempting to obtain.

It is not clear to what extent and in what circumstances the conflict principles apply where a
benefit is obtained by the spouse or other close relative of the trustee, However, the Trustees
should assume that the conflict principle will be applied in respect of any benefit that may be
obtained indirectly by the Trustee, including where the benefit is obtained by the spouse or close
relative,
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Application of Principles Where Trustees are Also Beneficiaries

The application of the general principles discussed above gives rise to some difficulty when the
same persons are both trustees and beneficiaries since a conflict will often be inevitable in such
circumstances. Some conflict is inherent in the two Trusts. In particular, the 1985 Trust requires
that at least two Trustees be beneficiaries. Also, although it would be possible to have three
Trustees of the 1986 Trust who are non-beneficiaries, for tax reasons it is preferable to have the
same Trustees of the two Trusts.

As stated above, both of the Trusts give the Trustees a wide discretion to distribute income or
capital of the respective Trusts to one or more of the beneficiaries. Obviously, the Trustees may
be in a position of conflict — one created by the Trust arrangements and not one they have put
themselves into — in exercising their discretion in a way that might benefit themselves as
beneficiaries. This conflict is not acute if the policy is adopted of making distributions from the
Trusts that are of genetal benefit for the beneficiaries, for example, if a distribution of a
particular amount was distributed to each and every beneficiary or if funds were expended in
creating facilities or programs available for the general benefit of beneficiaries. However, the
conflict may be problematic if a policy is adopted involving the exercise of discretion 10 make
distributions — either by way of grant or by way of loan — to particular beneficiaries. There is an
obvious danger that the Trustees could be accused of acting improperly if their powers are used
to benefit one or more of their own number, particularly if applications for assistance are denjed
to other beneficiaries.

There are two possible ways in which the inherent conflict in which the Trustees may find
themselves can be managed. They are as follows:

¢)) One possibility would be for Trustees (and perhaps others closely connected to them,
such a3 spouse and other close relations) to be excluded from benefit from any programs
that involve choice among beneficiaries. However, this appears to be unfair to persons
who choose to take on the responsibility of being trustees and may be an inappropriate
disincentive. It must be remembered in this context that the terms of the trust instrument
clearly contemplate that not only may the same person be both a trustee and a beneficiary
but, particularly in the case of the 1985 Trust, it is required that some trustees must be
beneficiaries.

(2)  Another possibility is to permit trustees to benefit from programmes of the sort under
consideration but to manage the conflict arising from that by the use of arrangements
such as the typical provisions applicable to corporations. For example, section 120 of the
Canada Business Corporations Act contains a scheme applicable to directors under
which directors are required to disclose their interests when they have a personal interest
in a matter involving the corporation and they are then excluded from voting on any
resolution of the board of directors relating to such matter,

The second alternative is not perfect since trust law does not contain any provision or other rule

absolving a truslee from responsibility with regard to a decision affecting z matter in the
circumstances described in the second alternative. Nevertheless, in the special circumstances of
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the Sawridge Trusts this is the better of the two alternatives and should provide the most
appropriate method of minimizing the conflict to the extent reasonably possible.

Dealing with Conflict

Certain preliminary points should be emphasized. First, although a "working definition” of &
conflict will be set out below, and although there are situations in which it is e¢lear that there will
be an improper conflict, there will be many other situations in which it will not be possible to
determine with certainty whether it would be considered there was an Improper conflict. Second,
the relevant principles of trust law are typically applied strictly against trustees, Therefore, when
in doubt the safe course is for trustees to avoid acting in a way that could be characterized as
putting themselves into a position of conflict. This presumption in favour of caution is
particulatly applicable to the Trustees as the Trustees must be partienlarly careful not to attract
the criticism that they may be improperly taking advantage of their position as Trustees to
benefit themselves.

In order to deal with the management of conflicts, the following is a useful "working definition"
of a conflict:

There will be a conflict whenever a Trustes may obtain some benefit,
directly or indirectly, from his or her position as Trustee or when the
Trustee is in a position in which his ot her decision-making as Trustee
may potentially be influenced, directly or indirectly, by his or her
personal interests, It will be assumed that & Trustee may obtain such a
benefit if the benefit is obtained, not only by the Trustee, but also by
the spouse, parent, sibling or child of the Trustee. Similarly, it will be
assumed that a Trustee may be influenced if, not only the Trustee, but
also the sponse, parent, sibling or child of the Trustee may be affected
by the decision.

Not every conflict literally falling within this definition is necessaxily problematic. Where a
decision of the Trustees will benefit a group of beneficiaries that may include some or all of the
Trustees who are themselves beneficiaries, or other beneficiaries related to them, as long as there
is no ulterior purpose of conferring advantages on Trustess or their relatives under the guise of a
scheme purportedly for the benefit of a broader category of beneficiaries, the fact that Trustees or
their relatives may incidentally benefit should not preclude the Trustees from making such a
decision. As previously noted, the terms of the Trusts require some Trustees to be beneficiaries,
so that it cannot have been the intention that decisions of the Trustees be disinterested in the
sense of there being no possible interest of any Trustee in the administration of the Trusts,
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SCHEDULE B1
THE SAWRIDGE BAND INTER VIVOS SETTLEMENT

Resolution of Trustees: Process of Decision-Making

WHEREAS:

(D The Sawridge Band Inter Vivos Settlement (the "Trust") was settled by Chief Walter P,
Twinn on April 15, 1985.

(2) The undersigned, Bertha L'Hirondelle, Walter Felix Twinn, Roland Twinn, Catherine
Twinn and Clara Midbo, are the present Trustees of the Trust,

(3) Paragraph 13 of the Deed applying to the Trust provides that any decision of the Trustees
may be made by a majority of 50% of the Trustees.

(4)  The Trustees, subject to the provisions of the Trust, wish to regulate the manner of
making decisions by them as Trustees.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT:
. Chair of Trustee Meetings

(a) Ronald Ewoniak shall be invited to attend meetings of the Trustees and shall act
as chair (the "Chair") of such meetings, provided that the Trustees may terminate
such arrangement on reasonable notice to Ronald Ewoniak and shall from time fo
time appoint one of the Trustees or some other person to act as Chair.

2. Meetings of Trustees

(a) Subject to paragraph 3 below, all decisions of the Trustees shall be made at
meetings of the Trustees.

(b)  The Trustees shall meet at least once every quarter.

(c) The Chair shall be responsible for calling the regularly scheduled quarterly
meetings of the Trustees and additional meetings which may be called by the
Chair on 48 hours' notice to the Trustees.

(d) Meetings in addition to the regularly scheduled meetings may be called by the
Chair or any Trustee on 48 hours’ notice to the Chair (if not calling the meeting)
apnd to the other Trustees.

(e)  Notice may be given in writing, by e-mail, fax or telephone or in person.

H Any person may participate in a meeting by means of telephone, electronic or

other communication facility as permits all persons participating in the meeting to
communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously.
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(8) A majority of the Trustees shall constitute a quorum of Trustees.

(h) A reasonable time before each meeting, the Chair shall circulate to all Trustees an
agenda to which shall be attached all relevant documents for consideration by the
Trustees at the meeting.

(i) The Trustees present at a meeting shall appoint one of the Trustees or some other
person to act as the secretary of the meeting and to record the minutes of the
meeting, including decisions of the Trustees.

a. Resgolutions of Trustees

A decision of the Trustees may be also made by a resolution in writing signed by all of the
Trustees.

DATED this /52% dayof ] an wd?/fy , 2009.

Tl Getie Bhlin Felix T,

Berthd L'Hirondelle Walter Felix Twingf /=7
,/
= - () % QA /70 Inin
Roland Twinn Catherine Twinn
Lbans T Lo
Clara Midbo
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SCHEDULE B2

THE SAWRIDGE TRUST

Resolution of Trustees: Process of Decision-Making
WHEREAS:

(1) The Sawridge Trust (the "Trust") was settled by Chief Walter P. Twinn on August 15,
1586.

(2) The undersigned, Bertha L'Hirondelle, Walter Felix Twinn, Roland Twinn, Catherine
Twinn and Clara Midbo, are the present Trustees of the Trust,

3) Paragraph 13 of the Deed applying to the Trust provides that any decision of the Trustees
may be made by a majority of the Trustees holding office as such at the time of such
decision and no dissenting or abstaining Trustee who acts in good faith shall be
personally liable for any loss or clajims whatsoever arising out of any acts or omissions
which result from the exercise of any such discretion or powet, regardless whether such
Trustee assists in the implementation of the decision.

(4)  The Trustees, subject to the provisions of the Trust, wish to regulate the marmer of
making decisions by them as Trustees.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT:
1. Chair of Trustee Meetings

(@)  Ronald Ewoniak shall be invited to attend meetings of the Trustees and shall act
as chait (the "Chair") of such meetings, provided that the Trustees may terminate
such arrangement on reasonable notice to Renald Ewoniak and shall from time to
time appoint one of the Trustees or some other person to act as Chair.

2, Meetings of Trustees

(a)  Subject to paragraph 3 below, all decisions of the Trustees shall be made at
meetings of the Trustees.

(b)  The Trustees shall meet at least once every quarter.

(¢)  The Chair shall be responsible for calling the regularly scheduled quarterly
meetings of the Trustees and additional meetings which may be called by the
Chair on 48 hours' notice to the Trustees,

(d)  Meetings in addition to the regularly scheduled meetings may be called by the
Chair or any Trustee on 48 hours' natice to the Chair (if not calling the meeting)
and to the other Trustees.

© Notice may be given in writing, by e-mail, fax or telephone or in person.
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o Any person may participate in a meeting by means of telephone, electronic or
other communication facility as permits all persons participating in the meeting to
communicate with each other simultancously and instantaneously.

® A majority of the Trustees shall constitute a quorum of Trustees.

(h) A reasonable time before each meeting, the Chair shall circulate to all Trustees an
agenda to which shall be attached all relevant docwments for consideration by the
Trustees at the meeting.

) The Trustees present at a meeting shall appoint one of the Trustees or some other
person to act as the secretary of the meeting and to record the minutes of the
meeting, including decisions of the Trustees.

3. Resolutions of Trustees

A decision of the Trustees may be also made by a resolution in writing signed by all of the

Trustees. C./.,,(’?’
— /
DATED this Hﬁ\day of Jgnua /ﬂ : 23{2?, , Chr

did

4/ Bertha L'Hirondelle Walter Felix Twing Wi=7

— ﬂ@/%@w,@ hn

Roland Twinn Catherine Twinn
ftandd Vs
ol g 48 P e gl ter)
4 Clara Midbo
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EDMONTON

IN THE MATTER OF THE TRUSTEE ACT,

R.S.A. 2000, c. T-8, AS AMENDED

IN THE MATTER OF THE SAWRIDGE BAND&:
INTER VIVOS SETTLEMENT and THE ‘

SAWRIDGE TRUST (“Sawridge Trusts”)

¢
[

ROLAND TWINN,

WALTER FELIX TWIN,
BERTHA L'HIRONDELLE, and
CLARA MIDBO,

EVERETT JUSTIN TWIN, as Trustees for the
Sawridge Trusts

CATHERINE TWINN

AFFIDAVIT OF PAUL BUJOLD

Bryan & Compay LLP
2600 Manulife Place
10180 - 101 Street
Edmonton, AB T5J 3V5

Attention: Nancy Cumming
Telephone: (780) 420-4733
Fax: (780) 428-6324

I, Paul Bujold, of Edmonton, Alberta, make oath and say that:

1. | am the Chief Executive Officer of the 1985 Sawridge Trust and as such have personal

knowledge of the matters hereinafter deposed to unless stated to be based upon

information and belief, in which case | verily believe the same to be true.

2. | have reviewed the affidavit of Catherine Twinn (“Catherine”) filed September 30, 2015

(the “September 30 Affidavit”) and wish to provide by this affidavit my response to the
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evidence provided in the September 30, affidavit. | also wish to respond to other
evidence provided by Catherine in the course of litigation in the 1103 14112 (“1103”) and
1403 04885 (“1403”) actions.

History of the trusts

| have provided the history of the Sawridge 1985 Trust and the 1986 Trusts in my
affidavits filed in action 1103. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “A” are such
affidavits.

In both the 1985 Trust Deed and the 1986 Trust Deed, the Trustees are {o make
decisions by majority. This is set out in paragraph 13 of both Trust Deeds (Exhibit “A”).

Code of Conduct

A Code of Conduct was instituted by the Trustees {o govern both the 1985 and 1986
Trusts. The Code of Conduct sets a procedure for the resolution of disputes and
provides guidance for behaviour of the Trustees. The Code of Conduct says that
majority decision governs in Schedules A, B1 and B 2. The Code of Conduct is attached
hereto at Exhibit “B”.

Paragraph 5 (f) of the Code of Conduct reads as follows:

Where possible, Trustees should work towards unanimous agreement; where
unanimous agreement is not possible, Trusiees shall try to come to a consensus;
where neither of these is possible Trustees shall reach decisions by simple
majority. In all cases, once a decision is made by the Trustees it should be

respected and followed by all.

Value of the Trusts

7.

In respect of paragraph 3 of the September 30 Affidavit, | disagree with Catherine’s
assessment of the value of the 1985 and 1986 Trusts. Based on information that | have
received from the companies, | believe that the value of the two Trusts was
approximately $140 million in 2015. The Trusts’ assets are heavily dependent on the oil

and gas industry and have been negatively affected by the present economic downturn

26088087_2|NATDOCS



-3-

and the reduction in oil and gas activity. The Trusts have few liquid assets that are not

earmarked for reinvestment in the Trusts’ assets.

Composition of Family Groups

8.

In respect of paragraph 5 of the September 30 Affidavit, | agree with the composition of
the family groups, however, only one descendant is a minor. The descendants are as

follows:
(a) 32 Twin(n) descendants;
(b) 8 Potskin descendants; and

(c) 5 Ward descendants.

Definition of beneficiary

9.

In respect of paragraph 6 of the September 30 Affidavit, the Trustees have not
determined their position about amending the definition of “beneficiary” of the 1985 Trust
because the Trustees have sought the direction of the Court. The Trustees have taken

the following steps in resolving this definition:

(a) They were advised by their legal advisors that the current definition of beneficiary
in the 1985 Trust is discriminatory;

(b) The Trust Deed prohibits amendment of the definition of beneficiaries. Thus it
was necessary to seek the direction of the Court on whether the definition is
discriminatory and seek the Court’s direction on how to remedy the

discriminatory provisions;

(c) It was appealing to the Trustees to request the Court to change the definition to
the “members” of the Sawridge First Nation (“SFN”) as they understood from
many sources that the intention of the settlor of the Trust was that the trust funds
were for the benefit of the members. The 1982 Trust defined beneficiaries as
members as does the 1986 Trust;
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(d) Some thought was given to having the Trustees determine membership but the
Trustees were advised that they have no legal authority to be involved in the
determination of the membership of individuals in SFN;

(e) Catherine makes reference to requiring a process for the determination of the
beneficiaries but no process would be necessary to determine the 1985 Trust

beneficiaries if the definition is changed to “members”.

Elected Officials as Trustees

10. In respect of paragraph 9 of the September 30 Affidavit, there is only one Trustee who is
an elected official, the Chief of SFN, Roland Twinn. The Trustees as of January 31,
2017 are:

(a) Catherine Twinn (“Catherine”)

(b) Bertha L’'Hirondelle (“Bertha”);

(c) Roland Twinn (Chief of the Nation) (“Roland”);
(d) Justin Twin (“Justin”); and

(e) Margaret Ward (“Margaret”).

1. A review of the history of the Trusts shows that the Chief has always been a Trustee.
Catherine was appointed by her husband, Chief Walter Twinn, who was then the Chief
and a Trustee. Chief Walter Twinn continued to include elected officials as trustees until
his death. Following the death of Chief Walter Twinn, Catherine appointed Bertha as a
Trustee when Bertha became Chief and Catherine appointed Roland, a Band Councillor,
who later became Chief of SFN. This is a small community and thus, the Chief knows
the needs of its members and as the Trusts provide for the members of SFN, it is
important for the Chief to be involved in the Trusts as a Trustee.

12. It is useful to have an elected official who can report on the needs of SFN to the
Trustees. The Chief being a Trustee is in keeping with the long tradition of the Trusts in
which Chief Walter was a Trustee until his death.
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Catherine suggests that it is a conflict to have elected officials as Trustees. However, it

was the settlor of the Trusts who set the provisions in the Trusts in respect of who

should be Trustees. The Settlor did not prohibit elected officials as trustees. He set the

standard and the practice of having elected officials involved in the Trusts.

Further:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

For many years, the Trustees of the 1985 Trusts were: Bertha and Clara (Chief
Walter’s sisters), Catherine (his widow), Roland (his son) and Walter Felix (his
cousin). Catherine would have been involved in appointing all of these
individuals. Catherine took no steps to change the long established practice of
appointing elected officials as Trustees.

The original Trustees of the 1986 Trust were Catherine, Chief Walter Twinn, and
his brother George Twin (Trustee until his death 8 August 1997). Catherine did

not object. George was also an elected official.

The original Trustees of the 1985 Trust were Chief Walter Twinn and his brothers
George and Samuel (Trustee until 28 June 1986). George was also an elected
official during his time as a Trustee. Catherine was appointed in 1986 after
Samuel died. Catherine was appointed along with Chief Walter Twinn’s cousins
Walter Felix Twin, a Band Councillor (Trustee until 2014) and Chester Twinn
(Trustee until his death 22 January 1996). | have not seen any records which
would suggest Catherine objected to the elected officials being appointed as
Trustees.

SFN has a small population. As a result, it is hard to find people to take on roles.
Thus, suggesting that those who are elected in any position including the position
of elder cannot be a Trustee removes a large number of eligible qualified

candidates from acting as Trustees.

Independent Trustees

15.

| understand that Catherine now believes that the Trusts should change to have an

independent Board of Trustees partially on the basis that such is the current trend in

First Nation trusts. It is true that some First Nation trusts have independent trustees.
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However, that is not universally true. | have learned that some First Nation leaders and
trust experts indicate that complete independence may lead to the needs of the First
Nation not being understood or met when the First Nation members are not involved in
the Trusts. | attended a conference on First Nations trusts (National Aboriginal Trust
Officers Association Conference), during which the speakers emphasized that it was
important that the First Nation should not give up control and that the First Nation
needed to keep a connection to the Trust. Severing that connection was not
recommended.

There is no historical support for this position. The initial Trustees were members of
SFN. The 1982 Trust had only elected members of SFN and thus the tradition is for

members of or people connected with SFN to be appointed as Trustees.

| am advised by the Chief that there does not appear to be any support from the
community for independent Trustees.

In respect of paragraph 11 of the September 30 Affidavit, prior to 1982, some assets
were not necessarily held under trust deeds. At various times, assets were held
individually in a bare trust by the lawyers for SFN and the Chief and other Band
Councillors. This was the case especially when SFN was not considered a legal entity.

In respect of paragraph 12 of the September 30 Affidavit, Chief Walter Twinn was fhe
settlor of the Trusts. However, he was not necessarily the settlor of the Trusts due to his
position as Chief. As the Chief he would have had a direction from SFN Council on
disbursement of funds. Funds from SFN were transferred to Chief Walter Twinn to hold
in trust. The Funds were then transferred to the Trusts.

To have Trustees who are entirely independent of SFN would require an amendment of
the Trust Deeds which requires the agreement of 80% of the beneficiaries. The
Trustees believe that the beneficiaries do not want the Trusts to be run by outside
Trustees who are not part of the community. As far as | know, Catherine has not
undertaken any public attempt to obtain 80% agreement from the beneficiaries for an
amendment to the Trusts.
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Resignation of Walter Felix Twin (“Walter Felix”) and Appointment of Justin Twin

21. In respect of paragraph 15 of the September 30 Affidavit, prior to Walter Felix’s
resignation, the Trustees were aware that Walter Felix was experiencing health
problems and had difficulties continuing in his role as a Trustee. His resignation was
expected among the Trustees, including Catherine. Catherine approached Brian
Heidecker (the “Chair”) and me 6 months before Walter Felix’s resignation to ask if we
could find a way to get Walter Felix to resign because she had concerns about Walter
Felix’s health and mental aptitude. She also knew that Walter Felix had had surgery to
install a shunt to allow blood to flow to his brain since his carotid arteries were partially
blocked.

22. Catherine says that she was not aware that Walter was planning to resign. She asked if
we could postpone his resignation so she could bring other names forward as proposed

replacement Trustee. She was basically asking to retain an incapable Trustee.

23. Catherine received notice of Walter Felix Twin’s resignation at the same time that the
other Trustees did. These other Trustees did not ask for extra time to bring forward

names.

24. In respect of paragraph 16 of the September 30 Affidavit, documents in relation to the
appointment of a new Trustee were sent out in advance to all the Trustees. Attached as
Exhibit “C” is my email to Catherine dated January 8, 2014. At the meeting of the
Trustees on January 21, 2014, no original motions were prepared in advance. Rather
the following occurred:

(a) Some preliminary work had been completed by Brian Heidecker (the “Chair”), the
other Trustees and me in advance of the meeting to look for a replacement, as
Walter Felix had been experiencing difficulty acting as a Trustee. His resignation
was imminent and known to everyone. The issue of Trustee succession was a

topic that had been discussed at previous Trustee meetings.

(b) At the January 21, 2014 meeting the Trustees discussed the resignation and
proposed Justin Twinn as a replacement. The Trustees felt that Justin was well

qualified as he was considered to be a competent SFN councillor, he lived on the
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reserve, was well liked and had business experience. He was enrolled in

management training courses.

(c) At the January 21, 2014 meeting, all of the motions were drafted on a computer
with input from all the Trustees in real time. For motions of importance, we use a
system in which a draft motion is projected on a screen so that the Trustees can
actually see the motion, and make any necessary amendments before voting on
it. The motion to accept the resignation of Walter Felix and the motion to appoint
a replacement Trustee were typed by me under the direction of the Trustees and
displayed on the screen during the meeting. Prior notice is seldom given to the
Trustees of motions that may be considered at meetings unless the motion

requires specific legal wording and is drafted by the Trusts’ lawyers.

(d) There was some urgency to appoint a replacement for Walter Felix Twin because
of a pending commercial transaction involving the 1985 Trust that would have
required dealing with the assets of the 1985 Trust. The 1985 Trust requires there
to be 5 trustees. This was explained to all the Trustees. Three of the four
remaining Trustees understood the need for the immediate appointment of a

replacement trustee.

(e) Catherine was not prepared to vote in favor of Justin. She wanted a drawn-out
selection process. The Trustees advised Catherine that they would consider the
process in the future but that they needed to appoint someone immediately to
have a valid number of 5 Trustees and would work on the process at a later
meeting. The other Trustees were prepared to discuss succession and
Catherine’s proposal but were not prepared to entertain the idea of developing a
succession plan at the last minute. Trustees had been working on a succession
plan for some time but had not yet agreed on a process. In any event, a Trustee

needed to be elected at this meeting.

(f) Catherine’s initial argument opposing the appointment of Justin at the January
21, 2014 Trustee meeting was that he was, at the time, an elected official and
that his appointment had not received the unanimous consent of the remaining

Trustees.
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At the February 25, 2014 meeting, Catherine argued that she should be given the
opportunity to first meet in private with Justin before giving her consent to his
appointment and sign the transfer of asset documents. Because of the urgency,
Catherine was given until March 3, 2014 to meet with Justin.

Justin has advised me that during his meeting with Catherine, she indicated that she felt
that Justin was not a legitimate member of SFN and not a beneficiary to the 1985 Trust
and therefore he could not be appointed as a Trustee because the replacement Trustee
needed to be a beneficiary of both Trusts. | obtained information from the Band
Administrator that Justin was a member of SFN at the time of his birth and was therefore
both a member of SFN and a beneficiary of both Trusts. Bertha and Roland, who know
Justin and his family very well, both agreed that Justin was a proper member of SFN and
also a beneficiary.

The Trust Deeds only require majority vote to appoint a new trustee and the Trustees
voted by majority vote to appoint Justin. Catherine neither opposed nor abstained from
the motion. She refused to sign the motion to appoint Justin and refused to sign the
motion to transfer the assets from the current Trustees to the new set of Trustees. The
Trustees hold the assets of the Trusts jointly. As a result, when a new Trustee is
appointed, the Trust assets must be transferred from the old Trustees to the new

Trustees.

The Trustees had received an opinion that even if a Trustee voted against a motion, the
dissenting Trustee could still sign legal documents relating to the motion to transfer
assets. There would be no liability in doing so. Catherine refused to sign the documents
to appoint Justin and refused to sign the documents to transfer the assets from the old
set of Trustees fo the new set of Trustees. As a result, the Trustees were forced to
proceed with a Court application to seek an Order to transfer the assets to the new

Trustees.

Catherine has suggested that she was prepared to sign the transfer of assets but her
actions do not suggest that is true. In the first appearance in Court, Catherine asked for
the application to be adjourned so that she could seek legal counsel. In the next Court
appearance, there was a direction to have the assets transferred. In addition, the
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Trustees agreed fo allow Catherine to proceed with an action to attempt to set aside the

appointment of Justin. All of this could have been agreed {o without a Court Application.

In respect of this Court'application, Catherine was not directed by the Court to sign the
transfer. The Court directed the transfer to occur. Attached and marked as Exhibit “D”
is the transcript of the hearing, the Application, Affidavit and the Court Order in respect
of the hearing.

Attached hereto as Exhibit “E” and Exhibit “F” are the Minutes of the January 21, 2014
Trustee meeting and the February 25, 2014 Trustee meeting.

Catherine says that she was taken aback by Justin’s appointment and taken aback by
the legal document to transfer assets. However, the Trustee meeting took place in
January 2014 and the Court application took place in April 2014. She had ample time to
sign the transfer document. She refused to do so. Finally, when a pending commercial
transaction became an emergency, the Trustees were forced to go to Court and even in

Court, Catherine would not agree. This Court application was at great cost to the Trusts.

Catherine had not, in the past, opposed Justin’s membership in SFN nor his being
member of SFN Council during the entire time he was on SFN Council. Catherine had
the same documents given to all Trustees in advance of the January 21, 2014 meeting.
They were not presented for the first time at the meeting as she suggests. Catherine did
not call me, the Chair or any of the other Trustees to ask any questions prior to the
meeting. She suggests the decision to appoint Justin was predetermined. This is not
true.

There was a good discussion by the Trustees at the meeting in regards to replacing
Walter Felix. In the deed of appointment there was no name inserted. It had to be

determined at the January 21, 2014 meeting.

Catherine says that in relation to the January 21, 2014 meeting, she was unable to fully
participate and Brian tried to compel her to sign. This is not true. The Trustees only
needed a majority to appoint Justin. It was the asset transfer that required signatures of
all the Trustees. Catherine was uncooperative. She attacked Justin. She attacked his
membership which is not an appropriate thing to do in SFN. She failed to abide by the

Code of Conduct to respect decisions made by a majority of Trustees.
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From January to Aprii, 2014, Catherine refused to sign the deed to transfer the assets.
in the meeting of April 15, 2014 the business proposal was put forward and the urgency
of the asset transfer was again reiterated and still Catherine refused to sign the transfer

documents. The following is an extract of the Minutes of the April 15, 2014 meeting:

Extract from the 15 April 2014 meeting:
Company Issues and Chair’s Report

Brian presented the Company’s proposal to invest in property
development and to set up a new partnership to manage this
venture along with the Telford Lake developments (See attached
Appendices). He pointed out that having the Trustees approve
these proposals required that the asset transfer be completed. He
asked Catherine if she would be willing to sign the Deeds at this
time. Catherine indicated that she was not prepared to sign the
Deeds at this time. Brian indicated that there was some time
urgency to these proposals and that the question of the asset
transfer could not be dragged out into June.

Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “G” are the Minutes of the April 15, 2014

meeting.

Catherine has stated that she refused to sign the deed of transfer because she said it
had not been done before. However, the Trustees received legal advice that this had to
be done but Catherine refused to listen to this advice.

Justin’s Eligibility

39.

In respect of paragraph 19 of the September 30 Affidavit, Catherine did not raise any
concerns regarding Justin Twin's eligibility as a legitimate 1985 Trust beneficiary and as
a SFN member, until her private meeting with Justin immediately prior to March 3, 2014.
Catherine never raised this question with the Trustees prior to that date. In response to
Catherine’s concern, the Trustees undertook research in order to ascertain Justin’s
status. Michael McKinney, Barrister and Solicitor and the Sawridge First Nation's
Executive Director, provided a letter outlining Justin’s membership status. This letter is

attached as Exhibit “H”. The following summarizes the information about Justin’s status:
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(a) Justin made an inquiry with Indian and Northern Affairs Canada regarding his
status in SFN. In response to his inquiry, a letter was received from the
Superintendent of Indian Affairs stating that Justin was a legal member of SFN
and had been since his birth on September 23, 1982 and that his name had been
on the list of members transferred to SFN in October 1985. This letter is attached
as Exhibit “I”;

(b) The information regarding Justin’s membership was not the subject of a vote by
SFN Council. Justin was put on SFN membership list by Indian and Northern

Affairs Canada and there was no protest; and

(c) No person has been removed from SFN membership list after being put on the

list.

In respect of paragraph 20 of the September 30 Affidavit, the Trustees relied on
information from Michael McKinney and from Indian and Northern Affairs Canada
regarding Justin’s membership status and thus his eligibility to be a beneficiary of the
1985 Trust.

Catherine did not accept the information provided by Michael McKinney and instead
incurred the cost of obtaining her own “expert”, Larry Gilbert, on the status of Justin.
She is now seeking o have the Trusts pay for those costs. To date, Catherine refuses
to provide the underlying evidence relied upon by Mr. Gilbert to form his opinion. The

opinion contains a number of flaws.

I have the following concerns regarding Exhibit “B” of the September 30 Affidavit, the
opinion of Mr. Gilbert:

(a) Mr. Gilbert states that he was asked to provide a lega! opinion without the benefit
of any records and thus bases his opinion on speculation.

(b) He misinterprets paragraph 6 of the Trust Deed as suggesting that illegitimate
children of female members are not entitled to benefits. The Trust Deed states
that the Trustees can choose not to give them a benefit, not that they are not
entitled to benefits.
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(c) He concludes that Chief and Council decided Justin was entitled to be a
beneficiary, declared him a beneficiary and then appointed him as a Trustee.
This is incorrect. The Chief and Council do not have the authority to decide if
Justin is a beneficiary, nor do they have the authority to appoint him as a
Trustee.

(d) His conclusion that Justin cannot be a Trustee is flawed because Justin could be

a Trustee who is either a beneficiary or a non-beneficiary of the Trusts.

(e) | am advised by Mr. McKinney that Mr. Gilbert’s opinion suggests Indian Affairs
presumed that the father of an illegitimate child of a female Indian was a non-
Indian, and therefore would not register the child without evidence of paternity.
Mr. McKinney believes that this assumption is not correct. SFN has several
instances in which paternity was not acknowledged and the illegitimate child was
registered with SFN. Mr. McKinney states that if there is any uncertainty about
Justin’s paternity, Justin would be saved by the Indian Act of 1985 (after Bill C-
31). In Section 11(1)(a) it states that a person is entitled to be on a Band List if
the name of that person was entered on the Band List immediately prior to April
17, 1985. SFN took the Band List maintained by the department as the starting
point and Justin was on that list. Justin is likely also saved by section 7 and 9 of
the previous Indian Act. Section 7 gave the Registrar power to add names and
Section 9 allowed for an appeal of the added name but within a very short time
frame. In one case (involving Samson Cree Nation) the Court disallowed
protests that were commenced out of time and declared that the protested
persons were entitled to be placed on the Band List despite the fact that they
may not have been originally entitled to be placed on the Band List.

H | am advised by Roland that once someone is a member and is on the
membership list, SFN accepts them and SFN does not attack its members. The
community is viewed as a family. It is huriful and disrespectful of Catherine to
attack the membership rights of a member on the Band List. Roland describes it

as suggesting that you could kick someone out of your family.

(@) Since the 1985 Trust is based on the previous Indian Act as at 1982, and the
Indian Act in 1982 was interpreted in a way that did not permit correction of
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alleged errors after the protest period, it is unlikely that a protest or correction
now would be permitted.

(h) Gilbert was of the opinion that Justin would not have qualified as a Trustee of the
1985 Trust since there were already two non-beneficiary Trustees. Gilbert does
not address the fact that this situation would have been corrected by the death of
Clara Midbo (“Clara”) on July 13, 2014, after which Justin would have qualified in

any case as a non-beneficiary Trustee.

Q) Mr. Gilbert does not address the fact that his opinion only relates to the 1985
Trust and not the 1986 Trust, as the 1986 Trust can have more than two non-

beneficiaries as Trustees.

43. Itis clear that Mr. Gilbert was given flawed information in terms of forming his opinion

and thus has given a flawed opinion.

44, Catherine says that Dentons Canada LLP prepared a letter of opinion on the eligibility of

Justin. There is no such letter.

Appointment of Margaret Ward

45. In respect of paragraph 22 of the September 30 Affidavit, Catherine suggests that the
Trustees had knowledge of Clara’s death that they did not share with Catherine. Clara’s
death was unexpected. Clara was in attendance at the June 10, 2014 Trustee meeting
and she did not address her health. She passed away on July 13, 2014, following a brief

hospital stay.

46. It was a complete surprise to everyone that Clara died. She had advised that she wasiill
but she did not say that her death was imminent. This is another example of Catherine
thinking that “everyone is out to get her” and making Clara’s death about her. Clara’s
death was sudden. The Trustees had to take immediate action to deal with her

replacement.

47. In respect of paragraph 24 of the September 30 Affidavit, | received an email from
Catherine and responded by telephone. | advised Catherine that no candidates had

been proposed yet and that that this would be done at the Trustees’ August 12, 2014
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meeting in the same manner as Justin’s appointment. | advised her that names would

be put forward at the meeting just as had occurred at Justin’s appointment.

Given the problems raised by Catherine in respect of the appointment of Justin, | thought
that the Trustees may want to consider appointing a beneficiary as a Trustee. Clara was
not a beneficiary of the 1985 Trust. Justin’s beneficiary status was being challenged by
Catherine and thus, if Clara was replaced with a beneficiary, the Trustees would have a

Trustee board in which it would not matter whether Justin was a beneficiary or not.

On July 22, 2014, | provided a package to the Trustees, in preparation for the August,
2014 Meeting. Attached as Exhibit “J” is the July 22, 2014 email and attachments.

At the August 12, 2014 Meeting, the Trustees chose to appoint Margaret Ward
(“Margaret”), citing that she had once been a frustee-in-training, and that she was a
beneficiary of both the 1985 and 1986 Trusts. Her résumé shows she is very qualified.

Her résumeé is attached hereto as Exhibit “K”.

In respect of paragraph 25 of the September 30 Affidavit, at the August 12, 2014
Meeting, Catherine provided a proposal to appoint independent, outside trustees, with
no advance warning of such a proposal being provided. At the same time, Catherine
also provided the names of two people who she proposed as replacement Trustees.
The individuals were not SFN members or beneficiaries of either Trust, did not live in
Alberta and of whom she had little knowledge. The following occurred at the August 12,
2014 Meeting:

(a) There was a discussion about the need to appoint a replacement for Clara;

(b) The Trustees listened to Catherine present her proposal and said that it was
difficult to consider because she had not provided her proposal in advance of the
meeting. Roland stated that, in his view, the beneficiaries may not be open to
outsiders being appointed as Trustees. He mentioned the sale of the Slave Lake
Hotel by the Directors as an example of how the members felt betrayed by
outside directors. The Trustees offered to consider Catherine’s proposal for an
independent board of Trustees at the October Trustee meeting;

26088087_2|NATDOCS



(c)

(d)

(®)

(9)

(h)

-16 -

| observed that the Trustees were respectful of Catherine and her proposal and
wished to have harmony and thus offered to discuss her proposal for succession

at a future meeting;

The Trustees asked Catherine to participate in proceeding with the appointment
of a Trustee to replace Clara in order to ensure that five Trustees were appointed
as required by the 1985 Trust Deed. Catherine refused to participate in a
process to replace Clara unless the Trustees appointed one of the people that
Catherine suggested. All of the Trustees knew Margaret Ward. None of the
Trustees knew the two people suggested by Catherine, including Catherine;

The 1985 Trust Deeds do not permit a Board of Trustees with less than five
members therefore, failing to elect a Trustee would not allow the Trustees to

carry on the business of the 1985 Trust;

Catherine also refused to sign the necessary transfer of assets from the 'old'
group of Trustees to the 'new' group of Trustees. The Chair pleaded with
Catherine to sign the transfer of assets to avoid Court costs. Catherine had
previously objected to appointing Justin because she thought he was incapable
of sitting as a beneficiary Trustee. There was no such impediment to appointing
Margaret, as she was undisputedly a beneficiary of both Trusts. Yet Catherine
would not approve Margaret as a Trustee, nor would she sign the transfer of

assets;

As a result of Catherine’s refusal to sign, the other Trustees were forced to bring
another Court application to have the assets transferred. After the application
involving Justin was successful, it was difficult to have Catherine once again
force the Trustees to take a matier to court. Catherine is a lawyer and would

know the value of a Court precedent. This was a waste of Trust resources;

The Minutes of the August 12, 2014 Meeting are attached as Exhibit “L". The
transcript and the resulting Court Order are attached as Exhibit “M”. Also
attached are the Application and Affidavit filed in support of the application as
Exhibit “N”.
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Catherine says that the Trustees and | told Margaret not to speak to Catherine. This is
not true. | have spoken to Margaret and she also denies this. | did not tell Margaret not
to speak to Catherine. | have asked the Trustees and they did not tell Margaret not to
speak to Catherine. Margaret was told about Catherine’s meeting with Justin and how
that meeting caused confusion in Justin’s mind. She was told that the choice was hers to
make regarding a meeting with Catherine and that she could bring any questions arising
out of any such meeting to the Trustees or the Administrator.

Catherine says that she does not know if the Trustees knew Margaret because
Catherine’s use of the word “know” is different than anyone else’s. The Trustees were
familiar with Margaret. She has been a SFN member for a long time. She has been
involved in the Indigenous community. To a certain extent she was involved in SFN. Her
studies and professional practice in Native communities is well known, including by

Catherine.

When | was first hired, Catherine told me to contact Margaret, as Margaret had done
some research on Indigenous education for the Trustees and written a paper. She was
aware that Margaret had extensive experience in Indigenous education and that she had
a PhD in that field. She was a Trustee-in-Training and therefore sat at the Trustee table
with Catherine for two years.

In respect of paragraph 28 of the September 30 Affidavit, the Trustees, including
Catherine, had learned of Margaret's relevant experience. The Trustees determined her
appointment to be in the best interests of the Trusts:

(a) In 2004 there was a selection process for “Trustees-in-Training” initiated by
Catherine and approved by all the Trustees. Four candidates were considered:
Justin, David Midbo, Deana Morton and Margaret. After a long selection
process, the two chosen candidates were Deana Morton and Margaret.

(b) All of the other Trustees were aware of Margaret's background, in addition to the
fact that Margaret is also a beneficiary for both the 1985 and 1986 Trusts; and

(c) The Trustees considered what Catherine presented and offered to discuss it
another day. When Catherine refused to postpone her proposal to a future
meeting, the Trustees rejected the proposal. The Trustees also knew that
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appointing Margaret fixed any potential problem with Justin as it no longer
mattered if he was a beneficiary. Margaret was a beneficiary of both Trusts.
Bertha could be the non-beneficiary Trustee of the 1985 Trust. Justin could sit as

a beneficiary or non-beneficiary of the 1985 Trust.

Reappointment of Justin and Margaret and Ratification

56.

At the December 21, 2016 meeting of the Trustees, the Trustees appointed Justin for a
second three-year-term and also appointed Margaret for a second three-year-term. The
Trustee board is properly constituted. The Trustees have four beneficiaries of the 1985
Trust as Trustees. Even if it was determined that Justin was not a beneficiary of the
1985 Trust, the Trust would have the required three beneficiaries. In an abundance of
caution, the Trustees also ratified all decisions made after Justin was appointed until
Margaret was appointed, to ensure that all the decisions were properly made. The
Minutes of the December 21, 2016 meeting are attached as Exhibit “O”. Catherine voted

against the Motions.

Majority Rules Decision Making

57.

58.

59.

On August 25, 2005, the Trustees decided that all of their decisions would be by majority
rule in conformity with the Trust Deeds. There was no mention of consensus or
decisions by unanimous approval, inciuding from Catherine. There were no other
discussions about consensus in the August, 2005 Minutes. Attached and marked as
Exhibit “P” to this my affidavit are the Minutes from the August 25, 2005 meeting of
Trustees. Both Trust Deeds clearly state that decisions will be made by majority vote.
See paragraph 13 of the 1985 and 1986 Trust deeds. The Trustees have never had a

practice of consensus or unanimity to arrive at decisions.

In respect of paragraph 18 and Exhibit “A” of the September 30 Affidavit, Exhibit “A” was
a draft of notes for a planning document that was never approved by the Trustees and
was instead only a step in the long-term planning process, which included the

succession plan mentioned above.

Catherine suggests that the tradition for the Trusts is for consensus to be the method by

which decisions are made. However, the Trusts were drafted by the Settlor and state
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that a majority decision governs. The Code of Conduct says that majority decision
governs in Schedules A, B1 and B 2. It seems Catherine accepted this until she started

to not get her way. She then created this concept of a tradition of consensus.

Maurice Cullity of Davies, Ward and Beck (now Davies Ward Phillips and Vineberg)
drafted the 1985 and the 1986 Trust Deeds as well as the 1982 Trust Deed and its

‘amendment’, the 1983 Trust Deed. He was a well known accomplished trust lawyer.

In the September 30, 2014 affidavit, Exhibit “A” to the affidavit is a flip chart. This is just
a method of recording discussion. Any decision from this flip chart would have been
recorded as a proper motion if it was approved. The flip charts were not approved and
really became the agenda of a planning meeting. They were meant to record free

flowing information and exchange of ideas.

Catherine produced a “consensus document” to the Trustees. Catherine did not give the
Trustees a chance to review the document or properly consider it. Catherine is prone to
springing ideas or concepts on the Trustees without prior notice and if they do not
immediately agree with her, she becomes upset, loses patience, and refuses to give the
other Trustees time to consider any concept. She simply refuses to work through things.
She expects the Trustees to just agree with her. When she did not bring the consensus
document back for reconsideration, the matter was dropped.

Concerns Related to Political Interference

63.

In respect of paragraph 29 of the September 30 Affidavit, | believe that Catherine’s

concerns about political interference are unfounded for the following reasons:

(a) Chief Walter Twinn was the settlor of the Trusts and was also the elected Chief.
Until his death, he held a Trustee position. During his tenure as a Trustee, he
appointed other elected Councillors as Trustees. Catherine was appointed a
Trustee in 1986. She was present and approved the appointment of elected
officials and did not take any action to suggest there was political interference
until her Court action in 2014;
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| have not been aware of any political or personal agendas relating to the Trusts
and | am unaware of any payments related to political or personal agendas.
Payments have been made from the 1985 Trust for tax purposes;

Catherine held an appointed position on the membership committee of SFN. As
a member of the Committee she could have recommended admission of
members, and thus of beneficiaries. She never suggested that this created a
conflict with her role as a Trustee of the Trusts. She has been a Trustee longer
than any other Trustee. Prior to the present matter, the Trustees advise me that
they do not recall Catherine ever discussing any such conflicts or issues of

political interference with the Trustees.

Ascertaining the Beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust

64.

In respect of paragraph 29(a) of the September 30 Affidavit, the issue of ascertaining the
beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust has been an on-going issue faced by the Trustees since

at least 2009 when | was hired. The legal advice that the Trustees received on a number

of occasions indicated that it would be wise to seek the advice and direction of the Court

on the matter, or face possible future lawsuits by those who were not identified as

beneficiaries by the Trustees, or face lawsuits on the basis that people were excluded on

the basis of the 1985 Trust being discriminatory. The Trustees have been involved in

the following steps in ascertaining the beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust:

(a)

In November 2009, | made a presentation to the Trustees respecting the
approval of a list of beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust provided to me by Catherine.
The Trustees decided that they could not certify the list until further actions were
taken. They believed that they should ask anyone who felt they had an interest
in the 1985 Trust to come forward. The Trustees embarked on a process
involving advertising for potential beneficiaries to come forward. The advertising
was placed in all known weekly local newspapers and the major daily
newspapers in Alberta, British Columbia, and Northwest Territories, and resulted
in approximately 149 responses. Many of the responses came from individuals
who would not be beneficiaries as they had enfranchised or were members of a

family who had enfranchised;
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(b) Catherine proposed that the Trustees establish a process to determine the
beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust and proposed appointing a tribunal to determine
the beneficiaries, including dealing with the responses | received from the
newspaper advertisements. Initial oral legal advice received by the Trustees was
that the Court would first have to approve such a tribunal. Nonetheless, the
Trustees approved proceeding with that plan. Later, Catherine proposed that the
tribunal also be used by SFN to select members. This latter proposal was
rejected by SFN;

(c) Catherine says no process is in place to determine the beneficiaries of the 1985
Trust. However, the whole application in 1103 concerns beneficiary
determination and, in fact, the Minutes show that there were many attempts to
determine a list of beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust, and that the Trustees finally
decided to first get the 1985 Trust definition settled. The application in 1103 is to
get advice and direction on this issue. Catherine wants a tribunal before the

Court gives advice and direction.

(d) There were other processes attempted by the Trustees that proved problematic
so they decided to go to Court.

(e) Catherine says that Roland said he would lose his position if he allowed a
tribunal to decide membership in SFN. Roland did not say that in my presence
and he denies ever saying that. He said that SFN had fought hard through the
Constitutional Challenge of Bill C-31 for control of selecting its own members and
that this right would not be given up. |interpreted what he said as meaning that
the members of SFN do not want to give up the right to select future SFN
members and if he is representing the members of SFN, then he cannot support
that position.

) Oral legal advice indicated that, since both Trust Deeds refer to “members of the
Sawridge Band” as a qualification for beneficiary status, the Trustees could not
themselves select beneficiaries but had to rely on the determination of
membership given by SFN or seek the advice and direction of the Court. This
information partly resulted in the Trustees' decision to proceed with the 1103
Application.
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Membership Process

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

In respect of paragraph 29(b) of the September 30 Affidavit, Catherine criticizes the
membership process. However, she was a member of the membership committee for
many years and further, as a member of SFN, had a say in the process at least in terms
of the election of council and in terms of voting if an appeal of a membership application
comes to the electors. Mike McKinney advises that Catherine was instrumental in
drafting the SFN membership application along with Moe Litman, Maurice Cullity and
Mike McKinney, all of whom are respected lawyers. While she criticizes people for
having a dual role in the membership process, Catherine has had a dual role for many
years. In addition, | am advised by Mike McKinney, that Catherine was instrumental in
drafting the Membership Rules of SFN. The Court has determined that membership will
not be addressed in the 1103 action and thus none of these issues should be relevant.
However, Catherine has kept these issues in her affidavit and thus they must be
addressed.

SFN only considers completed applications. | am advised that many applications are
submitted with significant deficiencies. In reviewing the transcript of the Questioning of
Elizabeth Poitras and in reviewing my responses to undertakings, | believe that many
applications are submitted but are incomplete and therefore cannot proceed through the
application process.

In respect of paragraph 29(c) of the September 30 Affidavit, there have been instances
in which applications were not processed. However, | am advised that this occurred
largely because the applications were incomplete.

In respect of paragraph 29(d) of the September 30 Affidavit, Catherine’s allegations are
not true. A simple review of the 1103 Application shows that the Trustees have
specifically sought the direction of the Court to determine what they should do.

The Trustees have not sought to restrict SFN membership. Membership is determined
by SFN which must adhere to its Membership Rules.

In respect of paragraph 10 of the September 30 Affidavit, elected officials are able to
determine membership at the first level of determination of membership. Any rejected
applicant has the right to appeal to the whole of the electors of SFN. Catherine was on
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the membership committee and had ample opportunity for many years to change the
membership process if she thought it was flawed, but she did not do so.

If beneficiaries need to be members of SFN, then there is already a process for

determining members and there is no reason to create another process.

If the Trustees must determine the membership under the 1982 Indian Act definition,
there are several problems as the 1982 Act has antiquated concepts which no longer are
in force. The 1982 Act had the concept of enfranchisement and protesting illegitimate
children, which no longer exists. The 1982 Act continues the discrimination against
women who did not marry a man who had First Nation status and discriminates against
their children. It discriminated against all kinds of people. To determine the
beneficiaries under the 1982 Indian Act definition, by its nature, requires the Trust to

function in a discriminatory manner.

In response to paragraph 29(e), of the September 30 Affidavit, while there may be a list
of potential beneficiaries, the final determination of the Court is necessary. It may be
that the Court determines that the definition should be “members” and thus no further

process is necessary.
The 1982 Trust defined the beneficiaries as “members” of SFN.

My investigation shows that the goal of the Settlor of the 1985 Trust had been to switch
back to “members” of SFN as beneficiaries and combine the 1985 and 1986 Trusts once
the result of Bill C-31 was known.

| do not think that Chief Roland Twinn was the only one not to engage in the process set
up by Catherine referred to in Exhibit "D" of the September 30 Affidavit.

In respect of paragraph 29(f) of the September 30 Affidavit, membership is the
responsibility of SFN as has been the case since SFN took control of its membership in
1985. When the Settlor set up the Trusts, he could have given the Trustees control over
who would be beneficiaries but he did not do so.

In respect of paragraph 29(g) of the September 30 Affidavit, the Trustees have
concluded that SFN membership is the jurisdiction of SFN and not the Trustees. This
determination is supported by:
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(a) Justice Thomas in his Reasons for Judgement on December 17, 2015 stated that
he was satisfied that the membership process for SFN should not be litigated in
the 1103 action, and

(b) The legal opinion that the Trustees should not interfere in the membership
process, even though they have to rely on it to determine beneficiaries of the

Trusts.

Payments to Beneficiaries

79.

In respect of paragraph 29(g) of the September 30 Affidavit, regarding beneficiaries of
the 1985 Trust and discrimination, the decision to extend benefits only to the
beneficiaries of the 1986 Trust was made on the advice of legal counsel who noted that
the Trustees could not extend benefits to non-beneficiaries or to the potential
beneficiaries of the 1985 Trust until a determination of the definition of beneficiaries
could be made. There was a concern that payments made from a discriminatory trust
may create liability for the Trustees. Thus, the application was made for advice and
direction. The Court may decide to make the 1985 Trust beneficiaries and the 1986

Trust beneficiaries the same, in which case additional steps may not be required.

Potential List of Beneficiaries

80.

The “potential” list of beneficiaries that | have is based on a list provided to me by
Catherine, which has been analyzed by Mike McKinney based on rules for membership
in SFN from the Indian Act, 1970. Itis a larger list than the current membership list.
However, the "potential” list is discriminatory because it necessarily excludes women

married to non-Indians and their children, among other discriminatory elements.

Catherine’s Behavior at Trustee Meetings

81.

in respect of paragraph 29(j) of the September 30 Affidavit, | have observed Catherine
speak without restraint at a number of Trustee and other meetings. | also have
cbserved that she often monopolizes the meetings and prevents others from speaking.
As well, she has been known to filibuster meetings, ignore requests from the Chair to let

others speak, and refuse to allow any business to be carried out that is not directed by
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her. The Chief has advised me that he denies all allegations that he has threatened
reprisals. | have not observed any threats directed towards Catherine at Trustee

meetings.

Catherine acts in a biased way against SFN. The story of Tracey Poitras Collins relayed
in this my affidavit is an example of Catherine trying to paint things done by SFN as bad.

Catherine has stated at Trustee Meetings that she thinks the Trustees are incompetent
and wants 1o replace them. She has stated that she thinks that Donovan Waters, who is
a well recognized trust scholar and who has provided legal opinions to the Trustees is
incompetent. She yelled at him and berated him at a meeting and wanted him replaced.
She has expressed repeatedly that she believes that | am incompetent and need to be
replaced.

She has been very vocal at meetings that the Chair, Brian Heidecker, is biased and
cannot do his job and should be replaced. She does not respect his position as Chair.
There appears to be no one that meets Catherine’s standards. She has stated that only

she is good enough to stay on as a Trustee.

| am confident that both the Chair and | are qualified for our positions. The résumés of
Brian Heidecker and me are attached hereto as Exhibit “Q” and Exhibit “R”.

Catherine works by intimidation and she thinks it will work with anyone. She intimidates
the Trustees in many ways but one of them is by simply staring at them. Even during
the Questioning on affidavit, Catherine attempted to intimidate me by staring at me,
staring at Brian, and staring at the lawyers. These are long glaring stares that are very
uncomfortable.

Catherine often gets involved in matters that are not relevant for the Trustees. Catherine
says she has a duty to act if SFN is not acting in accordance with the law. The Trustees
do not get involved in SFN business and SFN is not to get involved in Trustee business.
They are to remain separate. Besides, if SFN is not acting in accordance with the law,
Catherine has not done anything about it. She was on the membership committee for 20
years and did nothing to change the membership process. She says that she has an
oversight duty towards SFN. | am not sure where this oversight duty comes from but it
does not come from the Trusts.

26088087_2|NATDOCS



88.

89.

90.

91.

92.

-26-

Catherine suggests that there is conflict and problems at the Trustee table. However, it
is Catherine that causes the conflict. There is no other conflict at the Trustee table. The
other Trustees respect each other. They do not always agree. They disagree with me
and with Brian. But they do not yell. They do not show disrespect. Catherine is

disrespectful of almost everyone. She is rude to all Trustees, me, Brian and all advisors.

An important skill of a Trustee is to listen. It is important for a Trustee to listen to the
other Trustees, listen to the Chair, listen to the advisors, listen to the beneficiaries and
listen to the Administrator. Catherine often refuses to listen. She loves to talk but she
shows a complete lack of respect for the other Trustees, complete rudeness and outright
hostility to the Chair and the Administrator and she has worked to destroy the strategy of
the legal team. She actively works against most people involved in the Trusts. The
other Trustees iry to continue to show her respect. They allow her to speak even when
she will filibuster for hours. She does not show any respect to the other Trustees. She
actively tries to make them feel as though they are stupid and do not know what they are

doing.
| believe that Catherine has breached the Code of Conduct in many ways.

The letters of complaint filed by the four Trustees in the Code of Conduct proceedings
are attached hereto as Exhibits “S”, “T”, “U”, “V” and “W".

There are many examples of poor Trustee behaviour on the part of Catherine which |
have not cited herein but which will be the subject of the arbitration proceeding under the
Code of Conduct.

Document Production

93.

Catherine has repeatedly told the Trustees that she has a container of Trust documents.
We have asked her to produce them and she has refused. | asked if | could attend at
the container to catalogue them and she refused. | asked if | could copy them at the
expense of the Trusts and she refused. Catherine knows that the Trusts did not have
good administration and document record keeping while her husband was the Trustee
and while she was a Trustee, yet she will not release the Trust documents in her

possession. | gave an undertaking to ask Catherine about documents during my
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Questioning by the Office of the Public Guardian and Trustee and she did not answer
this request for documents.

In the production of undertakings from the Questioning of Catherine, Catherine produced
documents from her records that [ have not seen before and thus | am concerned that
she may have other records of the Trust that she has not shared to date, despite many
requests.

In respect of paragraph 29(m) of the September 30 Affidavit, Catherine speaks about a
fire that destroyed documents that belonged to the Trusts. An investigation was
undertaken to determine what, if any, records were destroyed. It was determined that
these records were 'bar chits' from the liquor services at the Sawridge Inn-Slave Lake
from the late 1970s and that these had no relevance since the financial information was
contained in the Company financial statements for the Trusts. From the time that | was
hired, | have worked to gather and catalogue the documents of the Trusts. | have stated

that my search is exhausted. SFN has been cooperative throughout the process.

Catherine is the longest serving Trustee. She is also a lawyer. However, the
administration for the Trusts and documentation for the Trusts was lacking. Before
1997, the Trusts had few administration documents that were generated and maintained
by the Trusts.

There are several references in the Minutes to dealing with documents in the August
2009, November, 2009 and December, 2009 Minutes.: These Minutes are collectively
attached as Exhibit “X”.

In these Minutes there are references to the colliection of records. The Chair and | have
both had numerous conversations with Catherine and the other Trustees regarding
providing copies of any records in their possession to the Trusts’ Office. In addition, the
Chair offered to send a truck to a container in Camrose that Catherine said contained
records of the Trusts. The Trusts’ Office offered to pay Catherine’s son, Cameron, to
help sort through these records. Catherine has never provided access to this container.

At several Trustee meetings Catherine was to provide copies of documents. She has
never provided any of these documents. The Meeting Minutes read as foliows:
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1103-004

Catherine will provide a copy of the Court transcript of the
evidence presented by Chief Walter Twinn before Justice
Muldoon in 1993-94 to Paul who will provide Doris with a copy.

She did not pr

ovide the transcript. Eventually it was provided by Mike McKinney.

1309-002

Catherine will provide Paul with copies of the counselling self-
assessments she has collected.

Never provide

d.

1309-004

Catherine will provide a draft of suggested changes to the

language in Section 8 b) iii) of the Scenarios Plan.

Never provide

d.

1309-005

Catherine will provide links to the YouTube videos on the need
to separate political and economic spheres, on per capita
distributions and on the need to have discussions from the PBLI
workshop she attended recently in Vancouver.

Never provide

d.

Brian requested that Catherine submit her questions on the

1403-002 Application for Advice and Direction on Asset Transfer in writing
as soon as possible.

1403-003 Brian asked that Catherine submit in writing notice that she will
withdraw her threat of legal action against the Trustees.

1403-004 Brian asked that Catherine submit in writing notice that she will

comply to the Code of Conduct.

Never provided.

1410-007 Paul asked that Catherine share her copy of the original manual
so that it can be scanned into the Trust Archives.
Catherine will undertake some research into different methods of
1410-008 .
evaluation.

Never provided.

1504-002

Catherine will provide a list of web links with source information
on health for the next meeting.

Never provided.
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Conflict of Interest

100.

101.

102.

Catherine continues to try and suggest that our legal team is in a conflict. She must
know that a change in the legal team would be a huge expense to the Trusts.

In respect of paragraph 29(1) of the September 30 Affidavit, Marco Poretti was counsel
on the Bill C-31 Constitutional Challenge by SFN. Possible conflicts of interest were
examined at the time of Marco Poretti's involvement in the Trusts' 1103 application. No

conflict was identified. The Trusts, through its Trustees, are separate entities from SFN.

In respect of paragraph 33 of the September 30 Affidavit, Justice Thomas has noted that
there is an inherent conflict of interests in a First Nation. Catherine has suggested the
current structure of the Trusts results in a conflict of interest. This structure has existed
since the Trusts were settled. This structure was established by Chief Walter Twinn who
was the Settlor of the Trusts.

Community Centre

103.

104.

In respect of paragraph 29(n) of the September 30 Affidavit, the Trustees did not support
adding SFN as a beneficiary. They had previously opposed such a move by the
Companies’ Board of Directors, who had received advice from Davies Ward to have
SFN declared a municipal government body to enable it to be declared a beneficiary as

a tax saving measure.
A proposal was explored to fund a community center:

(a) This was part of an attempt to explore other ways that the Trust could benefit the
beneficiaries. It was recognized that Trust funds could not be paid to SFN;

(b) SFN was proposing to build an office and community center. Since SFNis not a
beneficiary, the Trusts could not have provided funding for this project. However,
the Chair suggested that perhaps the Companies could find a way to donate the
money to SFN for the Community Centre since it would contribute to the
community as a whole. One suggestion was that the Companies could pay a
franchise fee for the use of the Sawridge name. 25 of 44 members and their

families live on or close to the Reserve. Therefore, the Community Center would
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have been a benefit to the majority of the beneficiaries. In the end, it was never

carried out.

Code of Conduct

105.

106.

in respect of paragraph 30 of the September 30 Affidavit, Catherine was involved in

. f f
drafting the Code of Conduct. On two recent occasions, she herself initiated legal
proceedings to prevent the Trustees from invoking the Code of Conduct against actions

undertaken by her.

Currently, the structure of the Trust is the Trustees will make a policy decision, such as
the policies that are attached to the distribution scheme, and then let the Administrator
make the actual decisions in terms of payment of funds. Thus, the Trustees can make
the decision to pay for recreation and then the Administrator receives the request from a
beneficiary and pays out the funds based on the policy. In the last year, Catherine and

her family have accessed many of the programs.

Misrepresentation of Trustee Fees

107.

108.

109.

110.

By way of the Affidavit sworn September 23, 2015, Catherine deposed that there was a
“$15,000 plus meeting fee” for the Trustees. | have attempted to determine how
Catherine came to this figure and | cannot determine how she arrived at this figure. | am

in charge of paying the Trustee fees. Her statement is not accurate.

Counsel for the Public Trustee, in written submissions made to the Court on
September 25, 2015, interpreted the above statement of Catherine as evidence that

each Trustee is paid $15,000 per meeting for a total Trustee fee of $75,000 per meeting.

These submissions are not correct. The Trustees do not receive $15,000 per meeting.
The Trustees receive $500 per meeting plus a payment of $4,000 per quarter in the
event that the Trustee has attended at least half of the meetings in that quarter.

Upon review of the submissions, counsel for the Trusts advised counsel for the Public
Trustee that the submission was incorrect. This correspondence was copied to

Catherine’s lawyers. The Trusts’ counsel provided the correct information and requested
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that counsel for the Public Trustee to correct their submission to the Court to ensure the

Court was not misled in respect of the Trustee fees.
Catherine provided no response to the Court.

| am concerned that the misinterpretation will be misleading to the Court, and in this
Affidavit | am correcting the record on the issue of what the Trustees are paid. This
problem was created by Catherine and yet she took no steps to correct this
misinformation with the Court. This resulted in additional costs.

William MacDonald and Alfred Potskin

113.

114.

115.

Catherine makes an argument with respect to William MacDonald that he has an
absolute right to be on SFN membership list. She suggests that his application for
membership was not properly reviewed. As | understand it, William MacDonald has a
complicated set of facts and he has not supplied sufficient information to determine
whether he qualifies as a member. The information has been requested of him, but he
has not provided it.

Catherine mentions Alfred Potskin as an example of someone who was treated badly in
the membership process. However, | am advised that, as with many people who are
suggesting that they are SFN members, Alfred Potskin had previously enfranchised
(May 28, 1952) and therefore the answer to his membership was quite simple. Alfred
Potskin made an application for membership but was rejected on the basis of his
enfranchisement. He could have appealed the decision to the electors of SFN but he did
not appeal the decision.

These are but two examples that show that Membership applications need to be left to
SFN.

Binding Resolution Process

116.

Catherine makes reference to a binding resolution process. This was discussed on a
without prejudice basis as a compromise in the hopes Catherine would agree to approve
Justin as a Trustee and to sign the transfer of assets documents. It was urgent to have

the transfer of assets proceed because there was a commercial transaction pending for
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the Trusts. The entire without prejudice negotiation regarding the binding resolution
process broke down because Catherine would not compromise on the process or the
selection of mediators and thus it could not proceed. This is often the case. Catherine
does not compromise. This was a without prejudice conversation. When negotiations
broke down, the Trustees needed to go to Court to get the authority to transfer assets to
the new Trustees in order to salvage the commercial transaction. In respect of the Court
Order, we did not seek any remedy against Catherine. The Trustees obtained an Order
that allowed me to take the steps to complete the transfer. Exhibit D is the transcript in
which there is no offer by Catherine to just sign the transfer. The transcript also shows
that Counsel offered to allow Catherine to proceed with her claim in respect of Justin.
Exhibit D includes the Affidavit, Application and Order filed in support of the motion to
transfer assets of the Trust.

Catherine says she raised the issue of the “biased and unfair process of membership” at
the membership committee. However, she has provided no documentary proof that she
did so. | am advised by Bertha that Catherine did not raise such an issue. Bertha
further advised me that Catherine often did not attend the Membership meetings and
thus quorum did not exist and the Committee could not meet. The list that SFN provided
showing Catherine had reasonable attendance is skewed because there were many
meetings that did not happen because Catherine did not attend, and therefore the
meeting could not happen. It is ironic that Catherine is actually suggesting that the
membership approval process is flawed when | am advised by Bertha that Catherine
was an active participant in the process as it existed.

Tracey Poitras Collins

118.

119.

Catherine says that Tracey Poitras Collins was only admitted to membership because
Roland did not have his supporters at the meeting. This is an example of the
membership process working successfully. Tracey has been elected to Council and
thus it is clear that she has won the support of the community twice, once in her appeal

for membership and once in being elected to Council.

The story of Tracey Poitras Collins is a good news story of a person being admitted to
membership and then getting elected to Council. Catherine does not view this as an
example of anything good.
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Meeting with Directors and Deloitte

120. When the Companies (that are the assets of the Trusts) were turned over to a Board of
Directors, a Transfer Agreement was signed that directed that all Trusts-Companies
communications were to occur through the respective Chairs. | have been advised that
in breach of that agreement, Catherine has had meetings with the Directors of the
Companies to discuss the Trusts and suggested to the Directors that the Trusts and the
Trustees are dysfunctional. The Trustees are not supposed to do that. This shows a

lack of loyalty to the Trusts.

121. | have been advised that there was one occasion between the appointment of the
professional Board of Directors (2006) and my arrival (2009), when the Directors spoke
to Catherine about interfering with company management and company business. She
was told to halt such activities and it was reiterated that the Transfer Agreement
channeled all Trusts-Companies communications through the respective Chairs. |

believe that that meeting was held at Deloitte’s office.

122. Catherine has breached the agreement that all communication will go through the
Trustee Board Chair to the Companies Board Chair. Catherine has been told on a
number of occasions not to contact the Directors. This is also in the Code of Conduct in
paragraph 3 (Exhibit B).

123. A good working relationship between the Companies and the Trustees is important to
the proper functioning of the Trusts. Catherine is undermining the establishment of such
relationship.

Constitution

124. Catherine speaks of the Constitution. However, there are only 2 parts of the Constitution
that impact the Trusts. The first is the inherent right to govern and the second is the
declaration of traditions. The Constitution is attached as Exhibit “Y".

Catherine’s Motions are Approved

125. Catherine says that the Trustees reject everything she puts forward but this is not true.
There are many motions for which Catherine received support.
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However, Catherine often acts in her own best interests. She moved to amend the life
insurance benefit policy for the 1986 Trust so that she could get the life insurance. The
policy had been set such that the Trust would provide for the cost of insurance if the
beneficiary was under 55 years of age. Catherine was over 55 and Catherine had
cashed her life insurance coverage that she had with SFN. She wanted life insurance
coverage and so she put forward a motion to amend the Trust life insurance benefit
policy so that the insurance could be obtained up to age 60. This is very expensive
insurance. The Trustees supported this motion, which benefitted Catherine. The 1986
Trust is paying for life insurance for Catherine. This is one of many examples of
Catherine putting a motion forward and that motion getting approved by the other

Trustees

Legal Advice for Trustees and Legal Fees

127.

128.

Catherine says she was obstructed from obtaining legal advice. Clearly she was not
obstructed, as she has obtained legal advice for herself, for her son, for Debra
Serafinchon and for Shelby Twinn. The Trustees have a policy that they are to obtain
prior approval for legal advice and prior approval for expenditure of fees. Catherine did

not obtain that approval.

The Trustees discussed a proposal for legal fees for individual Trustees. The following

was discussed:

6.5 Trustee Legal Fund

Trustees discussed a proposal from Catherine to set up a Trustee
Legal Fund that would provide $15,000 per Trustee for a total of
$75,000 per year to permit individual Trustees to obtain legal
advice on issues before the Trustees in addition to any advice that
the Trustees jointly requested.

In addition, the funds not used by any Trustee could be used by
other Trustees.

Brian pointed out that under this Fund, individual Trustees would
not need the usual approval of 50% of the Trustees to obtain their
own legal advice.
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2013-000 Moved by Catherine, that the Trus
Trustee Legal Fund. No second, motio!
Catherine sought legal advice, despite this motion failing. Despite her suggestion that
the Trustees be given $75,000 per year for legal fees, she has spent over $700,000 in
legal fees and based on her December 2015 affidavit has spent almost $500,000 in

2016 in legal fees without accounting for the Questioning which took place in 2016.

Catherine has not sought prior approval of the Trustees for those legal fees to be paid
and in fact has not sought any approval to have her legal fees paid by the Trustees. She
has only sought to have her legal fees paid through the Court process.

Catherine complains about legal fees but she is part of the reason for legal fees being
incurred. She disrupted the 1103 application which sought to impose a settiement on
the OPGT by taking an oppositional stance at such Court Application causing the
Trustees to withdraw the offer and application. She forced the Trustees to go to Court
twice to have the assets transferred when new Trustees were appointed. She went to
Court twice to stop Code of Conduct actions against her. She has actively opposed
everything the Trustees have approved. In a previous settlement meeting that she
attended, she was hostile and basically ended the meeting by yelling about legal fees
and releasing privileged information. She is now seeking over $700,000 in legal fees to

be paid to her lawyers from the Trusts.

In respect of paragraph 29(k) of the September 30 Affidavit, the Trustees agreed to pay
the legal fees of SFN when it became clear that considerable work would have to be
done by SFN for the Trusts to complete their 1103 application. The Trusts had no
records concerning some of the issues that were being raised about membership.
Catherine refused access to records that she claimed to have. Catherine has previously
indicated support for paying SFN's costs to assist in the recovery of Trust documents
stored by SFN. The Trust Deeds permit payment for services rendered for professional
services deemed necessary by the Trustees. The Trustees require the services of SFN
to deal with its application. SFN is not wealthy and it cannot afford to pay for legal costs
to assist the Trusts. The Chief and Council advised the Trusts that if it needed the help
of SFN, then the Trusts would need to pay the legal fees required.
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The Trustees decided that there should be some control on access to the professionals
in order to be able to control information and fees. Thus, the Trustees passed a

resolution that the conversations with lawyers would pass through me.

Failure to Proceed with Litigation

134.

135.

Catherine has created an issue about Justin’s appropriateness as a Trustee and has
gone to great lengths to reserve the right to pursue having him removed. She then did
nothing in her 1403 action for three years, except seek to have her legal bills paid. If she
was really concerned about Justin being an inappropriate Trustee and about reserving
the right to pursue the matter, then she should have pursued the matter. Againitis
about Catherine and her interests first. It is not about the Trusts’ interests. In November
2016, Catherine asked if Justin was going to be reappointed in December 2016 and she
was told that his reappointment would be on the Agenda for the December 2016
meeting. She did nothing in the December meeting to bring other names forward to vote
in as Trustees. She refused to vote in favour of the motion to reappoint Justin and

Margaret as Trustees.

In the May 16, 2014 application, Karen Platten advised the Court that Catherine wanted
to file an affidavit but that she was unavailable. However, that morning and in the days
leading to the Court application she must have been in contact with Karen Piatten to give
instructions to negotiate the settlement deal that we were working on and must have

been available to negotiate the terms of the settlement.

Trustee Evaluation Process

136.

1317.

There is a trustee evaluation process in place but Catherine has not completed any

evaluations and has not participated in the process.

Catherine has long criticized the other Trustees. In December 2009, | received a letter
from then Trustee, Walter Felix Twin, indicating that the Trustees saw the issues raised
in Catherine's letter as a way of getting rid of the other Trustees who she considered
“dead weight”. He wrote the following letter to me:
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December 3, 2009

Dear Paul Bujold, Trust Administrator:

At the last Trustee meeting, it was suggested that a re-evaluation
of the Trustees be performed. | felt that you got the impression
that this was a good idea. | wanted to share an incident with you
regarding this matter but wasn't able to as we ran out of time.

The incident was a conversation between Catherine Twinn and
David Ward. During this conversation, it was said that they wanted
to get rid of three of us Trustees because we were "dead weight". |
felt they said this because of our age as three of us are "elders”. |
was very offended to the term used to describe myself, Bertha and
Clara. Although they were offended, they reacted humbly and did
not bring it up at the last meeting. This is discrimination and
should be addressed.

Also, | heard that Catherine and David Ward hired a Trust lawyer
regarding this evaluation and the lawyer stated that he had no say
in the matter, this was an issue that needed to be dealt with
internally, can you confirm this for me? Thank you for your time.

Sincerely,
Walter F. Twin

138. Catherine mentions a January 19, 2009 letter to David Ward that is basically Catherine's
view of the state of affairs with the Trustees. It does not reflect the views of the other
Trustees.

139. Catherine has repeatedly stated that she bore most of the “shoveling-up” responsibilities
and that the other Trustees did nothing. My observation is that this is not correct. The
Trustees create policy and | implement the policy. In fact, Catherine creates a lot of
unnecessary work for the Trustees and Administrator of the Trusts.

Customary Laws

140. Catherine produced a letter from David Ward suggesting that the Trustees would be in
breach of their duties if they did not follow the customary laws of SFN. The Trust Deed

states that these customary laws have to have been incorporated into Canadian law. |
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am not aware of any body of customary law recognized by Canadian law as required by
the Trust Deed. In addition, following the customary laws will still leave us with a
discriminatory Trust as the custom is for females to leave SFN if they marry a non-

member.

Attack on Chief Roland Twinn

141.

142.

143.

Catherine suggests that Roland has received substance abuse treatment and that
makes him an inappropriate Trustee. My observation is that Roland is a careful and
participatory Trustee who takes an active interest in the Trusts and the beneficiaries of
the Trusts. If he has received treatment that is a personal matter that should not be
used against him or even mentioned at the Trustee table unless it affects his
performance. This personal attack is indicative of how Catherine {reats the other

Trustees.

In respect of paragraph 29(i) of the September 30 Affidavit respecting the Power of the
Chief, | believe that this information is basically incorrect. | do not believe that Chief
Roland Twinn feels he has this power to exert. Of the 44 members of SFN, a small
fraction is employed by Sawridge Resources. The Chief may have some influence over
employment but he denies that he uses it as a threat or for blackmail as Catherine
suggests. He is the Chief and this is a company owned by SFN not the Trusts. In
respect of other influence of the Chief, he has no influence over hiring in respect of the

assets of the Trust.

In respect of paragraph 34 of the September 30 Affidavit, Chief Roland Twinn does not
unduly influence Trustee decisions. He participates in the meetings. He voices his
opinion but he is very clear that he is not a Chief at the Trustee meetings and he tries
very hard to separate SFN issues from Trusts issues. He does, however, believe that he
represents the concerns of the members of SFN as a Chief traditionally does and brings
those concerns to the Trusts if they involve Trusts business. | believe that Catherine
tries to influence the Trustees. They have advised me that they fear reprisals from her.
Although Catherine states that she finds it difficult to vote against the Chief, she regularly
does s0.
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Procedural Orders

144.

145.

Catherine would have been aware of the filing requirements in the Procedura! Orders
obtained in 2011. She did not file an affidavit according to the Procedural Orders in
2011 and instead waited until 2014 before she took an active adversarial role against the
Trustees. She did so without warning and only served a Brief taking an adversarial role
the night before an application on the settlement. This delayed the application at
additional cost to the Trusts.

Catherine says that if people's rights are affected then they should get notice. The
Procedural Orders sought the Court's direction on giving notice and the Court
determined how to give notice. The Procedural Orders regarding service were followed.
Catherine was involved in those early applications. She approved the process and
received notice of the Procedural Orders. She now takes a contrary position years after
those Procedural Orders were put in place suggesting that proper notice was not given.

Meeting Minutes

146.

147.

At every Trustee meeting, the Minutes from the previous meeting are reviewed and
approved. Catherine objects to the Minutes being approved but usually does not
suggest changes. She does not state the reason for her objection except to occasionally
say that she thinks the Minutes are flawed and will not vote for them. She has been
taking this approach since March 18, 2014. This protest is obstructionist. She is not
being a willing and active Trustee.

In 2010 she was approving Minutes or taking an active role in amending the Minutes.
During her recent Questioning, she refused to acknowledge any of the Minutes as being
the proper Minutes for the meeting. Attached and marked as Exhibit “Z” are all the
Minutes of meetings referred to during the Questioning of Catherine and marked only as
“Exhibits for Identification”. These Minutes reflect what occurred at the meetings as |
was present at the meetings. Brian Heidecker, the Chair, and the other Trustees confirm
that these Minutes reflect what occurred at the meetings. The Questioning of Catherine
was made longer and more expensive because Catherine would not acknowledge any of

the Minutes as being the Minutes of the meetings.
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At the October 15, 2013 meeting, Catherine proposed changes to the September 17,
2013 Minutes. These proposed amendments would have completely changed what the
other Trustees felt had happened. Catherine moved to table discussion of these Minutes
and the motion passed with Catherine voting in favour and 4 abstentions from the other
Trustees. The September 17, 2013 Minutes were approved as originally drafted at the
January 21, 2014 meeting with Catherine opposed.

At the February25, 2014 meeting, Catherine proposed changes to the January 21, 2014
Minutes so approval of these Minutes was tabled until the Trustees could review
Catherine’s proposed changes. At the March18, 2014 meeting, both the January

21, 2014 and the February 25, 2014 Minutes were again tabled since Catherine was
proposing changes to both sets of Minutes.

On April 15, 2014, a majority of the Trustees approved both the January 21, 2014 and
the February 25, 2014 Minutes as originally drafted, Catherine opposed.

Catherine has opposed approving the Minutes since that date stating that | am biased in
taking Minutes and that there should be another person taking Minutes for the Trustee
meetings. No aother Trustee feels this way.

| have reviewed the Minutes and compiled the information about Catherine’s voting
record into the chart below:

Year | Opposed | Abstain | Oppose/Abstain | Absent De:—:iostiaolns OppZ:::EtS tain
2016 15 4 31 48.4

2015 12 3 43 349

2014 18 5 49 46.9

2013 2 2 39 10.3

2012 1 1 1 54 3.7

2011 52 0

2010 1 78 1.3
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Trusts to Merge

153.

154,

155.

At an October 18, 2011 meeting, Catherine referenced a part of the transcript from Chief
Walter Twinn’s testimony in the constitutional challenge litigation involving SFN
suggesting that the two Trusts were not to co-exist; the 1985 Trust was not going to be
effective and the 1986 Trust would survive. Catherine is now challenging that concept
and suggesting that the Chief Walter Twinn always wanted two Trusts with two sets of
beneficiaries.

In addition, in 2009, the Companies were lobbying the Trustees to merge the Trusts
since the two-trust-situation was impeding business. Donovan Waters even drew up a
Trust Deed in 2010 envisioning this merger of the Trusts if the beneficiary definition was
changed to be the same in both Trusts. Catherine was involved in this process and
approved it.

It is clear from the transcript of Chief Walter Twinn that the Trusts were to be merged. |
also learned that from a phone call with Maurice Cullity. The relevant portion of the
transcript is attached hereto as Exhibit “AA”

December 16, 2015 affidavit of Catherine Twinn

156.

157.

1568.

Catherine also deposed a further affidavit and filed such affidavit on December 16, 2015
(“December Affidavit”). Much of the evidence in the December Affidavit is a repetition of
the evidence in the September 30 Affidavit and thus | will only address my concerns, and

contrary evidence, about those matters which are not a repetition.

In several of the paragraphs of the December Affidavit, Catherine addresses the need
for the Trustees to become involved in the SFN membership process. | believe that the
decision of Justice Thomas in December 2015 has determined that it is not appropriate
to address membership in the 1103 action. Further, membership is not relevant to the
1403 action. Thus, while | have contrary evidence to the issues as Catherine has raised
them in the December Affidavit, | will not set out that evidence in detail as | believe it has
now become irrelevant. Specifically, references to SFN membership in paragraphs 4, 6,
7, 10, 11 and 12 of the December Affidavit will not be specifically addressed.

Catherine suggests that the Trusts need independent representation so that the

management of the assets is not affected by “improper motivations”. The Trusts’ assets

26088087_2|NATDOCS



159.

160.

161.

162.

163.

42 -

are managed by an independent Board of Directors.

In paragraph 7 of the December Affidavit, Catherine suggests that she was prepared to
resign but this is not true. She proposed that she and Clara would stay on as Trustees
and that the other three Trustees resign. Clara and Catherine would carry on to put a

process in place to appoint Trustees. The Trustees rejected this proposal.

In paragraph 11 of the December Affidavit, Catherine mentions a “hurriedly brought
forward proposal”’. This proposal was not hurriedly put together. A great deal of work
went into an analysis of proposals to try and settle the 1103 action because the costs of
litigation were high and the Trustees thought they should try and settle. | tried to answer
all of Catherine’s questions. There was no refusal to answer questions. Catherine was
simply refusing to participate and became abusive and upset. She yelled at everyone
and left the meeting. The meeting carried on since the meeting still had a quorum and
Catherine was informed by the Chair that the meeting would continue despite her
absence and then she was astounded that the Trustees came to a decision. At the next

meeting, she suggested to the Chair that the meeting should have stopped once she left.

In response to paragraph 12 of the December Affidavit, Catherine suggests that there
was a refusal to disclose the basis for the proposal. This is not true. Catherine suggests
that it was clear that ascertainment and inclusion of all beneficiaries would not occur.
This is simply not true as the application before the Court seeks exactly that direction.

Catherine mentions the affiliates in paragraph 12 of the December Affidavit. The
affiliates are people who have been given Indian status and the Federal department has
assigned them a number for a First Nation to which they are most closely aligned.
These assignments are not done with any precision and in doing a small investigation |
am advised that many are incorrect. Thus, the reference to affiliates is largely
inflammatory but in an abundance of caution all of the affiliates were served with notice
of the 1103 application and thus they have not been excluded.

In respect of paragraphs 14-18 of the December Affidavit, most of this has been
addressed with my evidence above in relation to the appointment of Justin and
Margaret. However, there are a few matters that needs to be refuted. No action was
sought against Catherine as alleged in paragraph 15. The application was drafted

seeking a transfer of assets. No relief was sought against Catherine personally.
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In respect of paragraph 15 of the December Affidavit, it was not that Dentons rejected
the proposal. The negotiations broke down and no settlement could be reached and

thus it was necessary to proceed with a Court Application.

Catherine suggests that Dentons is representing the majority of the Trustees. Dentons
is acting on behalf of the Trusts based on the decisions of the majority of the Trustees.

In respect of providing dates for Questioning, now that Catherine is represented by
Counsel, | have responded to her requests for information or we have sent the answers

to her lawyer.

In respect of paragraph 22 of the December Affidavit, the issue of conflict has been
addressed. An application was filed in an abundance of caution as a place holder
application. After much consideration, we have determined that no application is

necessary.

In respect of paragraphs 23 and 24 of the December Affidavit, the Court ultimately
agreed that extensive document production was not necessary and thus the Trustees

have been able to save considerable costs by the success of that application.

In December of 2015 Catherine incurred $170,000 in legal costs. She now advises that
her costs are in excess of $700,000. Thus she has incurred a further $450,000 in 2016.
She says that only 20% of the fees relate to the 1403 action. | am unable to determine
the accuracy of that statement as Catherine has refused to produce unredacted legal
bills.

The information relayed in paragraph 30 of the December Affidavit in respect of legal
fees is wrong, but we maintain solicitor client privilege over the information on the

amount spent so it cannot be released.

Catherine suggests that the 1970 Indian Act is still used and interpreted every day by the
Federal Government. | am advised by Mike McKinney that they would occasionally refer
to the 1970 Indian Act to interpret some of the provisions in the current /ndian Act.
However, the 1970 Indian Act membership provisions regarding membership would not
be applied as they are not in force.
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Conversations with the legal team

172. The Trustees decided that, given the amount of legal fees being spent, there had to be
control implemented. Thus, the Trustees passed a resolution that the conversations with
lawyers would pa<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>